
 

Please contact Angela Scott on 0151 511 8670 or 
Angela.scott@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday, 20 September 2018 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
 

PART 1 
 
 

Item Page No 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

1 - 13 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   
 

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to 
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item. 
 
 

 
 

3. CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SOCIAL CARE PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) CARE HOME PROVISION - BELVEDERE 
DEVELOPMENT   

 

14 - 16 

Executive Board 
 
Thursday, 19 July 2018 2.00 p.m. 
The Boardroom, Municipal Building 

Public Document Pack



 
 
  
Item Page No 
  

 

 (B) LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
(LSCB) ARRANGEMENTS   

 

17 - 157 

4. CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SOCIAL CARE PORTFOLIO 
AND HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 

 

 

 (A) EVERYONE EARLY HELP STRATEGY 2018-2021   
 

158 - 194 

5. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 
2017/18   

 

195 - 203 

 (B) COUNCIL TAX SECTION 13A DISCOUNT POLICY   
 

204 - 214 

6. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM - COST RECOVERY   
 

215 - 218 

7. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) BUSINESS RATES ACTION AREAS   
 

219 - 223 

8. COMMUNITY SAFETY PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) MODERN SLAVERY ACT TRANSPARENCY 
STATEMENT   

 

224 - 232 

9. SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
AND THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION) ACT 1985   

 

 

 PART II 
In this case the Board has a discretion to exclude the press and 
public and, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, it is RECOMMENDED that under Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972, having been satisfied that in all 
the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 
  
Item Page No 
  

 

10. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) SCI-TECH DARESBURY - PROJECT VIOLET 
FUNDING - KEY DECISION  

  

233 - 245 

  
 

 

 
 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
At a meeting of the Executive Board on Thursday, 14 June 2018 in The Boardroom, 
Municipal Building 
 
 

 
Present: Councillors Polhill (Chair), D. Cargill, Harris, R. Hignett, S. Hill, Jones, 
T. McInerney, Nelson, Wharton and Wright  
 
Apologies for Absence: None   
 
Absence declared on Council business: None   
 
Officers present: A. Scott, D. Parr, I. Leivesley, M. Vasic, M. Reaney, E. Dawson, 
S. Wallace-Bonner, G. Cook, P. Preston and E. O'Meara 
  
Also in attendance:  None 

 

 
 
 Action 

EXB1 MINUTES  
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 15 May 2018 

were taken as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

   
 LEADER'S PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB2 LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

(BUSINESS RATE SUPPLEMENTS FUNCTIONS) ORDER 
 

  
 The Board received a report of the Chief Executive 

regarding the use of his emergency powers in connection 
with the devolution of powers to the Mayoral Combined 
Authority to raise Business Rates Supplements. 

 
The Board was advised that there were no plans to 

use the powers and that the powers were there to fund 
specific projects and were not to fund more general 
Combined Authority (CA) costs. Additionally, it was noted 
that the powers did not form part of the Liverpool City 
Region CA’s overall financial strategy.  

 
RESOLVED: That the action taken by the Chief 

Executive under his delegated authority, in consultation with 

 

ITEMS DEALT WITH  
UNDER POWERS AND DUTIES  
EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD 

 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



the Leader, the Operational Director, Legal and Democratic 
Services and the Operational Director, Finance, be noted 
and confirms on behalf of the Council that 

 
1) the draft Statutory Instrument (SI) (attached to the 

report) is agreed in principle by Halton Borough 
Council; and  

 
2) Halton Council consents to the making of the 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(Business Rates Supplements Functions) Order. 

 
   
 CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SOCIAL CARE 

PORTFOLIO 
 

   
EXB3 ADULT SOCIAL CARE FUNDING – IMPROVED BETTER 

CARE FUND (IBCF) ALLOCATION 2018/19 
 

  
 The Board considered a report of the Director of Adult 

Social Services on Adult Social Care Funding allocation 
2018/19. 

 
In the Spring 2017 budget, the Chancellor announced 

an additional £2 billion of new funding for Councils in 
England, over a three year period to spend on adult social 
care services. This was recognised as an important step 
towards closing the gap in Government funding for adult 
social care ahead of the expected publication of the Green 
paper on future sustainability of the sector. 

 
The report set out details of the proposed allocations 

for Board approval, many of which commenced in 2017/18 
and were expected to continue into 2018/19. It was reported 
that due to the short term nature of this additional funding, 
the schemes would be kept under review in respect of the 
outcomes and financial impact achieved. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Board notes the contents of the 
report and approves the allocations as outlined in the report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director of Adult 
Social Services  

EXB4 HALTON’S SUPPORTED HOUSING NETWORK 
SPECIALIST SUPPORT TEAM 

 

  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, People, on proposals to establish a specialist team 
within the Halton Supported Housing Network Support 
Team. 

  
It was reported that the proposed specialist team of 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



six staff would be based at the new emergency flats at 
Bredon and in the community as a whole. The new service 
option at Bredon flats had been established and built in 
response to two key demands; the need to find immediate 
accommodation when care packages had broken down; and 
the effective and safe care for service users engaged in 
behaviour that challenged services. The Board was advised 
that an emergency staff support team would enhance the 
models of support already provided. This would have 
positive implications for some of Halton’s most vulnerable 
service users and was key to Halton’s strategic commitment 
to the Transforming Care Agenda. 

 
RESOLVED: That Executive Board support the 

establishment of a specialist team within the existing 
Supporting Housing Network Service, as detailed within the 
report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- People  

   
EXB5 SCHOOLS CAPITAL UPDATE – 2018/19 - KEY DECISION  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, People, which provided an update on Schools 
Capital Funding. 

 
The report set out details of funding received via the 

Healthy Pupil Capital Fund (HPCF); additional capital works 
requirements for the remodelling of Ashley School and 
Simms Cross School; and Social, Emotional and Mental 
Health Resource Bases at Beechwood Primary School and 
at Halton Lodge Primary School. 

 
It was reported that the HPCF funding for 2018/19 

was a result of revenue generated from the Soft Drinks 
Industry Levy, with Halton’s allocation being £70,362. The 
funding – allocated for one year only - was to be used for 
improving the physical and mental health of children and 
young people. It was reported that the funding would be 
distributed equally to Halton’s Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Nursery, Primary and Special Schools. 

 
The additional capital work requirements at Ashley 

and Simms Cross Schools would allow for internal 
remodelling for an enhanced learning/school environment at 
each school. An element of the capital works had been 
approved by the Board at its meeting on 18 January 2018. 

 
Special Provision Capital Funding had been 

announced by the Department for Education for local 
authorities to invest in provision for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. It 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



was noted that Halton’s allocation over a three year period 
would be £500,000. It was recommended that two specific 
resource bases be accommodated at Beechwood Primary 
School and Halton Lodge Primary School, with additional 
accommodation to be built specifically to support children in 
Foundation and Key Stage 1. 

 
Reason(s) for Decision 
 
To deliver and implement the capital programmes. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Implementation Date 
 
The works at Simms Cross School and Ashley School 
needed to be completed by September 2018. It was 
anticipated that the works at Beechwood and Halton Lodge 
Primary Schools would be completed in time for the 2019/20 
academic year. 
 

RESOLVED: That  
 
1) the Healthy Pupil Capital Fund (HPCF) and 

application procedure for 2018/19 be noted; 

2) the proposals for capital works at Ashley School 

and Simms Cross Primary School, funded from 

the Basic Need Capital Funding, be approved; 

and  

3) the proposals regarding the provision of Social, 

Emotional and Mental Health Resource Bases at 

Beechwood Primary School and Halton Lodge 

Primary School, together with the publishing of 

statutory notices, be approved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- People  

EXB6 HIGH NEEDS UPDATE - KEY DECISION  
  
 The Board received a report of the Strategic Director, 

People, which provided an update on the available High 
Needs funding for 2018/19, and which also set out a range 
of proposed budget reductions for 2018/19. The report also 
sought permission to consult partners on new guidance 
which set out support for pupils with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



The Board was advised that Halton faced a significant 
budget deficit of over £2.1m in its High Needs Budget in 
2018/19. The Board had previously agreed a range of 
budget reductions at its meeting on 18 April 2018, however, 
a shortfall remained. The report set out proposals to address 
the funding gap. 

 
It was reported that final figures for 2018/19 indicated 

there would be a small amount of reserves (£153,754), and 
it was intended that this would be used to fund the gap in 
High Needs and support discretionary support for schools. 
However, the Education and Skills Funding Agency had over 
allocated the High Needs block, and would therefore look to 
recoup this funding. 

 
The current arrangements for supporting pupils with 

SEND had been reviewed and Guidance on Supporting 
Pupils, attached to the report at Appendix A, had been 
developed. The document set out the roles and 
responsibilities of different partners and the criteria for 
applying for discretionary support – previously known as 
Enhanced Provision. It was proposed that the budget for top 
up funding be delegated to a panel of Head teachers or 
senior school staff from the Primary and Secondary sectors, 
with local authority Officers attending in an advisory 
capacity. 

 
Reason(s) for Decision 
 
The increased demand for support for pupils with special 
educational needs, the level of complexity of some pupils 
and reduced flexibility to transfer money between the 
different funding blocks leading to a budget deficit. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
To cease enhanced provision funding. 
 
Implementation Date 
 
1 September 2018. 

 
RESOLVED: That 
 
1) the Board note the changes to the allocations in 

the High Needs Budgets, as  set out in Paragraph 

3.2 of the report, as a result of changes to funding 

made available by Central Government; and  

2) approval is given to consult schools, parent and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- People  

Page 5



carer representatives on the Guidance for 

Supporting Pupils with SEND, to ensure additional 

support is determined by a Headteacher Panel 

and based on the specific needs of individual 

children. 

EXB7 STAIR LIFT INSTALLATION CONTRACT – PRELIMINARY 
ESTIMATES REPORT 

 

  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, People, which sought approval to undertake a 
procurement exercise to commission a supplier of stair lift 
installation services. 

 
The Board had considered a report at its meeting on 

22 February 2018, which outlined a proposed new model of 
provision of stair lifts. Following Board approval, an options 
appraisal had been completed by the Procurement team 
regarding the various routes to market. It was noted that the 
preferred option was to award a contract as a result of 
conducting a mini competition with the nominated providers 
on a framework. 

 
It was also reported that a waiver request had been 

submitted to the Head of Procurement to allow the Council 
to continue using the current provider for a period of four 
months, whilst the procurement exercise took place. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Board 
 
1) gives approval to undertake a procurement 

exercise to commission a supplier of stair lift 
installation services; and 

2) notes the waiver request, as detailed in paragraph 
3.2 of the report,  in order to continue using the 
existing Stannah contract until new arrangements 
were in place.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- People  

 HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB8 WORK PLACE HEALTH & TIME TO CHANGE EMPLOYER 

PLEDGE 
 

  
 The Board considered a report of the Director of 

Public Health, which provided an update on work 
undertaken across the Borough to improve workplace 
health, and to encourage the Council to sign up to the “Time 
to Change” Employer Pledge. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 The Board was advised that over the past eighteen 
months, the Health Improvement Team had rolled out a 
comprehensive Workplace Health Programme (the 
Programme) to local businesses across Halton. Depending 
on the needs of individuals and businesses, a tailored 
package of support for businesses, including a review of 
health policies, health checks, smoking cessation and health 
awareness events, was established. It was reported that the 
next phase of the Programme would be to work with local 
businesses to further improve their mental health offer and 
support them to undertake the “Time to Change” Employer’s 
Pledge. 
 
 Time to Change was the leading national social 
movement aimed at improving public attitudes and 
behaviour towards people with mental health problems. 
Time to Change provided support to employers to develop 
an action plan to get employees to talk about mental health. 
An action plan for Halton Borough Council would provide 
support in a number of key areas, as detailed in the report. It 
was proposed that a small working group be established to 
develop and drive the Time to Change Employer Pledge 
action plan. It was noted that an example of some key 
actions were set out in Appendix 1, attached to the report. 
 
 RESOLVED: That 
 

1) the report be noted; and  

2) the Board approve participation in the Time to 

Change Employer Pledge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director of Public 
Health  

   
 TRANSPORTATION PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB9 TERM SERVICE CONTRACT FOR HIGHWAYS  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, which 
sought approval for a one year extension to the Term 
Service Contract for Highway Improvement and 
Maintenance Services. 

 
It was reported that the current contract provided the 

option to award up to four separate extensions, each for a 
period of one year, so long as the contractor met or 
exceeded the Acceptable Performance for each Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI). The Board noted that the 
contractor had achieved the Acceptable Performance level 
for the financial years 2017/18 and therefore were entitled to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



a one year extension to the contract period. 
 
RESOLVED: That a one year extension to the Term 

Service Contract for Highway Improvement and 
Maintenance Services with Tarmac CRH Limited, be 
approved. 

 
 
Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources  

   
 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB10 PROMOTING HALTON’S VISITOR ECONOMY  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, on 
proposals for promoting Halton’s Visitor Economy. 

 
It was reported that the Employment, Learning and 

Skills and Community Policy and Performance Board 
recently carried out a scrutiny topic review of Halton’s 
Cultural offer within the City Region context. One conclusion 
from this review was that there needed to be a strong 
interaction between Halton’s Cultural Offer and the Visitor 
Economy. 

 
At the same time, a report was commissioned by the 

Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership, which 
assessed how, through additional investment, the sector 
could be developed to support Halton’s wider economic 
strategy and help to shape its sense of place. 

 
The report set out details of the proposals and 

opportunities for links with the Council’s regeneration 
priorities, and by making such connections, the benefits of a 
vibrant Visitor Economy would be embedded in Masterplans 
and/or Delivery Plans for the respective Key Impact Areas. 

 
RESOLVED: That progress to date to raise the profile 

of Halton’s Visitor Economy be noted and the proposals in 
sections 4 and 5 of the report, be approved. 

 

   
 RESOURCES PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB11 2017/18 FINANCIAL OUTTURN  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Operational 

Director, Finance, on the final revenue and capital spending 
position for 2017/18. 

 
The Board was advised that the final accounts for 

2017/18 were near completion; the revenue spending for 
each Department, which would be subject to external audit, 

 

Page 8



was attached to the report at Appendix 1. 
 
It was reported that since 2010, the Council had 

experienced significant reductions in Government grant 
funding, which had occurred at a time when the demand for, 
and costs of, Council services had rapidly increased. 
Despite this, the Council had managed its finances by 
restricting spending to only essential items and used its 
reserves to assist with the funding of services with 
significant extra cost pressures. 

 
The report provided details on the key budget 

variances within the following services:- 
 

 Children and Families; 

 Adult Social Care; 

 Community and Environment; 

 Economy, Enterprise and Property; and 

 Central Support. 

Members were advised that the Council’s Reserves 
and Balances had been reviewed in accordance with the 
Reserves and Balances Strategy. The Council’s General 
Reserve stood at £3.806m, which was considered not 
sufficient, given the level of increased service pressure, 
continued public spending cuts and the risk of fluctuations in 
the level of business rates retained. However, it was 
reported that a number of reserves had been reviewed and 
a further £1.200m moved into the General Reserve to 
increase the balance to a more prudent level. 

 
A breakdown of School Budgets and spending for 

2017/18 was provided, indicating a total of £3.8m at 31 
March 2018. Capital Spending had been revised to reflect 
an additional allocation of Disabled Facilities Grant funding, 
received in the final quarter of 2017/18. Capital Spending at 
31 March 2018 was 99.4% of the total Capital Programme, 
and it was noted that no slippage had been calculated on 
the Mersey Gateway Construction Costs or the Mersey 
Gateway Liquidity Fund. 

 
RESOLVED: That  
 
1) the report be noted; and  

2) the information within the report be taken into 

Page 9



account when reviewing the 2018/19 budget 

monitoring position, medium term forecast and 

saving proposals for future years. 

EXB12 TERM CONTRACT TENDER FOR PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES 

 

  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, regarding 
the procurement of a professional services term contract for 
complete design service for building works across the 
Borough. 

 
It was reported that the current contract for design 

services would end on 16 November 2018. It was proposed 
that a new contract would be awarded for a period of three 
years with the option for the Council to extend for a further 
one year. A tender process would commence in June/July 
2018, with the anticipated annual value of the contract being 
£275k. It was noted that tender submissions would be 
evaluated on both price and quality, with a ratio of 30%:70%, 
with the outcome being reported to the Board in due course.  

 
RESOLVED: That Members note that a procurement 

process will be entered into via The Chest, with the purpose 
of securing a professional services term contract for a 
complete design service for building works across the 
Borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources  

   
EXB13 2018/19 TO 2020/21 CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Operational 

Director, Finance, which presented the Council’s total 
forecast Capital Programme expenditure and associated 
funding for 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

 
The report updated Members on the latest position on 

the Council’s Capital Programme, including planned Capital 
Programme expenditure 2018/19 to 2020/21, a summary of 
how this would be financed and details of Capital Receipts. 
The report also outlined the proposed use of the ICT Capital 
Allocation, and the proposed programme of activities, 
attached at Appendix A to the report. 

 
RESOLVED: That  
 
1) Council be recommended to approve the updated 

Capital Programme for 2018/21, including forecast 

spend and funding, as set out in Table 1 and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Operational 
Director - Finance  

Page 10



Table 2 attached to the report; 

 
2) The Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community 

and Resources, in consultation with the portfolio 

holder for Transportation, be delegated to agree 

an implementation programme of Highways and 

Transportation schemes to be delivered in 

2018/19; and  

3) The proposed use of the ICT rolling Capital 

programme for 2018/19, as set out in Appendix A 

attached to the report, be noted and approved. 

 PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO  
   
EXB14 ASTMOOR REGENERATION PROGRAMME  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, regarding 
the implementation of a regeneration programme for 
Astmoor Industrial Estate. 

 
It was reported that in March 2017, the Board 

approved the Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan Plus (the 
Plan), which had helped to prioritise resources for physical 
and economic regeneration of eight Regeneration Impact 
Areas. The Plan set out a cohesive package of development 
opportunities and identified key infrastructure and enabling 
projects needed to support the Borough’s economic growth. 
Astmoor Industrial Estate was one of the eight Areas and an 
Annual Delivery Plan had been developed to steer the 
development and regeneration programme for the area. This 
was attached to the report at Appendix A. 

 
The report provided the Board with a detailed 

summary of the Strategic Context, the Vision and 
Objectives, the Masterplan and Delivery Strategy, the 
Funding Profile and the Governance and Management 
Structure. 

 
RESOLVED: That 
 
1) Members approve the two stages of public 

consultation to be undertaken, which will inform a 

future Masterplan and Delivery Strategy for 

Astmoor, as outlined in Section 3.10 of the report; 

2) the proposed approach to a regeneration 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources  

Page 11



programme for Astmoor, as set out in the Annual 

Delivery Plan (attached to the report at Appendix 

A), be noted; 

3) Members acknowledge the potential benefits from 

investing in  Council resources to deliver a five 

year regeneration programme for Astmoor, as 

outline in Section 3.17 of the report; and  

4) following feedback from the consultation process, 

a further report be presented to Executive Board, 

to seek formal adoption of a Masterplan and 

Delivery Strategy for Astmoor. 

EXB15 AMENDMENT TO HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY  
  
 The Board considered a report of the Strategic 

Director, People, which sought approval to amend the 
Council’s Housing Allocations Policy, Property Pool Plus 
(PPP). 

 
The Board was advised that, as part of the 

Government’s commitment to reduce homelessness and 
eliminate rough sleeping, new regulations – The 
Homelessness Reduction Act – had been implemented in 
April 2018. It was reported that as a result, local authorities 
would need to make policy and service changes to ensure 
that they were fully equipped to deliver and comply with 
legal statutory duty requirements. 

 
It was reported that it would be necessary for a full 

review of the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy to be 
undertaken to address the needs of all clients, to ensure that 
the priority categories and criteria were compliant with 
national trends and legislation. The results and 
recommendations would be reported to the Board in Spring 
2019. 

 
RESOLVED: That 
 
1) the report be noted; 

2) subject to the unanimous agreement of the Local 

Authorities participating in the Sub-Regional 

Property Pool Plus Scheme, the Board agrees to 

amend the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy, 

to include the additional sub-banding, which would 

ensure that additional priority is awarded to those 

registered under Homelessness Prevention and/or 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Director 
- People  

Page 12



Relief, in accordance with the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017; and 

3) the Board approves the undertaking of a policy 

review for the purpose of further amending the 

Housing Allocations Policy, to take account of 

provisions within the Localism Act 2012, the 

Homelessness Act 2017 and the Housing 

Allocations Code of Guidance. 

 
   
MINUTES ISSUED: 19 June 2018 
 
CALL-IN: 26 June 2018 
 
Any matter decided by the Executive Board may be called in no 
later than 5.00pm on 26 June 2018 
 

 

  
 
 

Meeting ended at 2.20 p.m. 

Page 13



REPORT TO: 
 

Executive Board 

DATE: 
 

19 July 2018 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director, People  

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Children, Education and Social Care  

SUBJECT: 
 

Care Home Provision - Belvedere Development   

WARD(S) 
 

Borough-wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

 
1.1  

  
To seek Executive Board approval to develop a proposal to consider 
the development of Belvedere as a care home for older people. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That 
 

1) DASS to develop a costed proposal for the development 

of Belvedere; and 

2) Agrees that a further report be brought back to Executive 

Board, setting out other potential options to increase 

capacity within this sector and associated partnership 

agreements and models of delivery for approval. 

  
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 
 

The current availability of care homes in Halton is limited, with 
vacancy rates of approximately 5%. The recent closure of Cartref 
Care Home has placed additional pressure on the system, with a 
further reduction of 25 residential beds. Unfortunately it was not 
possible to secure a purchase of Cartref. 
 

3.2 
 

The Local Authority are working closely with key stakeholders to 
secure the future sustainability of this sector, including the recent 
purchase of two care homes in the Borough to prevent closure.  
In addition to these actions, the Local Authority need to identify 
solutions to this situation and explore all opportunities to increase 
the available capacity within the market. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 14 Agenda Item 3a



3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
3.5 

Belvedere is located in Runcorn and was previously used as 
accommodation for homeless people. Belvedere has been empty for 
approx. 4 years.  It will require substantial refurbishment as it is not 
adapted for people with disabilities.  An initial survey identified that it 
will require a lift, some changes to the layout, every bathroom made 
into a wet room etc.  There is no kitchen or industrial laundry area.  
More detailed work is required to understand the full extent of any 
renovation. 
 
In addition work will be undertaken to develop the model of delivery 
for Belvedere working with partners across social care and health 
 
Other options to increase capacity are at an earlier stage and 
require further work to explore potential opportunities and 
understand risks. This includes consideration of the former care 
home Lilycross. This work is also being done in collaboration with 
partners across social care and health 

  
4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

Halton Borough Council undertakes it’s statutory functions within the 
Care Act 2014 and associated guidance. 

  
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 

Belvedere belongs to Halton Borough Council. Work will need to be 
undertaken to establish what renovations are required and the cost 
implications of this as well as the financial model for the delivery of 
the service 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton 
 
None identified   
 

 

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
 

None identified   
 

6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 

None identified   
 

6.4 A Safer Halton  
 

None identified   
 

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

None identified   

Page 15



 

 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 
 

Belvedere 
 

 Further work is required to understand implications of renovation 
 

 Potential for under occupancy if renovated 
 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 
 
9.0 
 
 
9.1 

None identified at this stage. 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
None under the meaning of the Act. 

 

Page 16



 
 

REPORT TO:  Executive Board  
 
DATE: 19 July 2018 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, People  
 
PORTFOLIO: Children, Education & Social Care 
 
SUBJECT: Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

Arrangements 
 
WARDS: Borough Wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE 
  
1.1 This report highlights the key changes to Local Children’s Safeguarding 

Boards (LSCBs) in light of new legislation introduced through the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017. It outlines the implications of legislative changes and 
makes a number of recommendations that would enable a revised framework 
to be developed locally and sub regionally in view of the fact that it is no 
longer a statutory requirement for LSCBs to exist.  

 
1.2 The report puts forward how future arrangements could build on existing pan-

Cheshire arrangements that include the Council and partnership 
arrangements in Cheshire East, Warrington and Halton.  It also puts forward 
recommendations regarding how local arrangements for scrutinising 
safeguarding practice within Warrington could be further strengthened.  

  
1.3 Recent Statutory Guidance requires the transition to new arrangements to be 

completed by August 2019. This is on the basis that once the revised 
guidance is published areas have 12 months to publish new arrangements 
and a further 3 months to then implement the changes. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS: That 
 
 These recommendations are put forward in order to allow the three 

statutory partners (Council, Police and CCG) to work together, and with 
wider partners, to agree a framework that meets the statutory 
requirements outlined in Working Together 2018.  

 
1) in principle, work continues across the 4 areas to develop a model 

which enhances the current Pan-Cheshire approach to safeguarding 

children;  

 
2) these developments are considered within a framework of strategy, 

policy and practice; 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 3b



 
 

3) each area uses these themes to ensure that robust arrangements 
remain in place to quality assure and scrutinise strategy, policy and 
practice at local level; 

 

4) building on initial discussions, partners develop a clear operating 
model for monitoring future safeguarding arrangements, which 
includes governance, financial arrangements and sub groups, 
including the Child Death Overview Panel, both local and Pan-
Cheshire level; 

 

5) existing funding arrangements remain in place for an agreed 
minimum period (2020/ 2021) whilst funding is reviewed, recognising 
that this would require the agreement of all existing funding partners 
across current LSCB arrangements; and 

 

6) the Executive Board will receive an updated report with firm 
recommendations in December 2018 following this period of 
consultation at local and sub-regional levels. 

   
 
3.0 BACKGROUND AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Alan Wood was commissioned by the Department for Education (DfE) in 2016 

to undertake a review regarding the effectiveness of LSCB’s to safeguard 
children, Child Death Overview Arrangements and Serious Case Reviews. 
The ‘Wood Report’ recommended significant changes to ensure collective 
accountability around safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of children 
and young people which were taken forward and included in the Children and 
Social work Act 2017. 

 
3.2 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 makes clear that it is no longer a 

statutory requirement for areas to have Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards.  
It is up to the three key statutory partners - Council, CCG and Police - to 
determine what local arrangements should be. These partners are to 
determine who other relevant partners are.  

 
3.3 Following the change in legislation, a revised issue of the associated statutory 

guidance, Working Together to Safeguard Children, has been consulted on 
and was due to be published in May 2018. A draft was published in April 2018 
which partners have been using to inform discussions. 

 
3.4 The safeguarding partners across Halton, Warrington and Cheshire East and 

Cheshire West have been working together to respond to the changes 
outlined in the consultation guidance to ensure local and Pan Cheshire 
safeguarding activity is in line with statutory requirements.  

 
3.5 Whatever arrangements are agreed moving forward, independent scrutiny of 

safeguarding is still required. 
 

Page 18



 
 

 
4.0 CHANGES INTRODUCED BY THE CHILDREN AND SOCIAL WORK ACT 

2017 
 
4.1 The revised guidance creates the following key changes and approaches: 
 

i. Three core safeguarding partners – the local authority, the chief officer of 

police for an area that falls with the local authority area, and CCG for an 

area that falls with the local authority area - have the statutory duty to 

make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in 

that area.  Whilst there will still be a duty to cooperate and engage, the 

revised guidance will not stipulate statutory duties beyond those already in 

legislation for agencies beyond these three core agencies. 

 

ii. The safeguarding partners have equal and joint responsibility for the 

safeguarding arrangements and must identify a senior officer in each 

agency to have responsibility for ensuring full collaboration with these 

arrangements. 

 

iii. This duty includes the requirement to publish those local arrangements, 

and to define who the relevant agencies are who will be expected to work 

to and contribute to the effectiveness of those arrangements. 

 

iv. The arrangements must be subject to independent scrutiny which is for the 

safeguarding partners to agree. The DfE has been clear that areas may 

explore a range of options to implement this scrutiny but that any models 

considered should not involve a person or persons from the local area, 

and/or having prior involvement with one of the key safeguarding partners. 

  

v. The safeguarding partners must publish an annual report every 12 months 

in line with the structure in Working Together 2018. It must also be 

independently scrutinised and published. 

 

vi. Financing is for the key safeguarding partners to agree and also agreed 

with each relevant agency.  

vii. Working Together 2018 gives flexibility in determining the format of the 
new safeguarding arrangements, including whether they will be on a local 
geographical area or a wider footprint. There is evidence-based good 
working, both on a Pan-Cheshire and local authority area basis, and a key 
consideration for all was the need for balance between local and Pan 
Cheshire scrutiny and accountability. 

 

 

 

Page 19



 
 

 

5.0 PROPOSED SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS – PAN-CHESHIRE  

 

5.1 There are existing, successful, Pan-Cheshire arrangements regarding some 

children’s safeguarding arrangements.  

 

5.2 It is recognised, however, that there is duplication across this footprint and 

some ineffectiveness in the current ways of working with a small number of 

people being repeatedly drawn upon to work at both levels (local and sub-

regional), often with the same or similar agenda.  Given the current resource 

challenges, options have focused on how these issues could be improved 

within new arrangements. 

 

5.3 The aim is to improve effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguarding 

system, whilst ensuring that good practice and working together at local level 

between agencies is maintained and enhanced further. This is why it is 

recommended that both Pan-Cheshire and local arrangements remain but 

responsibility, accountability and governance is made clearer. This would 

enable appropriate delegation in representation at each level of the 

arrangements to reduce duplication and improve effectiveness. 

 

5.4 It has been recognised that some good shared approaches are in existence 

and that the new arrangements should support the continuation of this. In 

particular, complex safeguarding issues (e.g. Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

and trafficked children) are already subject of joint policy development and are 

strategically monitored at the Pan-Cheshire level. Any new arrangements 

would seek to ensure that accountability and governance of these areas 

should sit under a sub-regional safeguarding group that sits as part of an 

overall sub-regional governance and accountability framework.  

 

5.5 The decision should enhance already strong partnership arrangements across 

the four areas. To date, partners have discussed how existing strengths could 

be built on, both at Pan-Cheshire and local level and there is agreement on 

how the necessary safeguarding functions could be structured within a 

framework which are described in more detail below. 

 

5.6 It is proposed that key sub regional activity is addressed via three core areas 

of focus- strategic, policy and practice. Highlighted below are some specific 

issues that partners agree could be considered in each area: 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
 

 
(a) Strategic 

 
i. Establish a strategic business plan with some consideration given to 

“contextual safeguarding” as identified within Working Together 2018 

which enables arrangements to future proof for emerging issues 

ii. Delegate to sub-groups responsibility for establishing targets for 

improvements and implementation of action plans.  

iii. Establish a robust performance information framework, that provides 

relevant and timely quantitative, qualitative and outcome evaluation. 

iv. Receive expert and/or professional advice as appropriate on emerging 

national initiatives, policy and guidance and act upon this 

v. Consider the involvement of Pan-Cheshire relevant agencies such as 

National Probation Service, Community Rehabilitation Companies, 

CAFCASS and the Youth Justice Service 

(b) Practice 
 
i. Identify & consider cases meeting Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) criteria 

and consider any themes or issues from national SCRs 

ii. Identify cases where lessons can be learned but don’t meet the SCR 

criteria. 

iii. Receive summary reports and action plans from single agency audits.   

iv. Develop and maintain the Learning & Improvement Framework ensuring it 

takes account of national/local learning requirements  

v. Provide a leadership regarding the scrutiny role of safeguarding activities 

across partners so that areas of good practice can be shared and 

promoted. 

vi. Co-ordinate the strategic response on complex and contextual 

safeguarding – CSE, Missing, Harmful Practices, Trafficked Children, 

Domestic Abuse, Organised Crime.  

(c) Policy 
 
i. Design/ implement publicity, communication and training so that the 

arrangements promote consistent messages across the footprint on any 

issues of regional relevance.   

ii. Identify new national policies, procedures, guidance and research findings. 

Page 21



 
 

iii. Receive, review, agree, implement, promote and where appropriate 

develop policies and safeguarding procedures  

iv. Analyse the implications of new local policy, procedures or guidance 

6.0 PROPOSED SAFEGUARDING ARRANGMENTS – LOCAL AREA 
ARRANGEMENTS 

 
6.1 Whilst there is a desire to work in partnership across the sub-region it is 

recognised that due to specific organisational accountability, regulatory 
frameworks (e.g. Ofsted) and the need to ensure strong scrutiny and 
challenge regarding safeguarding practice at local level, robust local 
arrangements need to be maintained. It is therefore proposed that local 
arrangements have the same three areas of focus, with specific 
responsibilities, as highlighted below: 

 
(a) Strategic 
 
i.   Consistent, coherent information on all of the local work strands within 

the business plan; including action where work is not meeting targets and 

respond and contribute to Pan-Cheshire arrangements.   

ii. Effective budget management through regular monitoring of expenditure 

against priorities and/or targets. 

iii. Annual Report on the effectiveness of safeguarding locally 

iv. Effective partnership relationships based on the requirement of the duty to 

co-operate and work together and the role and contribution of relevant 

agencies such as schools, local faith groups, adults safeguarding boards 

etc. 

v. Agree and publish the local safeguarding performance framework for 

safeguarding children within the context of the national priorities and best 

practice and to implement a business plan which reflects those priorities 

vi. Agree and publish arrangements for local independent scrutiny. 

(b) Practice 

i  Identify priorities for local practice arising from Serious Case Reviews     

(SCRs), Practice Learning Reviews and multi-agency audits, and monitor 

evidence of progress 

ii   Identify learning from local cases and cascade learning to the workforce.   

iii  Co-ordinate multi-agency audits and cascade learning to the workforce.  

iv  Ensure themes from multi-agency audits are disseminated to single 

agencies   for them to consider in their internal audits  

Page 22



 
 

v  Maintain oversight of the relevant action plans to reduce numbers of 

children   who go missing and to prevent the sexual exploitation and/or 

trafficking of children 

(c) Policy 
 
i. Align existing learning/ development streams to optimise access across 

partner agencies/stakeholders, avoiding duplication of delivery and effort 

ii. Develop local protocols on key issues of concern, as agreed by the board  

iii. Quality assure partners’ policies and procedures  

iv. Take instruction from the board on areas of performance requiring in-depth 

examination and undertake this work 

7.0 INDEPENDENT SCRUTINY 

7.1 Working Together 2018 states that there has to be independent scrutiny of 
safeguarding arrangements and there is some guidance as to who could 
undertake this role.  

 
7.2 If agreed, Cheshire West and Chester, Cheshire East, Warrington and Halton 

will develop their own local arrangements, building on existing ones, with the 
aim of strengthening them further.  During the detailed development work, 
consideration will be given to how independent scrutiny should be best 
utilised, including the possible use of peer reviews involving other 
safeguarding partners outside of the areas.   

 
8.0 STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE ARRANGMENTS 

8.1 Development work will include how a Pan-Cheshire model could operate, 
alongside localised safeguarding arrangements. Discussions to date have 
noted existing sub regional arrangements and whether these could be 
adapted in order to oversee a Pan-Cheshire arrangement. Although further 
work is needed on this, there seems to be a general consensus that existing 
arrangements could be reviewed and adapted in order to meet future 
safeguarding requirements both at sub regional and local level. Therefore it is 
recommended that further work is undertaken by the Council and its partners 
on this over the forthcoming months. 

 
8.2 Within this work, existing terms of reference would need to be reviewed and 

revised to ensure there are appropriate representation, scrutiny and 
accountability of any Pan-Cheshire arrangements.  

 
8.3 In light of the draft ‘Working Together 2018’, there is also an opportunity to 

review the remit of the current sub groups across all areas and refine the 
areas covered under the title “contextual safeguarding.”  

 

Page 23



 
 

8.4 To support the oversight and administration of the Pan Cheshire work, 
administration support and business performance/analysis would need to be 
agreed.  

 
8.5 Within a sub-regional framework, a local model would still be required to 

oversee the local scrutiny and quality assurance activity. Partner agencies 
would need be to fully involve in this. It is noted that different models for each 
area may emerge as each area has its own differences. However, it is 
anticipated that dedicated administration support and performance analysis 
will continue to be required.  

 
8.6 With regard to governance, local accountability is key, as well as Pan-

Cheshire visibility. Subject to agreement, if a Pan-Cheshire arrangement was 
formalised, there would need to be a clear framework, detailing accountability 
at all levels and from each statutory partner. The connection between Pan-
Cheshire and local arrangements would need to be considered, where 
ultimate accountability is made clear and is in line with statutory guidance.  

 
9.0 OTHER OPTIONS: 
 
9.1 Each area could decide to keep all current arrangements as they are. This 

would rely on the other two statutory partners (Police and CCGs) to agree to 
this. Discussions to date have recognised that any changes cannot 
compromise the quality of local quality assurance and scrutiny processes.  

 
9.2 All partners agree that it is essential to make sure local arrangements remain 

in place, especially as recent inspections have acknowledged the strength of 
partnerships within the area and the effectiveness of safeguarding 
arrangements. Within this context, partners agree that there is an opportunity 
to build on existing strengths and develop a high functioning model which 
clearly sets out the responsibilities at both Pan-Cheshire and local level, 
where duplication is prevented and practice can improve further. 

 
10.0 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
10.1 The current budget sits within the Children’s Safeguarding Board 

arrangements. This is a pooled budget contributed to by the Council and 
statutory partners. 

 
10.2 The current funding arrangements are complex and have developed over 

time. In order to support the transition and development of a new structure, 
there is a need to ensure and maintain funding. Therefore it is recommended 
existing funding arrangements are maintained for an agreed minimum period 
(2020/ 2021), with view to reviewing funding once transition is progressed. 
This means that all existing funding arrangements across the LSCB would 
continue. 

  
10.3 The aim would be to develop a model of support that services local delivery of 

safeguarding functions and Pan Cheshire activity with no additional costs 
compared to current arrangements. This will require consideration of key 

Page 24



 
 

functions to be met and the resources to be targeted to the specific needs of 
the arrangements to ensure effective use of the resources made available.   

 
11.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
11.1 There is a risk that the quality of scrutiny and quality assurance would be 

compromised if arrangements are changed in light of the new Act. However, 
all partners have agreed clear principles that must be adhered to when 
considering any future changes. Any changes need to enhance and further 
strengthen partnership working and safeguarding practice and the priority has 
to be on safety and protection at all times. 

 
11.2 A second risk is that wider partners will not agree with any proposed changes. 

This risk will be mitigated by taking a fully inclusive approach to this work 
 
11.3 A third risk is that there may be delay in developing a Pan-Cheshire and local 

model in the timeframes set. The aim is that this will be mitigated by setting up 
a working group with appropriate administrative and project management 
support. This is currently being discussed between the three statutory 
partners. 

 
11.4 A fourth risk is the financial implications of setting up and operating a new 

model. This will be mitigated by the working group addressing all financial 
matters so it is clear what the expectations would be on all partners who have 
safeguarding responsibility. 

 
12.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIOITIES  
 

12.1  Children & Young People in Halton  
  
 Ensuring that children and young people are safe from harm is a core 

statutory duty for the council. It is essential that that members are informed 
and able to be assured of how effectively this duty is discharged via a robust 
performance and quality assurance framework. 

  
12.2 Employment, Learning and Skills 
 
 As relevant agencies and partners, agencies working in this area must-co-

operate with the framework outlined and contribute to ensuring children and 
young people are safeguarded 

  
12.3 A Healthy Halton  
 
 The CCG is a key safeguarding partner as health outcomes are adversely 

affected for children who experience harm.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 
 

12.4 A Safer Halton 
 
 Adults who care for children as parents, carers or as professionals have to be 

supported to be able to meet the need of children safely to support children to 
live at home within families. 

 
12.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 
 None identified 
 

 
13.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY / EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
13.1 The changes are in accordance with statutory guidance. Consideration will be 

given to the need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment during the 
transitional phase alongside other Pan-Cheshire Local Authorities. 

 
 
14.0 CONSULTATION 
 
14.1 The changes are statutory; however, ongoing consultation is needed with the 

key partners following publication of the statutory guidance as we move into 
future safeguarding arrangements at a Pan-Cheshire and local level. 

 
14.2 Statutory Guidance will require the transition to new arrangements to be 

completed by August 2019. This is on the basis that areas have 12 months to 
publish new arrangements and a further 3 months to then implement the 
changes. 

 
14.3 Therefore, further work would consider whether to maintain current 

arrangements into 2019, with view to moving forward with transition activity 
from then. Alternatively, subject to completion of preparatory work, new 
arrangements could commence in April 2019 on condition that consultation on 
a Pan-Cheshire and local arrangement is completed by September 2018. This 
would allow a period of shadow arrangements to enable a smooth transition 
and ensure that all risk areas are effectively managed. Both options would 
need further consideration by partners and scrutiny by the Council. 

 
 
15.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
  

Document 
 

Place of Inspection 
 

Contact Officer 

Working Together to 
Safeguard Children and Young 
People (DfE, April 2018)  

See attached 
 

Tracey Coffey 
Operational Director 
Children and Families 
 
0151 611 6790 

Page 26



 
 

 
 

Page 27



Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 
A guide to inter-agency working to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children 

Draft for consultation

April 2018 

Page 28



Contents 
Introduction 6 

About this guidance 7 

What is the status of this guidance? 7 

Who is this guidance for? 8 

A child-centred and co-ordinated approach to safeguarding 10 

Key principles 10 

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility 10 

A child-centred approach 12 

Chapter 1: Assessing need and providing help 14 

Early help 14 

Identifying children and families who would benefit from early help 14 

Effective assessment of the need for early help 16 

Provision of effective early help services 17 

Accessing help and services 17 

Referral 19 

Information sharing 19 

Assessments under the Children Act 1989 23 

Statutory requirements 23 

Assessment of disabled children and their carers 24 

Assessment of young carers 24 

Assessment of young people in secure youth establishments 24 

Contextual safeguarding 25 

The principles and parameters of a good assessment 26 

Assessment Framework 28 

Focusing on the needs and views of the child 29 

Developing a clear analysis 31 

Focusing on outcomes 32 

Timeliness 33 

Local protocols for assessment 34 

Processes for managing individual cases 35 

Draft

2

Page 29



Assessment of a child under the Children Act 1989 40 

Strategy discussion 43 

Initiating section 47 enquiries 47 

Outcome of section 47 enquiries 49 

Initial child protection conferences 51 

The child protection plan 53 

Child protection review conference 56 

Discontinuing the Child Protection Plan 58 

Chapter 2: Organisational responsibilities 61 

Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 61 

Individual organisational responsibilities 64 

Schools and colleges 64 

Early Years and Childcare 65 

Clinical commissioning groups 66 

Public Health England 67 

Police 68 

Adult social care services 69 

Housing services 69 

British Transport Police 70 

Prison Service 70 

Probation Service 71 

The secure estate for children 72 

Youth Offending Teams 73 

UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Border Force 73 

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 74 

Armed Services 74 

Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 75 

Voluntary and private sectors 75 

Sports Clubs / Organisations 75 

Faith Organisations 76 

Chapter 3: Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 77 

Safeguarding partners 77 

Draft

3

Page 30



Leadership 78 

Publication of arrangements 79 

Geographical area 80 

Relevant agencies 80 

Schools and other educational partners 81 

Independent scrutiny 81 

Funding 82 

Dispute resolution 82 

Updates to arrangements 82 

Reporting 83 

Information requests 83 

Chapter 4: Learning from serious cases about children 84 

Overview 84 

Principles for learning and improvement 85 

Duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
Panel 86 

Guidance for safeguarding partners on serious child safeguarding cases 86 

Action on receipt of a notification 86 

Local child safeguarding practice reviews 87 

Deciding when to carry out a local child safeguarding practice review 87 

Other circumstances 89 

Commissioning a reviewer or reviewers for a local child safeguarding practice 
review 89 

Procedure for a local child safeguarding practice review 90 

Expectations for the final report 91 

Actions in response to national and local reviews 92 

Guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 92 

Commissioning a reviewer for a national child safeguarding practice review 94 

Procedure for a national child safeguarding practice review 95 

Expectations for the final report 96 

Chapter 5: Child death reviews 98 

Responsibilities of Child Death Review Partners 100 

Child Death Overview Panels 101 

Draft

4

Page 31



Health input to child death review 103 

Processes for notification 103 

Responding to the death of a child 104 

Involving and supporting the family 106 

Appendix A: Glossary 108 

Appendix B: Statutory framework 111 

Children Act 2004 111 

Education Acts 114 

Children Act 1989 114 

Provision of services for children in need, their families and others 114 

Co-operation between authorities 116 

Emergency protection powers 118 

Exclusion requirement 118 

Police protection powers 119 

Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 119 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 120 

Childcare Act 2006 120 

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 120 

Housing Act 1996 120 

Table A: Bodies and individuals covered by key duties 121 

Appendix C: Further sources of information 125 

Supplementary guidance on particular safeguarding issues 125 

Department for Education guidance 125 

Guidance issued by other government departments and agencies 126 

Guidance issued by external organisations 128 

Supplementary guidance to support the Learning and Improvement Framework129 

 

Draft

5

Page 32



Introduction 

All children have the right to a safe, loving, and stable childhood. Whilst it is parents and 
carers who have primary care for their children, local authorities have overarching 
responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all children and young people 
in their area. They have a number of statutory functions under the 1989 and 2004 
Children Acts, which make this clear, and this guidance sets these out in detail. Local 
authorities have specific duties in relation to children in need and children suffering, or 
likely to suffer, significant harm, regardless of where they are found, under sections 17 
and 47 of the Children Act 1989. The Director of Children’s Services and Lead Member 
for Children’s Services in local authorities are the key points of professional and political 
accountability, with responsibility for the effective delivery of these functions. 

Whilst local authorities play a lead role, safeguarding children, promoting their welfare 
and protecting them from harm is everyone’s responsibility. Everyone who comes into 
contact with children and families has a role to play.1  

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined for the purposes of this 
guidance as: 

• protecting children from maltreatment 
• preventing impairment of children's health or development 
• ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care 
• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes  

Local agencies, including the police and health services, also have a duty under section 
11 of the Children Act 2004 to ensure that they consider the need to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children when carrying out their functions. 

Under section 10 of the same Act, similar ranges of agencies are required to co-operate 
with local authorities to promote the wellbeing of children in each local authority area (see 
chapter 1). This co-operation should exist and be effective at all levels of the 
organisation, from strategic level through to operational delivery. 

Practitioners2 working in agencies with these duties are responsible for ensuring that 
they fulfil their role and responsibilities in a manner consistent with the statutory duties of 
their employer. The 2017 Children and Social Work Act sets out how agencies must work 
together by placing new duties on the police, clinical commissioning groups and the local 
authority to make arrangements to work together and with other partners locally to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in their area. 

1 In this document, a child is defined as anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday. ‘Children’ 
therefore means ‘children and young people’ throughout.  
2 The term ‘practitioners’ is used throughout the guidance to refer to individuals who work with children and 
their families in any capacity. 

Draft

6

Page 33



About this guidance  
1. This guidance covers: 

• the legislative requirements and expectations on individual services to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children 

• a clear framework for the three local safeguarding partners (the local authority; a 
clinical commissioning group for an area within the local authority; and the chief 
officer of police for an area within the local authority area) to make arrangements to 
work together to identify and respond to the needs of local children 

2. This document replaces Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015). Links to 
relevant supplementary guidance that practitioners should consider alongside this 
guidance can be found at Appendix C. 

What is the status of this guidance?  
3. This guidance applies to local authorities and all other organisations as set out in 
chapter 2. 

4. It applies, in its entirety, to all schools. 

5. This document should be complied with unless exceptional circumstances arise. 

6. This guidance is issued under: 

• section 7 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, which requires local 
authorities in their social services functions to act under the general guidance of the 
Secretary of State 

• section 10(8) of the Children Act 2004, which requires each person or body to 
which the section 10 duty applies to have regard to any guidance given to them by 
the Secretary of State 

• section 11(4) of the Children Act 2004 which requires each person or body to which 
the section 11 duty applies to have regard to any guidance given to them by the 
Secretary of State 

• section 16B(7) of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017, which states that the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of State in connection 
with their functions 

Draft

7

Page 34



• section 16C(2) of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017, which states that local authorities must have regard to any 
guidance given by the Secretary of State in connection with their functions relating 
to notifications 

• section 16K of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work 
Act 2017, which states that the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies for a 
local authority area in England must have regard to any guidance given by the 
Secretary of State in connection with their functions under sections 16E-16J of the 
Act 

• section 16Q of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017, which states that the child death review partners for a local 
authority area in England must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary 
of State in connection with their functions under sections 16M-16P of the Act 

• section 175(4) of the Education Act 2002, which states that governing bodies of 
maintained schools (including maintained nursery schools), further education 
institutions and management committees of pupil referral units must have regard to 
any guidance given by the Secretary of State 

• paragraph 7(b) of the Schedule to the Education (Independent School Standards) 
Regulations 2014, made under sections 94(1) and (2) of the Education and Skills 
Act 2008, which states that the arrangements to safeguard or promote the welfare 
of pupils made by the proprietors of independent schools (including academies or 
free schools) or alternative provision academies must have regard to any guidance 
given by the Secretary of State 

• paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Non-Maintained Special Schools (England) 
Regulations 2015, made under section 342 of the Education Act 1996, which 
requires arrangements for safeguarding and promoting the health, safety and 
welfare of pupils in non-maintained special schools to have regard to any guidance 
published on such issues 

Who is this guidance for?  
7. This statutory guidance should be read and followed by local authority Chief 
Executives, Directors of Children’s Services, practice leaders3 and other senior leaders 
within organisations who commission and provide services for children and families. This 

3 Practice leaders as defined by the relevant knowledge and skills statement issued by the DfE have a key 
role to ensure that decisions about children are made according to this guidance. 

Draft

8

Page 35



includes social workers4 and practitioners from health services, adult services, the police, 
academy trusts, schools and education, youth justice services, the voluntary and 
community sector who have contact with children and families and the Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. 

8. All relevant practitioners working with/for children and their families should read 
and follow this guidance so that they can respond to individual children’s needs 
appropriately. 

9. A version of the guidance for young people and a separate version suitable for 
younger children are also available for practitioners to share. 

10. For children who need additional help, every day is vital. Academic research is 
consistent in underlining the damage to children from delaying intervention. The actions 
taken by practitioners to meet the needs of these children as early as possible can be 
critical to their future wellbeing. 

11. Children are best protected when practitioners are clear about what is required of 
them individually, and how they need to work together in partnership with others to 
promote the best interests of children and families. 

12. This guidance aims to help practitioners understand what they need to do, and 
what they can expect of one another, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. It 
focuses on core legal requirements, making it clear what individuals and organisations 
must and should do to keep children safe. In doing so, it seeks to emphasise that 
effective safeguarding systems are those where: 

• the child’s needs are paramount, and the needs and wishes of each child, be they 
a baby, infant, or an older child, should be put first, so that every child receives the 
support they need before a problem escalates 

• all practitioners who come into contact with children and families are alert to their 
needs and any risks of harm that individual abusers, or potential abusers, may 
pose to children 

• all practitioners share appropriate information in a timely way and can discuss any 
concerns about an individual child with colleagues and local authority children’s 
social care 

4 The reference to social workers throughout the documents means social workers who are registered to 
practise with the Health and Care Professions Council. 

Draft

9

Page 36

http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_781
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_782
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_782
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_782
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_782


• high quality practitioners are able to use their expert judgement to put the child’s 
needs at the heart of the safeguarding system so that the right solution can be 
found for each individual child 

• all practitioners contribute to whatever actions are needed to safeguard and 
promote a child’s welfare and take part in regularly reviewing the outcomes for the 
child against specific plans and outcomes 

• child and family social workers have the right knowledge and skills5 as set out in 
the post-qualification standards under the National Assessment and Accreditation 
System (NAAS) to do their jobs well 

• Safeguarding partners must set up arrangements to safeguard children locally and 
monitor and challenge the effectiveness of local arrangements 

• national and local reviews of serious child safeguarding cases are undertaken 
when appropriate, and published, so that lessons can be learnt 

• local areas innovate and changes are informed by evidence and examination of the 
data to improve the timeliness and quality of help given to children and families 

A child-centred and co-ordinated approach to safeguarding  

Key principles  

13. Effective safeguarding arrangements in every local area should be underpinned by 
two key principles: 

• a child-centred approach: for services to be effective they should be based on a 
clear understanding of the needs and views of children  

• safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility: for services to be effective each 
practitioner and organisation should play their full part 

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility  

14. Everyone who works with children – including teachers, general practitioners 
(GPs), nurses, midwives, health visitors, early years practitioners, youth workers, police, 

5 The knowledge and skills statements issued by the DfE will shortly become post-qualifying standards for 
child and family social work and assessments against them will begin from 2018. All local authorities are 
encouraged to align their performance management systems to the knowledge and skills statements in 
anticipation. 

Draft

10

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/knowledge-and-skills-statements-for-child-and-family-social-work


Accident and Emergency staff, paediatricians, voluntary and community workers and 
social workers – has a responsibility for keeping them safe. 

15. No single practitioner can have a full picture of a child’s needs and circumstances 
and, if children and families are to receive the right help at the right time, everyone who 
comes into contact with them has a role to play in identifying concerns, sharing 
information and taking prompt action. 

16. In order that organisations and practitioners collaborate effectively, it is vital that 
every individual working with children and families, including practitioners who work with 
parents, is aware of the role that they have to play and the role of other practitioners. 
They should be aware of, and comply with, the published local arrangements as set out 
by the local safeguarding partners. Effective safeguarding requires clear local 
arrangements for collaboration between practitioners and agencies. 

17. Any practitioners with concerns about a child’s welfare should make a referral to 
local authority children’s social care. Practitioners should always follow up their concerns 
if they are not satisfied with the response. 

18. This statutory guidance sets out key roles for individual organisations to deliver 
effective local arrangements for safeguarding. It is essential that these arrangements are 
strongly led and promoted at a local level, specifically by: 

• a strong lead from local authority members, including Council Leaders or Mayors, 
and the commitment of chief officers in all agencies, in particular the Director of 
Children’s Services and Lead Member for Children’s Services in each local 
authority, the Chief Constable and the CCG 

• effective local co-ordination and challenge by the safeguarding partners in each 
area (see chapter 3) 

19. Social workers have specific roles and responsibilities to lead the statutory 
assessment of children in need (section 17, Children Act 1989) and to lead child 
protection enquiries (section 47, Children Act 1989). It is crucial that social workers are 
supported through effective supervision arrangements by practice leaders and practice 
supervisors as defined under the NAAS6 who have the lead role in overseeing the quality 
of social work practice. Designated Principal Social Workers have a key role in 
developing the practice and the practice methodology that underpins direct work with 
children and families. 

6 National Assessment and Accreditation System 

Draft

11

Page 38



A child-centred approach  

20. Effective safeguarding systems are child-centred. Failings in safeguarding 
systems are too often the result of losing sight of the needs and views of the children 
within them, or placing the interests of adults ahead of the needs of children. 

21. Children are clear about what they want from an effective safeguarding system 
and this is described in the box on page 13 and below. 

22. Children want to be respected, their views to be heard, to have stable 
relationships with practitioners built on trust and to have consistent support provided for 
their individual needs. This should guide the behaviour of practitioners. Anyone working 
with children should see and speak to the child; listen to what they say; take their views 
seriously; and work with them and their families collaboratively when deciding how to 
support their needs. A child-centred approach is supported by: 

• the Children Act 1989. This Act requires local authorities to give due regard to a 
child’s wishes when determining what services to provide under section 17 of the 
Children Act 1989, and before making decisions about action to be taken to protect 
individual children under section 47 of the Children Act 1989. These duties 
complement requirements relating to the wishes and feelings of children who are, 
or may be, looked-after (section 22(4) Children Act 1989), including those who are 
provided with accommodation under section 20 of the Children Act 1989 and 
children taken into police protection (section 46(3)(d) of that Act) 

• the Equality Act 2010 puts a responsibility on public authorities to have due regard 
to the need to eliminate discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. This 
applies to the process of identification of need and risk faced by the individual child 
and the process of assessment. No child or group of children must be treated any 
less favourably than others in being able to access effective services which meet 
their particular needs 

• the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)7. This is an 
international agreement that protects the rights of children and provides a child-
centred framework for the development of services to children. The UK 
Government ratified the UNCRC in 1991 and, by doing so, recognises children’s 
rights to expression and receiving information 

7 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child  

Draft

12

Page 39

https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/


Children have said that they need 

• vigilance: to have adults notice when things are troubling them 

• understanding and action: to understand what is happening; to be heard and 
understood; and to have that understanding acted upon 

• stability: to be able to develop an ongoing stable relationship of trust with those 
helping them 

• respect: to be treated with the expectation that they are competent rather than not 

• information and engagement: to be informed about and involved in procedures, 
decisions, concerns and plans 

• explanation: to be informed of the outcome of assessments and decisions and 
reasons when their views have not met with a positive response 

• support: to be provided with support in their own right as well as a member of their 
family 

• advocacy: to be provided with advocacy to assist them in putting forward their 
views 

• Protection: to be protected against all forms of abuse and discrimination and the 
right to special protection and help if a refugee 

 

23. In addition to individual practitioners shaping support around the needs of 
individual children, local agencies should have a clear understanding of the collective 
needs of children locally when commissioning effective services. As part of that process, 
the Director of Public Health should ensure that the needs of vulnerable children are a 
key part of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment developed by the health and well-being 
board. Safeguarding partners should use this assessment to help them understand the 
prevalence of abuse and neglect in their area, which in turn should help shape services.  

Draft

13

Page 40



Chapter 1: Assessing need and providing help  

Early help  
1. Providing early help is more effective in promoting the welfare of children than 
reacting later. Early help means providing support as soon as a problem emerges, at any 
point in a child’s life, from the foundation years through to the teenage years. Early help 
can also prevent further problems arising, for example, if it is provided as part of a 
support plan where a child has returned home to their family from care. 

2. Effective early help relies upon local agencies working together to: 

• identify children and families who would benefit from early help 

• undertake an assessment of the need for early help 

• provide targeted early help services to address the assessed needs of a child and 
their family which focuses on activity to significantly improve the outcomes for the 
child 

3. Local authorities, under section 10 of the Children Act 2004, have a responsibility 
to promote inter-agency co-operation to improve the welfare of children. 

Section 10 

Section 10 of the Children Act 2004 requires each local authority to make 
arrangements to promote co-operation between the authority, each of the authority’s 
relevant partners and such other persons or bodies working with children in the local 
authority’s area as the authority considers appropriate. The arrangements are to be 
made with a view to improving the well-being of all children in the authority’s area, 
which includes protection from harm and neglect. The local authority’s relevant 
partners are listed in Table A in Appendix B. 

 

Identifying children and families who would benefit from early 
help  
4. Local agencies should have in place effective ways to identify emerging problems 
and potential unmet needs of individual children and families. Local authorities should 
work with relevant local agencies to develop a joined-up early help services based on a 
clear understanding of local needs. This requires all practitioners, including those in 

Draft

14

Page 41



universal services and those providing services to adults with children, to understand 
their role in identifying emerging problems and to share information with other 
practitioners to support early identification and assessment.  

5. The three safeguarding partners should consider how they monitor and evaluate 
the effectiveness of training, including multi-agency training, for all practitioners in the 
area.  

6. Training should cover how to identify and respond early to the needs of all 
vulnerable children, including unborn children; babies; older children, young carers, 
disabled children, and those who are in secure settings.  

7. Practitioners should, in particular, be alert to the potential need for early help for a 
child who:  

• is disabled and has specific additional needs8 

• has special educational needs (whether or not they have a statutory education, 
health and care plan) 

• is a young carer 

• is showing signs of engaging in anti-social or criminal behaviour, including gang 
involvement and association with organised crime groups 

• is frequently missing/goes missing from care or from home9 

• is misusing drugs or alcohol themselves 

• is in a family circumstance presenting challenges for the child, such as substance 
misuse, adult mental health problems and domestic abuse 

• has returned home to their family from care10 

• is showing early signs of abuse and/or neglect 

• is at risk of being radicalised 

8. Practitioners working in universal services have a responsibility to identify the 
symptoms and triggers of abuse and neglect, to share that information and work together 

8 Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 promotes the physical, mental health and emotional wellbeing 
of children and young people with special educational needs or a disability 
9 Children who run away or go missing from care (2014) 
10 Children return home to their families from local authority care under a range of circumstances. These 
circumstances and the related local authority duties are set out in flow chart 6 

Draft

15

Page 42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/part/3


to provide children and young people with the help they need. Practitioners need to 
continue to develop their knowledge and skills in this area. They should have access to 
training to identify and respond early to abuse and neglect, and to the latest research 
showing which types of interventions are the most effective.  

Effective assessment of the need for early help 
9. Local agencies including the three safeguarding partners should work together to 
put processes in place for the effective assessment of the needs of individual children 
who may benefit from early help services. 

10. Children and families may need support from a wide range of local agencies and 
services. Where a child and family would benefit from co-ordinated support from more 
than one agency (e.g. education, health, housing, police) there should be an inter-agency 
assessment. These early help assessments should identify what help the child and family 
require to prevent needs escalating to a point where intervention would be needed via a 
statutory assessment under the Children Act 1989.  

11. A lead practitioner should provide support to the child and family, act as an 
advocate on their behalf, co-ordinate the delivery of support services and should 
undertake the early help assessment. A GP, family support worker, school nurse, 
teacher, health visitor and/or special educational needs co-ordinator could undertake the 
lead practitioner role. Decisions about who should be the lead practitioner should be 
taken on a case-by-case basis and should be informed by the child and their family.  

12. For an early help assessment to be effective: 

• the assessment should be undertaken with the agreement of the child and their 
parents or carers. It should involve the child and family as well as all the 
practitioners who are working with them 

• A GP, family support worker, school nurse, teacher, health visitor and/or special 
educational needs co-ordinator or other practitioner should be able to discuss 
concerns they may have about a child and family with a social worker in the local 
authority. Local authority children’s social care should set out the process for how 
this will happen 

• If parents and/or the child do not consent to an early help assessment, then the 
lead practitioner should make a judgement as to whether, without intervention, the 
needs of the child will escalate. If so, a referral into local authority children’s social 
care may be necessary 

Draft

16

Page 43



13. If at any time it is considered that the child may be a child in need as defined in the 
Children Act 1989, or that the child has suffered significant harm or is likely to do so, a 
referral should be made immediately to local authority children’s social care. This referral 
can be made by any practitioner. 

Provision of effective early help services  
14. The early help assessment carried out for an individual child and their family 
should be evidence-based and clear about the action to be taken and services to be 
provided (including any relevant timescales for the assessment that will deliver timely 
help for the child and family). The early help assessment should also aim to ensure that 
services are co-ordinated for the child and family and not delivered in a piecemeal way. 
Early intervention assessments should involve the child or young person and take their 
wishes and feelings into account wherever possible. 

15. Local areas should have a comprehensive range of effective, evidence-based 
services in place to address assessed needs early. The early help on offer should draw 
upon any local assessment of need, including the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
and the latest evidence of the effectiveness of early help and early intervention 
programmes. In addition to high quality support in universal services, specific local early 
help services will typically include family and parenting programmes, assistance with 
health issues and help for problems relating to domestic abuse and drug or alcohol 
misuse by an adult or the child. Services may also focus on improving family functioning 
and building the family’s own capability to solve problems; this should be done within a 
structured, evidence-based framework involving regular review to ensure that real 
progress is being made. Some of these services may be delivered to parents but should 
always be evaluated to demonstrate the impact they are having on the outcomes for the 
child. 

Accessing help and services  
16. The provision of early help services should form part of a continuum of help and 
support to respond to the different levels of need of individual children and families. 

17. Where a child’s need is relatively low level, individual services and universal 
services may be able to take swift action. For other emerging needs, a range of early 
help services may be required, co-ordinated through an early help assessment, as set 
out above. Where there are more complex needs, help may be provided under section 17 
of the Children Act 1989 (children in need). Where there are child protection concerns 
(reasonable cause to suspect a child is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm) local 

Draft

17

Page 44



authority social care services must make enquiries and decide if any action must be 
taken under section 47 of the Children Act 1989. 

18. It is important that there are clear criteria for taking action and providing help 
across this full continuum to ensure that services are commissioned effectively and that 
the right help is given to the child at the right time.11 These criteria for action should be 
understood by all practitioners and applied consistently, including for children returning 
home from care. The safeguarding partners, in making their arrangements, should 
determine how best to ensure that these criteria for action are transparent, accessible 
and well understood. 

19. In making their local arrangements, the safeguarding partners should agree with 
their relevant agencies the levels for the different types of assessment and services to be 
commissioned and delivered. This should include services for children who have been or 
might be sexually exploited, children who have undergone or may undergo female genital 
mutilation (FGM) and children who have been or may be radicalised. This should also 
include services for disabled children and be aligned with the short breaks services 
statement.12 

20. The local criteria for action should include: 

• the process for the early help assessment and the type and level of early help 
services to be provided 

• the criteria, including the level of need, for when a case should be referred to local 
authority children’s social care for assessment and for statutory services under 

• section 17 of the Children Act 1989 (children in need) 

• section 47 of the Children Act 1989 (reasonable cause to suspect children 
suffering or likely to suffer significant harm) 

• section 31 (care orders) 

• section 20 (duty to accommodate a child) of the Children Act 1989 

• clear procedures and processes for cases relating to: 

• the sexual exploitation of children and young people 

• children managed within the youth secure estate 

11 Guidance on specific safeguarding concerns can be found in Appendix C.  
12 Required under the Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011 

Draft

18

Page 45

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/707/contents/made


Referral 
21. Anyone who has concerns about a child’s welfare should make a referral to local 
authority children’s social care and should do so immediately if there is a concern that the 
child is suffering significant harm or is likely to do so. Local authority children’s social 
care has the responsibility for clarifying the process for referrals. This includes specific 
arrangements for referrals in areas where there are secure youth establishments. 

22.  Within local authorities, children’s social care should act as the principal point of 
contact for safeguarding concerns relating to children. As well as clear protocols for 
practitioners working with children, contact details should be signposted clearly so that 
children, parents and other family members are aware of who they can contact if they 
wish to make a referral and/or require advice and/or support. 

23. When practitioners refer a child, they should include any information they have on 
the child’s developmental needs and the capacity of the child’s parents or carers to meet 
those needs. This information may be included in any assessment, including an early 
help assessment, which may have been carried out prior to a referral into local authority 
children’s social care. Where an early help assessment has already been undertaken it 
should be used to support a referral to local authority children’s social care, however, this 
is not a prerequisite for making a referral. 

24. Feedback should be given by local authority children’s social care to the referrer 
on the decisions taken. Where appropriate, this feedback should include the reasons why 
a case may not meet the statutory threshold and be considered by local authority 
children’s social care for assessment and suggestions for other sources of more suitable 
support. Practitioners should always follow up their concerns if they are not satisfied with 
the local authority children’s social care response and should escalate their concerns if 
they remain dissatisfied. 

Information sharing  
25. Effective sharing of information between practitioners and local agencies is 
essential for early identification of need, assessment and service provision. Serious Case 
Reviews (SCRs13) have highlighted that missing opportunities to record, share and 
understand the significance of information in a timely manner can have severe 
consequences for the safety and welfare of children. 

26. Sharing information increases the capacity of practitioners to take action to keep 
children safe. Practitioners should be proactive in sharing information to help identify, 

13 Pathways to harm, pathways to protection: a triennial analysis of serious case reviews, 2011 to 2014  

 

Draft

19

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysis-of-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014


assess and respond to risks or concerns about the safety and welfare of children whether 
this is when problems are first emerging, or where a child is already known to local 
authority children’s social care (e.g. they are being supported as a child in need or have a 
child protection plan). 

27. Information sharing is also essential for the identification of patterns of behaviour 
when a child has gone missing or in relation to children in the secure estate where there 
may be multiple local authorities involved in a child’s care. 

28. Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in the way of the 
need to promote the welfare and protect the safety of children, which must always be the 
paramount concern. To ensure effective safeguarding arrangements: 

• all organisations should have arrangements in place that set out clearly the 
processes and the principles for sharing information. The arrangement should 
cover how information will be shared within their own organisations; with other 
organisations, practitioners and individuals who may be involved in a child’s life; 
and the three safeguarding partners 

• all practitioners should be alert to the signs and triggers of child abuse and neglect, 
and should not assume that someone else will pass on information that they think 
may be critical to keeping a child safe. If a practitioner has concerns about a child’s 
welfare and believes they are suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, then they 
should share the information with local authority children’s social care and/or the 
police. All practitioners should be particularly alert to the importance of sharing 
information when a child moves from one local authority into another, due to the 
risk that knowledge pertinent to keeping a child safe could be lost 

• all practitioners should aim to gain consent to share information, but should be 
mindful of situations where to do so would place a child at increased risk of harm. 
Information may be shared without consent if a practitioner judges that there is 
good reason to do so, and that the sharing of information will enhance the 
safeguarding of a child in a timely manner. When decisions are made to share 
information, practitioners should record who has been given the information and 
why  

29.  ‘Information Sharing: Advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services to 
children, young people, parents and carers (2015)’ 14 supports front line practitioners, 
working in child or adult services, who have to make decisions about sharing personal 
information on a case by case basis. The advice includes the seven golden rules for 

14 Information sharing: advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services to children, young people, 
parents and carers (2015). 

Draft

20

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice


sharing information effectively and can be used to supplement local guidance and 
encourage good practice in information sharing. 

Draft

21

Page 48



 

Myth-busting guide to Information sharing 

Sharing information enables practitioners and organisations to identify and provide 
appropriate services that safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Below are 
common myths that may hinder effective information sharing: 

The Data Protection Act 1998 is a barrier to sharing information  

No - the Data Protection Act 1998 does not prohibit the collection and sharing of 
personal information, but rather provides a framework to ensure that personal 
information about a living individual is shared appropriately. 

Consent is always needed to share personal information 

No - you do not necessarily need the consent of the information subject to share their 
personal information. Where possible, you should seek consent from an individual, and 
should be clear about why and with whom information will be shared. In situations 
where there are concerns that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer significant harm, 
information may be shared without consent.  

Personal information collected by one organisation cannot be disclosed to 
another organisation   

No - this is not the case, unless the information is to be used for a purpose incompatible 
with the purpose that it was originally collected for. In the case of a child at risk of 
significant harm, it is difficult to foresee circumstances where sharing personal 
information with other practitioners would be incompatible with the purpose for which it 
was originally collected.   

The common law duty of confidence and the Human Rights Act 1998 prevent the 
sharing of personal information  

No - this is not the case, practitioners need to balance the common law duty of 
confidence and the rights within the Human Rights Act 1998 against the effect on 
individuals or others of not sharing the information.  

IT Systems are often a barrier to effective information sharing   

No – co-judgment is the most essential aspect of multi-agency work, which could be put 
at risk if organisations rely too heavily on IT systems. Evidence from the Munro review 
is clear that IT systems will not be fully effective unless individuals from organisations 
operate around meeting the needs of the individual child. 

Draft

22

Page 49



Assessments under the Children Act 1989 

Statutory requirements 

Assessments under the Children Act 1989 for children in need and 
children suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm 

• under the Children Act 1989, local authorities are required to provide services for 
children in need for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting their welfare. 
Local authorities undertake assessments of the needs of individual children to 
determine which services to provide and what action to take 

• a child in need is defined under the Children Act 1989 as a child who is unlikely to 
achieve or maintain a reasonable level of health or development, or whose health 
and development is likely to be significantly or further impaired, without the 
provision of services; or a child who is disabled. Children in need may be assessed 
under section 17 of the Children Act 1989. Where such an assessment takes 
place, it will be carried out by a social worker 

• some children in need may require accommodation because there is no one who 
has parental responsibility for them, because they are lost or abandoned, or 
because the person who has been caring for them is prevented from providing 
them with suitable accommodation or care. Under section 20 of the Children Act 
1989, the local authority has a duty to accommodate such children in need in their 
area 

• when assessing children in need and providing services, specialist assessments 
may be required and, where possible, should be co-ordinated so that the child and 
family experience a coherent process and a single plan of action 

• local authorities, with the help of other organisations as appropriate, also have a 
duty to make enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 if they have 
reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant 
harm. Such enquiries enable them to decide whether they should take any action 
to safeguard and promote the child’s welfare and must be initiated where there are 
concerns about maltreatment, including all forms of abuse and neglect, FGM and 
other honour-based violence, and extra-familial threats like radicalisation and 
sexual or criminal exploitation. There may be a need for immediate protection 
whilst the assessment is carried out 

Draft

23

Page 50



Assessment of disabled children and their carers 
30. When undertaking an assessment of a disabled child, the local authority must also 
consider whether it is necessary to provide support under section 2 of the Chronically 
Sick and Disabled Persons Act (CSDPA) 197015. Where a local authority is satisfied that 
the identified services and assistance can be provided under section 2 of the CSDPA, 
and it is necessary in order to meet a disabled child’s needs, it must arrange to provide 
that support. Where a local authority is assessing the needs of a disabled child, a carer of 
that child may also require the local authority to undertake an assessment of their ability 
to provide, or to continue to provide, care for the child, under section 1 of the Carers 
(Recognition and Services) Act 1995. The local authority must take account of the results 
of any such assessment when deciding whether to provide services to the disabled child. 

31. If a local authority considers that a parent carer of a disabled child (see glossary) 
may have support needs, they must carry out an assessment under section 17ZD of the 
Children Act 1989. The local authority must also carry out such an assessment if a parent 
carer requests one. Such an assessment must consider whether it is appropriate for the 
parent carer to provide, or continue to provide, care for the disabled child, in light of the 
parent carer’s needs and wishes. 

Assessment of young carers 
32. If a local authority considers that a young carer (see glossary) may have support 
needs, they must carry out an assessment under section 17ZA of the Children Act 1989. 
The local authority must also carry out such an assessment if a young carer, or the 
parent of a young carer, requests one. Such an assessment must consider whether it is 
appropriate or excessive for the young carer to provide care for the person in question, in 
light of the young carer’s needs and wishes. The Young Carers’ (Needs Assessment) 
Regulations 201516 require local authorities to look at the needs of the whole family when 
carrying out a young carers’ needs assessment. Young carer’s assessments can be 
combined with assessments of adults in the household, with the agreement of the young 
carer and adults concerned. 

Assessment of young people in secure youth establishments 
33. Any assessment of young people in secure youth establishments should take 
account of the specific needs that these young people will have. In all cases, the local 
authority in which a secure youth establishment is located is responsible for the safety 
and welfare of the children in that establishment. The host local authority should work 

15 Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act (CSDPA) 1970 
16 The Young Carers’ (Need Assessment) Regulations 2015 

Draft

24

Page 51

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/44
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/527/pdfs/uksi_20150527_en.pdf


with the governor, director, manager or principal of the secure youth establishment and 
the young person’s home local authority, their relevant Youth Offending Team and, 
where appropriate, the Youth Custody Service17 to ensure that the child has a single, 
comprehensive support plan. 

Contextual safeguarding 
34. As well as threats to the welfare of children from within their families, children may 
be vulnerable to abuse or exploitation from outside their families. These extra-familial 
threats might arise at school, from within peer groups, or more widely from within the 
local community. These threats can take a variety of different forms from online safety, 
exploitation, sexual, by criminal gangs and organised crime groups to the influences of 
extremism leading to radicalisation and trafficking. Assessments of children in such 
cases should consider whether wider environmental factors are present in a child’s life 
and are a threat to their safety and/or welfare. Interventions should focus on addressing 
these wider environmental factors, which are likely to be a threat to the safety and/or 
welfare of a number of different children and young people who may or may not be 
known to local authority children’s social care.  

35. For example, Channel panels, established under the Counter-Terrorism and 
Security Act 2015, assess the extent to which identified individuals are vulnerable to 
being drawn into terrorism, and, where appropriate, arrange for support to be provided18. 
When assessing Channel referrals, local authorities and their partners should consider 
how best to align these with assessments undertaken under the Children Act 1989. 

36. Any potential harmful effects to individuals identified as vulnerable to extremist 
ideologies or being drawn into terrorism should also be considered.  

37. The Children Act 1989 promotes the view that all children and their parents should 
be considered as individuals and that family structures, culture, religion, ethnic origins 
and other characteristics should be respected. Local authorities should ensure they 
support and promote fundamental British values, of democracy, the rule of law, individual 
liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs. 

38. Whatever legislation the child is assessed under, the purpose of the assessment 
is always:  

• to gather important information about a child and family 

17 As the placing authority 
18 Channel guidance 
 

Draft

25

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance


• to analyse their needs and/or the nature and level of any risk and harm being 
suffered by the child 

• to decide whether the child is a child in need (section 17) and/or is suffering, or 
likely to suffer, significant harm (section 47) 

• to provide support to address those needs to improve the child’s outcomes and 
welfare and where necessary to make them safe 

39. Assessment should be a dynamic process, which analyses and responds to the 
changing nature and level of need and/or risk faced by the child. Any provision identified 
as being necessary through the assessment process should, if the local authority decides 
to provide such services, be provided without delay. A good assessment will monitor and 
record the impact of any services delivered to the child and family and review the help 
being delivered. Whilst services may be delivered to a parent or carer, the assessment 
should be focused on the needs of the child and on the impact any services are having 
on the child.19  

40. Good assessments support practitioners to understand whether a child has needs 
relating to their care or a disability and/or is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm. 
The specific needs of disabled children and young carers should be given sufficient 
recognition and priority in the assessment process. Further guidance can be accessed at 
‘Recognised, valued and supported: Next steps for the Carers Strategy (2010)’.20 

The principles and parameters of a good assessment 
41. In order to carry out good assessments, social workers should have the relevant 
knowledge and skills set out in the Knowledge and Skills Statements for child and family 
social work.21 

42. Social workers should have time to complete assessments and have access to 
high quality practice supervision. Principal Social Workers should support social workers, 
the local authority and partners to develop their assessment practice and decision 
making skills, and the practice methodology that underpins this. 

43. High quality assessments:  

19 An assessment of the support needs of parent carers, or non-parent carers, of disabled children may be 
required  
20 Recognised, valued and supported: Next steps for the Carers Strategy (2010).  
21 Knowledge and skills statements for child and family social work 

Draft

26

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/knowledge-and-skills-statements-for-child-and-family-social-work


• are child-centred. Where there is a conflict of interest, decisions should be made in 
the child’s best interests; be rooted in child development and informed by evidence 

• are focused on action and outcomes for children 

• are holistic in approach, addressing the child’s needs within their family and wider 
community 

• ensure equality of opportunity 

• involve children, ensuring that their voice is heard 

• involve families 

• identify risks to the safety and welfare of children 

• build on strengths as well as identifying difficulties 

• are integrated in approach 

• are a continuing process, not an event 

• lead to action, including the provision of services 

• review services provided on an ongoing basis 

• are transparent and open to challenge 

44. Research has shown that taking a systematic approach to enquiries using a 
conceptual model is the best way to deliver a comprehensive assessment for all children. 
An example of such a model is set out in the diagram on the next page. It investigates 
three domains: 

• the child’s developmental needs, including whether they are suffering, or likely to 
suffer, significant harm 

• the capacity of parents’ or carers’ (resident and non-resident) and any other adults 
living in the household to respond to those needs 22, 23 

• the impact and influence of wider family and any other adults living in the 
household, community and environmental circumstances 

22 An assessment of the support needs of parent carers of disabled children may be required  
23 See Chapter 2 paragraph 26 on adults with parental responsibility for disabled children.  

Draft

27

Page 54



Assessment Framework  

  

45. The aim of assessment is to reach a judgement about the nature and level of 
needs and/or risks that the child may be facing within their family. It is important that: 

• information is gathered and recorded systematically 

• information is checked and discussed with the child and their parents/carers where 
appropriate 

• differences in views about information are recorded 

• the impact of what is happening to the child is clearly identified 

46. Practitioners should be rigorous in assessing and monitoring children at risk of 
abuse and neglect to ensure they are adequately safeguarded over time. The local 
authority should act decisively to protect the child by initiating care proceedings where 
existing interventions are insufficient24. Where an assessment in these circumstances 

24 Further information about processes relating to care and court proceedings (including pre-proceedings) 
can be found in the statutory guidance document for local authorities, Court Orders and Pre-Proceedings 
(DfE, 2014). 

Draft

28

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2


identifies concerns but care proceedings are not initiated, the assessment should provide 
a valuable platform for ongoing engagement with the child and their family. 

47. Where a child becomes looked-after the assessment will be the baseline for work 
with the family. Any needs that have been identified should be addressed before 
decisions are made about the child's return home. Assessment by a social worker is 
required before a child in care under a care order returns home under the Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010. 25 This will provide evidence of 
whether the necessary improvements have been made to ensure the child's safety when 
they return home. Appropriate support should be provided, following an assessment, for 
children returning home, including where that return home is unplanned. Any such 
support should ensure that children continue to be adequately safeguarded. 

48. Where a child becomes looked-after, as a result of being remanded to youth 
detention accommodation (YDA), the local authority must visit the child and assess the 
child’s needs before taking a decision. This information must be used to prepare a 
Detention Placement Plan (DPP), which must set out how the YDA and other 
practitioners will meet the child’s needs whilst the child remains remanded. The DPP 
must be reviewed in the same way as a care plan for any other looked-after child.26  

49. Assessments for some children – including young carers, children with special 
educational needs (who may require Education, Health and Care Plans), unborn children 
where there are concerns, asylum seeking children, children in hospital, disabled 
children, children with specific communication needs, children considered at risk of gang 
activity and association with organised crime groups, children who are in the youth justice 
system – will require particular care. Where a child has other assessments it is important 
that these are co-ordinated so that the child does not become lost between the different 
agencies involved and their different procedures. The different agencies should be clear 
on how they will communicate with the child and family and share information with each 
other in a timely way.  

Focusing on the needs and views of the child 
50. Every assessment should be child-centred. Where there is a conflict between the 
needs of the child and their parents/carers, decisions should be made in the child’s best 
interests. 

51. Each child whose referral has been accepted by children’s social care should have 
their individual needs assessed including an analysis of the parental capacity to meet 

25  Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010  
26 Following the Legal Aid Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 all children and young people 
remanded by a court in criminal proceedings will be looked-after  

Draft

29

Page 56

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/10/contents


those needs. Frequently more than one child from the same family is referred and 
siblings within the family should always be considered. Family assessments that include 
all members of the family should always ensure that the needs of individual children are 
distinct considerations. Local authorities have to give due regard to a child’s age and 
understanding when determining what (if any) services to provide under section 17 of the 
Children Act 1989, and before making decisions about action to be taken to protect 
individual children under section 47 of the Children Act 1989. Every assessment must be 
informed by the views of the child as well as the family. Children should, wherever 
possible, be seen alone and local authority children’s social care has a duty to ascertain 
the child’s wishes and feelings regarding the provision of services to be delivered.27 It is 
important to understand the resilience of the individual child when planning appropriate 
services.  

52. Every assessment should reflect the unique characteristics of the child within their 
family and community context. For example, a young carer’s needs assessment must 
consider the impact of the child’s caring role on their health and development; and reach 
a view about whether, in view of the child’s needs and personal circumstances, any care 
tasks are “inappropriate” or excessive.  

53. Where the child has links to a foreign country28, a social worker may also need to 
work with colleagues abroad.29  

54. Every assessment, including young carer, parent carer and non-parent carer 
assessments, should draw together relevant information gathered from the child and their 
family and from relevant practitioners including teachers, early years workers, health 
practitioners, the police and adult social care. Where a child has been looked-after and 
has returned home, information from previous assessments and case records should 
also be reviewed. 

55. A high quality assessment is one in which evidence is built and revised throughout 
the process. A social worker may arrive at a judgement early in the case but this may 
need to be revised as the case progresses and further information comes to light. It is a 
characteristic of skilled practice that social workers revisit their assumptions in the light of 
new evidence and take action to revise their decisions in the best interests of the 
individual child. 

27 Section 17 of the Children Act 1989, amended by section 53 Children Act 2004. 
28 A child with links to a foreign country may be a foreign national child, a child with dual nationality or a 
British child of foreign parents/national origin. 
29 Further guidance can be found in Working with foreign authorities: child protection and care orders 
(2014). 

Draft

30

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-protection-working-with-foreign-authorities


56. All practitioners should share information that contributes to an assessment that 
identifies difficulties and risk factors as well as developing a picture of strengths and 
protective factors for each child. 

Developing a clear analysis 
57. The social worker should analyse all the information gathered from the enquiry 
stage of the assessment, including from a young carer’s, parent carer’s or non-parent 
carer’s assessment, to decide the nature and level of the child’s needs and the level of 
risk, if any, they may be facing. The social worker should receive insight and challenge to 
their emerging hypothesis from their practice supervisors and other relevant practitioners 
who should challenge the social worker’s assumptions as part of this process. An 
informed decision should be taken on the nature of any action required and which 
services should be provided. Social workers, their managers and other practitioners 
should be mindful of the requirement to understand the level of need and risk in a family 
from the child’s perspective and understand both protective and risk factors the child is 
facing. The analysis should inform the action to be taken which will have maximum 
impact on the child’s life. 

58. No system can fully eliminate risk. Understanding risk involves judgement and 
balance. To manage risks, social workers and other practitioners should make decisions 
with the best interests of the child in mind, informed by the evidence available and 
underpinned by knowledge of child development. 

59. Critical reflection through supervision should strengthen the analysis in each 
assessment. 

60. Social workers, their practice supervisors and other practitioners should always 
consider the plan from the child’s perspective. A desire to think the best of adults and to 
hope they can overcome their difficulties should not subvert the need to protect children 
from chaotic, neglectful and abusive homes. Social workers and practice supervisors 
should always reflect the latest research on the impact of neglect and abuse and relevant 
findings from serious case and practice reviews when analysing the level of need and 
risk faced by the child. This should be reflected in the case recording. 

61. Assessment is a dynamic and continuous process that should build upon the 
history of every individual case, responding to the impact of any previous services and 
analysing what further action might be needed. Social workers should build on this with 
help from other practitioners from the moment that a need is identified. 

62. Decision points and review points involving the child and family and relevant 
practitioners should be used to keep the assessment on track. This is to ensure that help 

Draft

31

Page 58



is given in a timely and appropriate way and that the impact of this help is analysed and 
evaluated in terms of the improved outcomes and welfare of the child. 

Focusing on outcomes  
63. Every assessment should be focused on outcomes, deciding which services and 
support to provide to deliver improved welfare for the child. 

64. Where the outcome of the assessment is continued local authority children’s social 
care involvement, the social worker should agree a plan of action with other practitioners 
and discuss this with the child and their family. The plan should set out what services are 
to be delivered, and what actions are to be undertaken, by whom and for what purpose. 

65. Many services provided will be for parents or carers (and may include services 
identified in a parent carer’s or non-parent carer’s needs assessment).30 The plan should 
reflect this and set clear measurable outcomes for the child and expectations for the 
parents, with measurable, reviewable actions for them. 

66. The plan should be reviewed regularly to analyse whether sufficient progress has 
been made to meet the child’s needs and the level of risk faced by the child. This will be 
important for neglect cases where parents and carers can make small improvements. 
The test should be whether any improvements in adult behaviour are sufficient and 
sustained. Social workers should consider the need for further action and record their 
decisions. The review points should be agreed by the social worker with other 
practitioners and with the child and family to continue evaluating the impact of any 
change on the welfare of the child. 

67. Effective practitioner supervision can play a critical role in ensuring a clear focus 
on a child’s welfare. Supervision should support practitioners to reflect critically on the 
impact of their decisions on the child and their family. The social worker should review 
the plan for the child. They should ask whether the help given is leading to a significant 
positive change for the child and whether the pace of that change is appropriate for the 
child. Any practitioner working with vulnerable children should always have access to 
colleagues to talk through their concerns and judgements affecting the welfare of the 
child. Assessment should remain an ongoing process, with the impact of services 
informing future decisions around action. 

30 Section 17ZD of the Children Act 1989 and section 1 of the Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995  

Draft

32

Page 59

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents


Timeliness 
68. The timeliness of an assessment is a critical element of the quality of that 
assessment and the outcomes for the child. The speed with which an assessment is 
carried out after a child’s case has been referred into local authority children’s social care 
should be determined by the needs of the individual child and the nature and level of any 
risk of harm faced by the child. This will require judgements to be made by the social 
worker on each individual case. Adult assessments, i.e. parent carer or non-parent carer 
assessments, should also be carried out in a timely manner, consistent with the needs of 
the child. 

69. Within one working day of a referral being received, a local authority social 
worker should make a decision about the type of response that is required and 
acknowledge receipt to the referrer. 

70. For children who are in need of immediate protection, action must be taken by the 
social worker, or the police or the NSPCC31 if removal is required, as soon as possible 
after the referral has been made to local authority children’s social care (sections 44 and 
46 of the Children Act 1989). 

71. The maximum timeframe for the assessment to conclude, such that it is possible 
to reach a decision on next steps, should be no longer than 45 working days from the 
point of referral. If, in discussion with a child and their family and other practitioners, an 
assessment exceeds 45 working days the social worker should record the reasons for 
exceeding the time limit. 

72. Whatever the timescale for assessment, where particular needs are identified at 
any stage of the assessment, social workers should not wait until the assessment 
reaches a conclusion before commissioning services to support the child and their family. 
In some cases, the needs of the child will mean that a quick assessment will be required. 

73. The assessment of neglect cases can be difficult. Neglect can fluctuate both in 
level and duration. A child’s welfare can, for example, improve following input from 
services or a change in circumstances and review, but then deteriorate once support is 
removed. Practitioners should be wary of being too optimistic. Timely and decisive action 
is critical to ensure that children are not left in neglectful homes. 

74. It is the responsibility of the social worker to make clear to children and families 
how the assessment will be carried out and when they can expect a decision on next 
steps. Local authorities should determine their local assessment processes through a 
local protocol. 

31 National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children. 

Draft

33

Page 60

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/


Local protocols for assessment  
75. Local authorities, with their partners, should develop and publish local protocols 
for assessment. A local protocol should set out clear arrangements for how cases will be 
managed once a child is referred into local authority children’s social care and be 
consistent with the requirements of this statutory guidance. The detail of each protocol 
will be led by the local authority in discussion and agreement with the safeguarding 
partners and relevant agencies where appropriate. 

76. A local protocol should set out and clarify how statutory social care assessments 
will be informed by, and inform, other specialist assessments (for example, an 
assessment for an Education Health and Care Plan, or an assessment by adult services). 

77. The local authority is publicly accountable for this protocol and all organisations 
and agencies have a responsibility to understand their local protocol. 

The local protocol for assessment should: 

• ensure that assessments are timely, transparent and proportionate to the needs of 
individual children and their families 

• set out how the needs of disabled children, young carers and children involved in 
the youth justice system will be addressed in the assessment process 

• clarify how agencies and practitioners undertaking assessments and providing 
services can make contributions 

• clarify how the statutory assessments will be informed by other specialist 
assessments, such as the assessment for children with special educational needs 
and disabled children (Education, Health and Care Plans)  

• clarify how assessment will address the issue of FGM 

• ensure that any specialist assessments are co-ordinated so that the child and 
family experience a joined up assessment process and a single planning process 
focused on outcomes 

• set out how shared internal review points with other practitioners and the child and 
family will be managed throughout the assessment process 

• set out the process for assessment for children who return home from care to live 
with their families 

• seek to ensure that each child and family understands the type of help offered and 
their own responsibilities, so as to improve the child’s outcomes 

Draft

34

Page 61



• set out the process for challenge by children and families by publishing the 
complaints procedures32 

• require decisions to be recorded in accordance with locally agreed procedures. 
Recording should include information on the child’s development so that progress 
can be monitored to ensure their outcomes are improving. This will reduce the 
need for repeat assessments during care proceedings, which can be a major 
source of delay 

Processes for managing individual cases  
78. The following descriptors and flow charts set out the steps that practitioners 
should take when working together to assess and provide services for children who may 
be in need, including those suffering harm. The flow charts cover: 

• the referral process into local authority children’s social care 

• how assessments will be child-centred and take into account the views and wishes 
of the child 

• the process for determining next steps for a child who has been assessed as being 
‘in need’ 

• the essential processes for children where there is reasonable cause to suspect 
that the child is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm (this includes 
immediate protection for children at serious risk of harm) 

Response to a referral 

Once the referral has been accepted by local authority children’s social care the lead 
practitioner role falls to a social worker. 

The social worker should clarify with the referrer, when known, the nature of the concerns 
and how and why they have arisen. 

Within one working day of a referral being received a local authority social worker 
should make a decision about next steps and the type of response that is required. This 
will include determining whether: 

• the child requires immediate protection and urgent action is required 

32 Including as specified under Section 26(3) of the Children Act 1989 and the Children Act 1989 
Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006.  

Draft

35

Page 62

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made


Response to a referral 

• the child is in need, and should be assessed under section 17 of the Children Act 
1989 

• there is reasonable cause to suspect that the child is suffering, or likely to suffer, 
significant harm, and whether enquires must be made and the child assessed 
under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 

• any services are required by the child and family and what type of services 

• further specialist assessments are required in order to help the local authority to 
decide what further action to take 

Action to be taken:  

The child and family must be informed of the action to be taken.  

Local authority children’s social care should see the child as soon as possible if the 
decision is taken that the referral requires further assessment. 

• Where requested to do so by local authority children’s social care, practitioners 
from other parts of the local authority such as housing and those in health 
organisations have a duty to co-operate under section 27 of the Children Act 1989 
by assisting the local authority in carrying out its children’s social care functions 

 

Draft

36

Page 63



Flow chart 1: Action taken when a child is referred to local authority children’s 
social care services 

 

Draft

37

Page 64



Immediate Protection 

Where there is a risk to the life of a child or a likelihood of serious immediate harm, local 
authority social workers, the police or NSPCC should use their statutory child protection 
powers to act immediately to secure the safety of the child. 

If it is necessary to remove a child from their home, a local authority must, wherever 
possible and unless a child’s safety is otherwise at immediate risk, apply for an 
Emergency Protection Order (EPO). Police powers to remove a child in an emergency 
should be used only in exceptional circumstances where there is insufficient time to seek 
an EPO or for reasons relating to the immediate safety of the child. 

An EPO, made by the court, gives authority to remove a child and places them under the 
protection of the applicant. 

When considering whether emergency action is necessary an agency should always 
consider the needs of other children in the same household or in the household of an 
alleged perpetrator. 

The local authority in whose area a child is found in circumstances that require 
emergency action (the first authority) is responsible for taking emergency action. 

If the child is looked-after by, or the subject of a child protection plan in another authority, 
the first authority must consult the authority responsible for the child. Only when the 
second local authority explicitly accepts responsibility (to be followed up in writing) is the 
first authority relieved of its responsibility to take emergency action. 

Multi-agency working 

Planned emergency action will normally take place following an immediate strategy 
discussion. Social workers, the police or NSPCC should: 

• initiate a strategy discussion to discuss planned emergency action. Where a single 
agency has to act immediately, a strategy discussion should take place as soon as 
possible after action has been taken 

• see the child (this should be done by a practitioner from the agency taking the 
emergency action) to decide how best to protect them and whether to seek an 
EPO 

• wherever possible, obtain legal advice before initiating legal action, in particular 
when an EPO is being sought 

Related information: For further guidance on EPOs see Chapter 4 of the statutory 
guidance document for local authorities, Court orders and pre-proceedings (DfE, April 
2014). 

Draft

38

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2


Flow chart 2: Immediate protection  

  

 

Draft

39

Page 66



Assessment of a child under the Children Act 1989 
Following acceptance of a referral by the local authority children’s social care, a social worker 
should lead a multi-agency assessment under section 17 of the Children Act 1989. Local 
authorities have a duty to ascertain the child’s wishes and feelings and take account of them 
when planning the provision of services. Assessments should be carried out in a timely 
manner reflecting the needs of the individual child, as set out in this chapter. 

Where the local authority children’s social care decides to provide services, a multi-agency 
child in need plan should be developed which sets out which agencies will provide which 
services to the child and family. The plan should set clear measurable outcomes for the child 
and expectations for the parents. The plan should reflect the positive aspects of the family 
situation as well as the weaknesses. 

Where a child in need has moved permanently to another local authority area, the original 
authority should ensure that all relevant information (including the child in need plan) is shared 
with the receiving local authority as soon as possible. The receiving local authority should 
consider whether support services are still required and discuss with the child and family what 
might be needed, based on a timely re-assessment of the child’s needs, as set out in this 
chapter. Support should continue to be provided by the original local authority in the 
intervening period. The receiving authority should work with the original authority to ensure 
that any changes to the services and support provided are managed carefully. 

Where information gathered during an assessment (which may be very brief) results in the 
social worker suspecting that the child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, the local 
authority should hold a strategy discussion to enable it to decide, with other agencies, whether 
to initiate enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989.  

Purpose:  Assessments should determine whether the child is in need, the nature of 
any services required and whether any specialist assessments should be 
undertaken to assist the local authority in its decision-making. 

Draft

40

Page 67



Assessment of a child under the Children Act 1989 
Social workers 
should:  

• lead on an assessment and complete it in line with the locally agreed 
protocol according to the child’s needs and within 45 working days 
from the point of referral into local authority children’s social care 

• see the child within a timescale that is appropriate to the nature of 
the concerns expressed at referral, according to an agreed plan 

• conduct interviews with the child and family members, separately 
and together as appropriate. Initial discussions with the child should 
be conducted in a way that minimises distress to them and 
maximises the likelihood that they will provide accurate and 
complete information, avoiding leading or suggestive questions 

• record the assessment findings and decisions and next steps 
following the assessment 

• inform, in writing, all the relevant agencies and the family of their 
decisions and, if the child is a child in need, of the plan for providing 
support 

• inform the referrer of what action has been or will be taken  

The police 
should:  

• assist other agencies to carry out their responsibilities where there 
are concerns about the child’s welfare, whether or not a crime has 
been committed. If a crime has been committed, the police should 
be informed by the local authority children’s social care  

All involved 
practitioners 
should:  

• be involved in the assessment and provide further information about 
the child and family 

• agree further action including what services would help the child and 
family and inform local authority children’s social care if any 
immediate action is required 

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local practice 
guidance 

  

Draft

41

Page 68



Flow chart 3: Action taken for an assessment of a child under the Children Act 1989 

  

Draft

42

Page 69



Strategy discussion 
Whenever there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, 
significant harm there should be a strategy discussion involving local authority children’s 
social care (including the fostering service, if the child is looked-after), the police, health and 
other bodies such as the referring agency. This might take the form of a multi-agency 
meeting or phone calls and more than one discussion may be necessary. A strategy 
discussion can take place following a referral or at any other time, including during the 
assessment process and when new information is received on an already open case.  

Purpose:  Local authority children’s social care should convene a strategy discussion to 
determine the child’s welfare and plan rapid future action if there is 
reasonable cause to suspect the child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, 
significant harm. 

Strategy 
discussion 
attendees:  

A local authority social worker, health practitioners and a police 
representative should, as a minimum, be involved in the strategy discussion. 
Other relevant practitioners will depend on the nature of the individual case 
but may include: 

• the practitioner or agency which made the referral 

• the child’s school or nursery 

• any health or care services the child or family members are receiving 

All attendees should be sufficiently senior to make decisions on behalf of their 
agencies. 

Draft

43

Page 70



Strategy discussion 

Strategy 
discussion 
tasks:  

The discussion should be used to: 

• share available information 

• agree the conduct and timing of any criminal investigation 

• decide whether enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 
should be undertaken 

Where there are grounds to initiate an enquiry under section 47 of the 
Children Act 1989, decisions should be made as to: 

• what further information is needed if an assessment is already 
underway and how it will be obtained and recorded 

• what immediate and short term action is required to support the child, 
and who will do what by when 

• whether legal action is required 

The timescale for the assessment to reach a decision on next steps should be 
based upon the needs of the individual child, consistent with the local protocol 
and certainly no longer than 45 working days from the point of referral into 
local authority children’s social care. 

The principles and parameters for the assessment of children in need at 
chapter 1 paragraph 40 should be followed for assessments undertaken 
under section 47 of the Children Act 1989. 

Social 
workers 
should:  

Convene the strategy discussion and make sure it:  

• considers the child’s welfare and safety, and identifies the level of 
risk faced by the child 

• decides what information should be shared with the child and 
family (on the basis that information is not shared if this may 
jeopardise a police investigation or place the child at risk of 
significant harm) 

• agrees what further action is required, and who will do what by 
when, where an EPO is in place or the child is the subject of police 
powers of protection 

• records agreed decisions in accordance with local recording 
procedures 

• follows up actions to make sure what was agreed gets done 

Draft

44

Page 71



Strategy discussion 

The police 
should:  

• discuss the basis for any criminal investigation and any relevant 
processes that other agencies might need to know about, including the 
timing and methods of evidence gathering 

• lead the criminal investigation (local authority children’s social care 
have the lead for the section 47 enquires and assessment of the child’s 
welfare) where joint enquiries take place  

Draft

45

Page 72



Flow chart 4: Action following a strategy discussion 

  
 

Draft

46

Page 73



 

Initiating section 47 enquiries 
A section 47 enquiry is carried out by undertaking or continuing with an assessment in 
accordance with the guidance set out in this chapter and following the principles and 
parameters of a good assessment. 

Local authority social workers have a statutory duty to lead assessments under section 47 
of the Children Act 1989. The police, health practitioners, teachers and other relevant 
practitioners should help the local authority in undertaking its enquiries. 

Purpose:  A section 47 enquiry is initiated to decide whether and what type of 
action is required to safeguard and promote the welfare of a child who is 
suspected of, or likely to be, suffering significant harm. 

Social workers 
should:  

• lead the assessment in accordance with this guidance 

• carry out enquiries in a way that minimises distress for the child 
and family 

• see the child who is the subject of concern to ascertain their 
wishes and feelings; assess their understanding of their situation; 
assess their relationships and circumstances more broadly 

• interview parents/carers and determine the wider social and 
environmental factors that might impact on them and their child 

• systematically gather information about the child’s and family’s 
history 

• analyse the findings of the assessment and evidence about what 
interventions are likely to be most effective with other relevant 
practitioners to determine the child’s needs and the level of risk of 
harm faced by the child to inform what help should be provided 
and act to provide that help 

• follow the guidance set out in ‘Achieving Best Evidence in 
Criminal Proceedings: Guidance on interviewing victims and 
witnesses, and guidance on using special measures’, where a 
decision has been made to undertake a joint interview of the child 
as part of any criminal investigation 33  

33 Ministry of Justice Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings: Guidance on interviewing victims 
and witnesses, and guidance on using special measures (2011).  

Draft

47

Page 74

https://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/prosecution/victims.html
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/prosecution/victims.html
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/victims-and-witnesses/vulnerable-witnesses/achieving-best-evidence-criminal-proceedings.pdf
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/victims-and-witnesses/vulnerable-witnesses/achieving-best-evidence-criminal-proceedings.pdf


Initiating section 47 enquiries 

The police 
should:  

• help other agencies understand the reasons for concerns about 
the child’s safety and welfare 

• decide whether or not police investigations reveal grounds for 
instigating criminal proceedings 

• make available to other practitioners any evidence gathered to 
inform discussions about the child’s welfare 

• follow the guidance set out in ‘Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal 
Proceedings: Guidance’ on interviewing victims and witnesses, 
and guidance on using special measures, where a decision has 
been made to undertake a joint interview of the child as part of the 
criminal investigations 

Health 
practitioners 
should:  

• provide any of a range of specialist assessments. For example, 
physiotherapists, occupational therapists, speech and language 
therapists and child psychologists may be involved in specific 
assessments relating to the child’s developmental progress. The 
lead health practitioner (probably a consultant paediatrician, or 
possibly the child’s GP) may need to request and co-ordinate 
these assessments 

• ensure appropriate treatment and follow up health concerns e.g. 
administration of missing vaccines 

All involved 
practitioners 
should:  

• contribute to the assessment as required, providing information 
about the child and family  

• consider whether a joint enquiry/investigation team may need to 
speak to a child victim without the knowledge of the parent/carers 

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local 
practice guidance 

 

Draft

48

Page 75



Outcome of section 47 enquiries 
Local authority social workers are responsible for deciding what action to take and how to 
proceed following section 47 enquiries. 

If local authority children’s social care decides not to proceed with a child protection 
conference then other practitioners involved with the child and family have the right to request 
that local authority children’s social care convene a conference, if they have serious concerns 
that a child’s welfare may not be adequately safeguarded. As a last resort, the safeguarding 
partners should have in place a quick and straightforward means of resolving differences of 
opinion.  

Where concerns of significant harm are not substantiated:  

Social workers 
should:  

• discuss the case with the child, parents and other practitioners 

• determine whether support from any services may be helpful and 
help secure it 

• consider whether the child’s health and development should be re-
assessed regularly against specific objectives and decide who has 
responsibility for doing this  

All involved 
practitioners 
should:  

• participate in further discussions as necessary 

• contribute to the development of any plan as appropriate 

• provide services as specified in the plan for the child 

• review the impact of services delivered as agreed in the plan 

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local 
practice guidance 

 

  

Draft

49

Page 76



Where concerns of significant harm are substantiated and the child is judged to be 
suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm:  

Social workers 
should:  

• convene an initial child protection conference (see next section for 
details). The timing of this conference should depend on the 
urgency of the case and respond to the needs of the child and the 
nature and severity of the harm they may be facing. The initial child 
protection conference should take place within 15 working days of 
a strategy discussion, or the strategy discussion at which section 
47 enquiries were initiated if more than one has been held 

• consider whether any practitioners with specialist knowledge 
should be invited to participate 

• ensure that the child and their parents understand the purpose of 
the conference and who will attend  

• help prepare the child if he or she is attending or making 
representations through a third party to the conference. Give 
information about advocacy agencies and explain that the family 
may bring an advocate, friend or supporter 

All involved 
practitioners 
should:  

• contribute to the information their agency provides ahead of the 
conference, setting out the nature of the agency’s involvement with 
the child and family 

• consider, in conjunction with the police and the appointed 
conference Chair, whether the report can and should be shared 
with the parents and if so when 

• attend the conference and take part in decision making when 
invited 

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local 
practice guidance 

  

 

Draft

50

Page 77



Initial child protection conferences 
Following section 47 enquiries, an initial child protection conference brings together family 
members (and the child where appropriate), with the supporters, advocates and practitioners 
most involved with the child and family, to make decisions about the child’s future safety, 
health and development. If concerns relate to an unborn child, consideration should be given 
as to whether to hold a child protection conference prior to the child’s birth.  

Purpose:  To bring together and analyse, in an inter-agency setting, all relevant 
information and plan how best to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
the child. It is the responsibility of the conference to make 
recommendations on how agencies work together to safeguard the child 
in future. Conference tasks include: 

• appointing a lead statutory body (either local authority children’s 
social care or NSPCC) and a lead social worker, who should be a 
qualified, experienced social worker and an employee of the lead 
statutory body 

• identifying membership of the core group of practitioners and family 
members who will develop and implement the child protection plan 

• establishing timescales for meetings of the core group, production of 
a child protection plan and for child protection review meetings 

• agreeing an outline child protection plan, with clear actions and 
timescales, including a clear sense of how much improvement is 
needed, by when, so that success can be judged clearly 

The 
Conference 
Chair:  

• is accountable to the Director of Children’s Services. Where possible 
the same person should chair subsequent child protection reviews 

• should be a practitioner, independent of operational and/or line 
management responsibilities for the case 

• should meet the child and parents in advance to ensure they 
understand the purpose and the process  

Draft

51

Page 78



Initial child protection conferences 

Social workers 
should: 

• convene, attend and present information about the reason for the 
conference, their understanding of the child’s needs, parental capacity 
and family and environmental context and evidence of how the child 
has been abused or neglected and its impact on their health and 
development 

• analyse the information to enable informed decisions about what 
action is necessary to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child 
who is the subject of the conference 

• share the conference information with the child and family beforehand 
(where appropriate) 

• prepare a report for the conference on the child and family which sets 
out and analyses what is known about the child and family and the 
local authority’s recommendation 

• record conference decisions and recommendations and ensure action 
follows 

All involved 
practitioners 
should: 

• work together to safeguard the child from harm in the future, taking 
timely, effective action according to the plan agreed 

Safeguarding 
partners 
should: 

• monitor the effectiveness of these arrangements 

  

  

Draft

52

Page 79



The child protection plan 
Actions and responsibilities following the initial child protection conference 

Purpose:  The aim of the child protection plan is to:  

• ensure the child is safe from harm and prevent them from suffering 
further harm 

• promote the child’s health and development 

• support the family and wider family members to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of their child, provided it is in the best interests of the child 

Local 
authority 
children’s 
social care 
should:  

• designate a social worker to be the lead practitioner as they carry 
statutory responsibility for the child’s welfare 

• consider the evidence and decide what legal action to take if any, where 
a child has suffered, or is likely to suffer, significant harm 

• define the local protocol for timeliness of circulating plans after the child 
protection conference 

Draft

53

Page 80



The child protection plan 

Social 
workers 
should:  

• be the lead practitioner for inter-agency work with the child and family, 
co-ordinating the contribution of family members and practitioners into 
putting the child protection plan into effect 

• develop the outline child protection plan into a more detailed interagency 
plan and circulate to relevant practitioners (and family where 
appropriate) 

• ensure the child protection plan is aligned and integrated with any 
associated offender risk management plan 

• undertake direct work with the child and family in accordance with the 
child protection plan, taking into account the child’s wishes and feelings 
and the views of the parents in so far as they are consistent with the 
child’s welfare 

• complete the child’s and family’s in-depth assessment, securing 
contributions from core group members and others as necessary 

• explain the plan to the child in a manner which is in accordance with their 
age and understanding and agree the plan with the child 

• consider the need to inform the relevant Embassy if the child has links to 
a foreign country 

• co-ordinate reviews of progress against the planned outcomes set out in 
the plan, updating as required. The first review should be held within 
three months of the initial conference and further reviews at intervals of 
no more than six months for as long as the child remains subject of a 
child protection plan 

• record decisions and actions agreed at core group meetings as well as 
the written views of those who were not able to attend, and follow up 
those actions to ensure they take place. The child protection plan should 
be updated as necessary 

• lead core group activity 

Draft

54

Page 81



The child protection plan 

The core 
group 
should:  

• meet within 10 working days from the initial child protection conference if 
the child is the subject of a child protection plan 

• further develop the outline child protection plan, based on assessment 
findings, and set out what needs to change, by how much, and by when 
in order for the child to be safe and have their needs met 

• decide what steps need to be taken, and by whom, to complete the in-
depth assessment to inform decisions about the child’s safety and 
welfare 

• implement the child protection plan and take joint responsibility for 
carrying out the agreed tasks, monitoring progress and outcomes, and 
refining the plan as needed 

 

  

Draft

55

Page 82



Child protection review conference  
The review conference procedures for preparation, decision-making and other 
procedures should be the same as those for an initial child protection conference.  

Purpose:  To review whether the child is continuing to suffer, or is likely to suffer, 
significant harm, and review developmental progress against child 
protection plan outcomes. 

To consider whether the child protection plan should continue or should be 
changed. 

Social workers 
should:  

• attend and lead the organisation of the conference 

• determine when the review conference should be held within three 
months of the initial conference, and thereafter at maximum 
intervals of six months 

• provide information to enable informed decisions about what action 
is necessary to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child who 
is the subject of the child protection plan, and about the 
effectiveness and impact of action taken so far 

• share the conference information with the child and family 
beforehand, where appropriate 

• record conference outcomes 

• decide whether to initiate family court proceedings (all the children 
in the household should be considered, even if concerns are only 
expressed about one child) if the child is considered to be suffering 
significant harm 

All involved 
practitioners 
should:  

• attend, when invited, and provide details of their involvement with 
the child and family 

• produce reports for the child protection review. This information will 
provide an overview of work undertaken by family members and 
practitioners, and evaluate the impact on the child’s welfare against 
the planned outcomes set out in the child protection plan. 

  

Draft

56

Page 83



Flow chart 5: What happens after the child protection conference, including the 
review?  

 

Draft

57

Page 84



Discontinuing the Child Protection Plan  

A child should no longer be the subject of a child protection plan if:  

• it is judged that the child is no longer continuing to, or is likely to, suffer significant 
harm and therefore no longer requires safeguarding by means of a child 
protection plan 

• the child and family have moved permanently to another local authority area. In 
such cases, the receiving local authority should convene a child protection 
conference within 15 working days of being notified of the move. Only after this 
event may the original local authority discontinue its child protection plan 

• the child has reached 18 years of age (to end the child protection plan, the local 
authority should have a review around the child’s birthday and this should be 
planned in advance), has died or has permanently left the United Kingdom 

Social workers 
should:  

• notify, as a minimum, all agency representatives who were 
invited to attend the initial child protection conference that 
led to the plan 

• consider whether support services are still required and 
discuss with the child and family what might be needed, 
based on a re-assessment of the child’s needs 

  

  

Draft

58

Page 85



Children returning home  

There are three sets of circumstances where a child may return to live with their family 
– where the child: is voluntary accommodated and returns home in an unplanned or 
planned way; returns home as a result of a care order being discharged; is placed with 
parents but remains under a care order and subject to the usual reviews and social 
worker visits.  

Children only cease to be looked-after in the first two circumstances.  This section 
covers circumstances where a child is no longer looked-after , but a decision has been 
taken that local authority children’s social care will continue to provide support and 
services to the family following reunification. 

Where the decision to return a child to the care of their family is planned, the local 
authority will have undertaken an assessment while the child is looked-after – as part 
of the care planning process (under regulation 39 of the Care Planning Regulations 
2010). This assessment will consider the suitability of the accommodation and 
maintenance arrangements for the child and consider what services and support the 
child (and their family) might need. The outcome of this assessment will be included in 
the child’s care plan. The decision to cease to look after a child will, in most cases, 
require approval under regulation 39 of the Care Planning Regulations 2010. 

Where a child who is accommodated under section 20 returns home in an unplanned 
way, for example, the decision is not made as part of the care planning process but the 
parent removes the child or the child decides to leave, the local authority must consider 
whether there are any immediate concerns about the safety and well-being of the child. 
If there are concerns about a child’s immediate safety the local authority should take 
appropriate action, which could include enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 
1989. 

Whether a child’s return to their family is planned or unplanned, there should be a clear 
plan that reflects current and previous assessments, focuses on outcomes and 
includes details of services and support required. These plans should follow the 
process for review as with any child in need and/or child protection plan. Action to be 
taken following reunification: 

• Practitioners should make the timeline and decision making process for providing 
ongoing services and support clear to the child and family 

• When reviewing outcomes, children should, wherever possible, be seen alone. 
Practitioners have a duty to ascertain their wishes and feelings regarding the 
provision of services being delivered 

• The impact of services and support should be monitored and recorded, and the 
help being delivered should be reviewed 

  

Draft

59

Page 86



Flow chart 6: Children returning home from care to their families  

  

Draft

60

Page 87



Chapter 2: Organisational responsibilities  
1. The previous chapter set out the need for organisations, working together, to take 
a co-ordinated approach to ensure effective safeguarding arrangements. This is 
supported by the duty on local authorities under section 10 of the Children Act 2004 to 
make arrangements to promote co-operation to improve the well-being of all children in 
the authority’s area. 

2. In addition, a range of individual organisations and practitioners working with 
children and families has specific statutory duties to promote the welfare of children and 
ensure they are protected from harm. 

Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 
Places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to ensure their functions, and 
any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having regard to the need 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

Various other statutory duties apply to other specific organisations working with children 
and families are set out in this chapter. 

 

3. Section 11 places a duty on:  

• local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of 
services, including children’s and adult social care services, public health, housing, 
sport, culture and leisure services, licensing authorities and youth services 

• NHS organisations, including the NHS England and clinical commissioning groups, 
NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts 

• the police, including police and crime commissioners and the chief officer of each 
police force in England and the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime in London 

• the British Transport Police 

• the National Probation Service and Community Rehabilitation Companies34  

• Governors/Directors of Prisons and Young Offender Institutions (YOIs) 

• Directors of Secure Training Centres (STCs) 

34 The section 11 duty is conferred on the Community Rehabilitation Companies by virtue of contractual 
arrangements entered into with the Secretary of State. 

Draft

61

Page 88



• Principals of Secure Colleges 

• Youth Offending Teams/Services (YOTs) 

4. These organisations should have in place arrangements that reflect the 
importance of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, including:  

• a clear line of accountability for the commissioning and/or provision of services 
designed to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

• a senior board level lead to take leadership responsibility for the organisation’s 
safeguarding arrangements 

• a culture of listening to children and taking account of their wishes and feelings, 
both in individual decisions and the development of services 

• clear whistleblowing procedures, which reflect the principles in Sir Robert Francis’ 
Freedom to Speak Up Review and are suitably referenced in staff training and 
codes of conduct, and a culture that enables issues about safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children to be addressed35  

• arrangements which set out clearly the processes for sharing information, with 
other practitioners and with safeguarding partners 

• a designated practitioner lead (or, for health provider organisations, named 
practitioners) for safeguarding. Their role is to support other practitioners in their 
agencies to recognise the needs of children, including protection from possible 
abuse or neglect. Designated practitioner roles should always be explicitly defined 
in job descriptions. Practitioners should be given sufficient time, funding, 
supervision and support to fulfil their child welfare and safeguarding responsibilities 
effectively 

• safe recruitment practices and ongoing safe working practices for individuals whom 
the organisation permit to work regularly with children, including policies on when to 
obtain a criminal record check 

• appropriate supervision and support for staff, including undertaking safeguarding 
training 

In addition: 

35 Sir Robert Francis' Freedom to speak up review.  

Draft

62

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sir-robert-francis-freedom-to-speak-up-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sir-robert-francis-freedom-to-speak-up-review


• employers are responsible for ensuring that their staff are competent to carry out 
their responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and 
creating an environment where staff feel able to raise concerns and feel supported 
in their safeguarding role 

• staff should be given a mandatory induction, which includes familiarisation with 
child protection responsibilities and the procedures to be followed if anyone has 
any concerns about a child’s safety or welfare 

• all practitioners should have regular reviews of their own practice to ensure they 
improve over time 

• clear policies in line with those from the safeguarding partners for dealing with 
allegations against people who work with children. Such policies should make a 
clear distinction between an allegation, a concern about the quality of care or 
practice or a complaint. An allegation may relate to a person who works with 
children who has: 

• behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child 

• possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child 

• behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may pose a 
risk of harm to children 

5. County level and unitary local authorities should ensure that allegations against 
people who work with children are not dealt with in isolation. Any action necessary to 
address corresponding welfare concerns in relation to the child or children involved 
should be taken without delay and in a co-ordinated manner. Local authorities should, in 
addition, have designated a particular officer, or team of officers (either as part of local 
multiagency arrangements or otherwise), to be involved in the management and 
oversight of allegations against people that work with children. Any such officer, or team 
of officers, should be sufficiently qualified and experienced to be able to fulfil this role 
effectively, for example qualified social workers. Any new appointments to such a role, 
other than current or former designated officers moving between local authorities, should 
be qualified social workers. Arrangements should be put in place to ensure that any 
allegations about those who work with children are passed to the designated officer, or 
team of officers, without delay. 

6. Local authorities should put in place arrangements to provide advice and guidance 
to employers and voluntary organisations on how to deal with allegations against people 
who work with children. Local authorities should also ensure that there are appropriate 
arrangements in place to liaise effectively with the police and other agencies to monitor 

Draft

63

Page 90



the progress of cases and ensure that they are dealt with as quickly as possible, 
consistent with a thorough and fair process. 

7. Employers, school governors, trustees and voluntary organisations should ensure 
that they have clear policies in place setting out the process, including timescales, for 
investigation and what support and advice will be available to individuals against whom 
allegations have been made. Any allegation against people who work with children 
should be reported immediately to a senior manager within the organisation. The 
designated officer, or team of officers, should also be informed within one working day of 
all allegations that come to an employer’s attention or that are made directly to the police. 

8. If an organisation removes an individual (paid worker or unpaid volunteer) from 
work in regulated activity36 with children (or would have, had the person not left first) 
because the person poses a risk of harm to children, the organisation must make a 
referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service to consider whether to add the individual to 
the barred list.  

9. This applies irrespective of whether a referral has been made to local authority 
children’s social care services and / or the designated officer or team of officers. It is an 
offence to fail to make a referral without good reason37.  

Individual organisational responsibilities  
10. In addition to these section 11 duties, which apply to a number of named 
organisations, further safeguarding duties are also placed on individual organisations 
through other statutes. The key duties that fall on each individual organisation are set out 
below.  

Schools and colleges  
11. The following have duties in relation to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children:  

• Governing bodies of maintained schools (including maintained nursery schools), 
further education colleges and sixth-form colleges38  

36https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550197/Regulated_activity_i
n_relation_to_children.pdf 
37 Further guidance on referrals to the DBS is available at Appendix C 
38 As established under the Further Education and Higher Education Act 1992 

Draft

64

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550197/Regulated_activity_in_relation_to_children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550197/Regulated_activity_in_relation_to_children.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/13/contents


• proprietors of academy schools, free schools, alternative provision academies and 
non-maintained special schools.39,40 . In the case of academies and free school 
trusts, the proprietor will be the trust itself 

• proprietors of independent schools 

• management committees of pupil referral units41 

12. This guidance applies in its entirety to all schools.  

13. Schools and colleges must also have regard to statutory guidance Keeping 
Children Safe in Education (2016), which provides further guidance as to how they 
should fulfil their duties in respect of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 
in their care.42  

Early Years and Childcare  
14. Early years providers have a duty under section 40 of the Childcare Act 2006 to 
comply with the welfare requirements of the early years foundation stage (EYFS).43 Early 
years providers must ensure that:  

• they are alert to any issues of concern in the child’s life 

• they have and implement a policy and procedures to safeguard children. This must 
include an explanation of the action to be taken when there are safeguarding 
concerns about a child and in the event of an allegation being made against a 
member of staff. The policy must also cover the use of mobile phones and cameras 
in the setting, that staff complete safeguarding training that enables them to 
understand their safeguarding policy and procedures, have up to date knowledge 
of safeguarding issues, and recognise signs of potential abuse and neglect 

• they have a practitioner who is designated to take lead responsibility for 
safeguarding children within each early years setting and who must liaise with local 
statutory children’s services agencies as appropriate. This lead must also complete 
child protection training. 

39 Under the Education (Independent School Standards) (England) Regulations 2014 
40 Under the Education (Non-Maintained Special Schools) (England) Regulations 2011 
41 Section 175, Education Act 2002 for management committees of pupil referral units, this is by virtue of 
regulation 3 and paragraph 19A of Schedule 1 to the Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Application of 
Enactments) (England) Regulations 2007. 
42 Keeping Children Safe in Education (2015). 
43 Section 3 – safeguarding and welfare requirements in the Statutory Framework for the Early Years 
Foundation Stage. 

Draft

65

Page 92

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/1627/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2979/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2979/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-the-quality-and-range-of-education-and-childcare-from-birth-to-5-years/supporting-pages/early-years-foundation-stage


Clinical commissioning groups 
15. Clinical commissioning groups are one of the three statutory safeguarding 
partners as set out in chapter 3. NHS organisations are subject to the section 11 duties 
set out in paragraph 4 of this chapter. Health practitioners are in a strong position to 
identify welfare needs or safeguarding concerns regarding individual children and, where 
appropriate, provide support. This includes understanding risk factors, communicating 
effectively with children and families, liaising with other agencies, assessing needs and 
capacity, responding to those needs and contributing to multi-agency assessments and 
reviews. 

16. A wide range of health practitioners have a critical role to play in safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children including: GPs, primary care practitioners, 
paediatricians, nurses, health visitors, midwives, school nurses, those working in 
maternity, child and adolescent mental health, youth custody establishments, adult 
mental health, sexual alcohol and drug services for both adults and children, 
unscheduled and emergency care settings, highly specialised services and secondary 
and tertiary care. 

17. All staff working in healthcare settings – including those who predominantly treat 
adults – should receive training to ensure they attain the competences appropriate to 
their role and follow the relevant professional guidance.44,45,46  

18. Within the NHS:47  

• NHS England is responsible for ensuring that the health commissioning system as 
a whole is working effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. It is 
also accountable for the services it directly commissions, including primary care, 
and health care services in the under-18 secure estate (for police custody settings 
see below in the policing section). NHS England also leads and defines 
improvement in safeguarding practice and outcomes and should also ensure that 
there are effective mechanisms for safeguarding partners and health and wellbeing 
boards to raise concerns about the engagement and leadership of the local NHS 

• clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) are one of the statutory safeguarding 
partners and the major commissioners of local health services. They are 
responsible for the quality assurance of safeguarding through their contractual 

44 Safeguarding Children and Young People: roles and competences for health care staff, RCPCH (2014).  
45 Looked-after children: Knowledge, skills and competences of health care staff, RCN and RCPCH, (2015). 
46 For example, Protecting children and young people: the responsibilities of all doctors, GMC (2012) and 
Safeguarding Children and Young People: The RCGP/NSPCC Safeguarding Children Toolkit for General 
Practice, RCGP (2014).  
47 Further guidance on accountabilities for safeguarding children in the NHS is available in Safeguarding 
Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS: Accountability and Assurance Framework (2015). 

Draft

66

Page 93

http://rcpch.lpl-uk.com/pubdetail.php?StockID=X030
http://rcpch.lpl-uk.com/pubdetail.php?StockID=X030
http://rcpch.lpl-uk.com/pubdetail.php?StockID=X030
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/LAC
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/LAC
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/LAC
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_guidance/13257.asp
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_guidance/13257.asp
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf
http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-accountability-assurance-framework.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-accountability-assurance-framework.pdf


arrangements with all provider organisations. CCGs should employ, or have in 
place, a contractual agreement to secure the expertise of designated practitioners, 
i.e. designated doctors and nurses for safeguarding children and for looked-after 
children (and designated paediatricians for unexpected deaths in childhood). In 
some areas there will be more than one CCG per local authority, and CCGs may 
consider ‘lead’ or ‘hosting’ arrangements for their designated practitioner team, or a 
clinical network arrangement. Designated practitioners, as clinical experts and 
strategic leaders, are a vital source of advice to all relevant and other safeguarding 
agencies but particularly the CCG, NHS England, and the local authority, and of 
advice and support to other health practitioners 

• all providers of NHS funded health services including NHS Trusts, NHS 
Foundation Trusts and public, voluntary sector, independent sector and social 
enterprises should identify a named doctor and a named nurse (and a named 
midwife if the organisation provides maternity services) for safeguarding. In the 
case of ambulance trusts and independent providers, this should be a named 
practitioner. GP practices should have a lead and deputy lead for safeguarding, 
who should work closely with named GPs. Named practitioners have a key role in 
promoting good professional practice within their organisation, providing advice and 
expertise for fellow practitioners, and ensuring safeguarding training is in place. 
They should work closely with their organisation’s safeguarding lead, designated 
practitioners and other statutory safeguarding partners.48 

Public Health England 
19. Public Health England (PHE) is an executive agency of the Department of Health 
which has operational autonomy to advise and support government, local authorities and 
the NHS in a professionally independent manner. PHE’s mission is “to protect and 
improve the nation’s health and to address inequalities”, and was established in 2013 
following the Health and Social Care Act 2012. PHE’s Chief Nurse provides advice and 
expertise in her capacity as the government’s professional advisor (Public Health 
Nursing), which in the context of children’s health includes health visitors and school 
nurses. 

48 Model job descriptions for designated and named professional roles can be found in the intercollegiate 
document Safeguarding Children and Young People: roles and competences for health care staff and 
Safeguarding Children and Young People: The RCGP/NSPCC Safeguarding Children Toolkit for General 
Practice, RCGP (2014) 

Draft

67

Page 94

http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/page/Safeguarding%20Children%20-%20Roles%20and%20Competences%20for%20Healthcare%20Staff%20%2002%200%20%20%20%20(3)_0.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/page/Safeguarding%20Children%20-%20Roles%20and%20Competences%20for%20Healthcare%20Staff%20%2002%200%20%20%20%20(3)_0.pdf
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx


Police  
20. The police are one of the three statutory safeguarding partners as set out in 
chapter 3 and are subject to the section 11 duties set out in paragraph 4 of this chapter. 
Under section 1(8)(h) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) must hold the Chief Constable to account for the 
exercise of the latter’s duties in relation to safeguarding children under sections 10 and 
11 of the Children Act 2004.  

21. All police officers, and other police employees such as Police Community Support 
Officers, are well placed to identify early when a child’s welfare is at risk and when a child 
may need protection from harm. Children have the right to the full protection offered by 
the criminal law. In addition to identifying when a child may be a victim of a crime, police 
officers should be aware of the effect of other incidents which might pose safeguarding 
risks to children and where officers should pay particular attention. For example, an 
officer attending a domestic abuse incident should be aware of the effect of such 
behaviour on any children in the household. Children who are encountered as offenders, 
or alleged offenders, are entitled to the same safeguards and protection as any other 
child and due regard should be given to their welfare at all times. 

22. The police can hold important information about children who may be suffering, or 
likely to suffer, significant harm, as well as those who cause such harm. They should 
always share this information with other organisations where this is necessary to protect 
children. Similarly, they can expect other organisations to share information to enable the 
police to carry out their duties. Offences committed against children can be particularly 
sensitive and usually require the police to work with other organisations such as local 
authority children’s social care. All police forces should have officers trained in child 
abuse investigation. 

23. The police have a power to remove a child to suitable accommodation under 
section 46 of the Children Act 1989, if the police have reasonable cause to believe that 
the child would otherwise be likely to suffer significant harm. Statutory powers49 to enter 
premises can be used with this section 46 power, and in circumstances to ensure the 
child’s immediate protection. Police powers can help in emergency situations, but should 

49 Potential powers of entry include those under: 
• Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) section 17(1)(b), a constable may enter and search any 

premises for the purpose of arresting a person for an indictable offence 
• PACE section 17(1)(e),a constable may also enter and search premises for the purpose of saving life or 

limb or preventing serious damage to property – in the exercise of police protection powers if entry to 
premises is refused, this section may give adequate powers; 

• common law, where a constable has the power to enter premises to prevent or deal with a breach of the 
peace (which is preserved under PACE section 17(6)); 

• Children Act 1989 section 48, a warrant may be obtained to search for children who may be in need of 
emergency protection. 

Draft

68

Page 95

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/concern-for-a-child/#police-protection
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/48


be used only when necessary and, wherever possible, the decision to remove a child 
from a parent or carer should be made by a court.  

24. Restrictions and safeguards exist in relation to the circumstances and periods for 
which children may be taken to or held in police stations. PCCs are responsible for health 
commissioning in police custody settings. 

Adult social care services  
25. Local authorities provide services to adults who are themselves responsible for 
children who may be in need. These services are subject to the section 11 duties set out 
in paragraph 4 of this chapter. When staff are providing services to adults they should 
ask whether there are children in the family and consider whether the children need help 
or protection from harm. Children may be at greater risk of harm or be in need of 
additional help in families where the adults have mental health problems, misuse drugs 
or alcohol, are in a violent relationship, have complex needs or have learning difficulties. 

26. Adults with parental responsibilities for disabled children have a right to a separate 
parent carer’s needs assessment under section 17ZD of the Children Act 1989. Adults 
that do not have parental responsibility, but are caring for a disabled child, are entitled to 
an assessment on their ability to provide, or to continue to provide, care for that disabled 
child under the Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995. That assessment must also 
consider whether the carer works or wishes to work, or whether they wish to engage in 
any education, training or recreation activities. 

27. Adult social care services should liaise with children’s social care services to 
ensure that there is a joined-up approach when carrying out such assessments. 

Housing services  
28. Housing and homelessness services in local authorities and others at the front line 
such as environmental health organisations are subject to the section 11 duties set out in 
paragraph 4 of this chapter. Practitioners working in these services may become aware 
of conditions that could/are have/ing an adverse impact on children. Under Part 1 of the 
Housing Act 2004, authorities must take account of the impact of health and safety 
hazards in housing on vulnerable occupants, including children, when deciding on the 
action to be taken by landlords to improve conditions. Housing authorities also have an 
important role to play in safeguarding vulnerable young people, including young people 
who are pregnant, leaving care or a secure establishment. 

Draft

69

Page 96



British Transport Police  
29. The British Transport Police (BTP) is subject to the section 11 duties set out in 
paragraph 4 of this chapter. In its role as the national police for the railways, the BTP can 
play an important role in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, especially in 
identifying and supporting children who have run away or who are truanting from school. 

30. The BTP should carry out its duties in accordance with its legislative powers. This 
includes removing a child to a suitable place using their police protection powers under 
the Children Act 1989, and the protection of children who are truanting from school using 
powers under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. This involves, for example, the 
appointment of a designated independent officer in the instance of a child taken into 
police protection. 

Prison Service  
31. The Prison Service is subject to the section 11 duties set out in paragraph 4 of this 
chapter. It also has a responsibility to identify prisoners who are potential or confirmed 
‘persons posing a risk to children’ (PPRC) and through assessment establish whether the 
PPRC presents a continuing risk to children whilst in prison custody.50,51 Where an 
individual has been identified as a PPRC, the relevant prison establishment:  

• should inform the local authority children’s social care services of the offender’s 
reception to prison, subsequent transfers release on temporary licence and of 
release date and of the release address of the offender 

• should notify the relevant probation service provider of PPRC status. The police 
should also be notified of the release date and address52,53 

• may prevent or restrict a prisoner’s contact with children. Decisions on the level of 
contact, if any, should be based on a multi-agency risk assessment. The 
assessment should draw on relevant risk information held by police, the probation 
service provider and the prison service. The relevant local authority children’s 
social care contribute to the multi-agency risk assessment by providing a report on 

50 This applies not just to adult prisons but also to all types of establishments within the secure estate for 
children, with the same process applying to children who pose a risk to other children. 
51 HMP Public Protection Manual 
52 Once the PPRC has been released, the prison no longer has responsibility for them and it falls to the 
NPS/CRC to assess and manage the risk in the community. 
53 The management of an individual who presents a risk of harm to children will often be through a 
multidisciplinary Interdepartmental Risk Management Team (IRMT). 

Draft

70

Page 97

http://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/public-protection-manual


the child’s best interests. The best interests of the child will be paramount in the 
decision-making process54 

32. A prison is also able to monitor an individual’s communication (including letters 
and telephone calls) to protect children where it is proportionate and necessary to the risk 
presented. 

33. Governors/Directors of women’s prisons which have Mother and Baby Units 
(MBUs) should ensure that: 

• there is at all times a member of staff allocated to the MBU, who as a minimum, is 
trained in first aid, whilst within the prison there is always a member of staff on duty 
who is trained in paediatric first aid (including child/adult resuscitation) who can be 
called to the MBU if required 

• there is a contingency plan/policy in place for child protection, first aid including 
paediatric first aid and resuscitation, which should include advice for managing 
such events, and which provides mothers with detailed guidance as to what to do in 
an emergency 

• each baby has a child care plan setting out how the best interests of the child will 
be maintained and promoted during the child’s residence in the unit 

This also applies to MBUs which form part of the secure estate for children. 

Probation Service  
34. Probation services are provided by the National Probation Service (NPS) and 21 
Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs). The NPS and CRCs are subject to the 
section 11 duties set out in paragraph 4 of this chapter.55 They are primarily responsible 
for working with adult offenders both in the community and in the transition from custody 
to community to reduce reoffending and improve rehabilitation. During the course of their 
duties, probation staff come into contact with offenders who: 

• have offended against a child 

• pose a risk of harm to children even though they have not been convicted of an 
offence against a child 

• are parents and/or carers of children 

54 Ministry of Justice Chapter 2, Section 2 of HM Prison Service Public Protection Manual.  
55 The section 11 duty is conferred on the Community Rehabilitation Companies by virtue of contractual 
arrangements entered into with the Secretary of State. 

Draft

71

Page 98

http://www.justice.gov.uk/guidance/prison-probation-and-rehabilitation/public-protection-manual.htm
http://www.justice.gov.uk/guidance/prison-probation-and-rehabilitation/public-protection-manual.htm


• have regular contact with a child for whom they do not have caring responsibility 

They are, therefore, well placed to identify offenders who pose a risk of harm to children 
as well as children who may be at heightened risk of involvement in, or exposure to, 
criminal or anti-social behaviour, and of other poor outcomes due to the behaviour and/or 
home circumstances of their parent/carer(s). 

35. They should ask an offender at the earliest opportunity whether they live with, 
have caring responsibilities for, are in regular contact with, or are seeking contact with 
children. Where this applies, a check should be made with the local authority children’s 
services at the earliest opportunity on whether the child / children is/are known to them 
and, if they are, what the nature of their involvement is. 

36. Where an adult offender is assessed as presenting a risk of serious harm to 
children, the offender manager should develop a risk management plan and supervision 
plan that contains a specific objective to manage and reduce the risk of harm to children. 
The risk management plan should be shared with other relevant agencies involved in the 
risk management. 

37. In preparing a sentence plan, offender managers should consider how planned 
interventions might bear on parental responsibilities and whether the planned 
interventions could contribute to improved outcomes for children known to be in an 
existing relationship with the offender. 

The secure estate for children  
38. Governors, managers, directors and principals of the following secure 
establishments are subject to the section 11 duties set out in paragraph 4 of this chapter: 

• a secure training centre 

• a young offender institution 

• secure children’s homes (SCH), namely children’s homes approved by the 
Secretary of State for the accommodation of children and young people who 
require the protection of a secure setting 

• a secure college/school 

39. Each centre holding those aged under 18 should have in place an annually 
reviewed safeguarding children policy. The policy is designed to promote and safeguard 
the welfare of children and should cover all relevant operational areas as well as key 
supporting processes, which would include issues such as child protection, risk of harm, 

Draft

72

Page 99



restraint, separation, staff recruitment and information sharing. A manager should be 
appointed and will be responsible for implementation of this policy.56  

40. Each centre should work with their local safeguarding partners to agree how they 
will work together, and with the relevant YOT and placing authority (the Youth Custody 
Service), to make sure that the needs of individual children are met. 

Youth Offending Teams  
41. YOTs are subject to the section 11 duties set out in paragraph 4 of this chapter. 
YOTs are multi-agency teams responsible for the supervision of children and young 
people subject to pre-court interventions and statutory court disposals.57 They are 
therefore well placed to identify children known to relevant organisations as being most at 
risk of offending and to undertake work to prevent them offending. YOTs should have a 
lead officer responsible for ensuring safeguarding is at the forefront of their business. 

42. Under section 38 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, local authorities must, 
within the delivery of youth justice services, ensure the ‘provision of persons to act as 
appropriate adults to safeguard the interests of children and young persons detained or 
questioned by police officers’. 

UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the 
Border Force  
43. Section 55 of the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009 places upon the 
Secretary of State a duty to make arrangements to take account of the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children in discharging functions relating to immigration, 
asylum, nationality and customs. These functions are discharged on behalf of the 
Secretary of State by UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the 
Border Force, which are part of the Home Office. The statutory guidance Arrangements 
to Safeguard and Promote Children’s Welfare and other guidance relevant to the 
discharge of specific immigration functions set out these arrangements.58  

56 Detailed guidance on the safeguarding children policy, the roles of the safeguarding children manager 
and the safeguarding children committee, and the role of the establishment in relation to the LSCB can be 
found in Prison Service Instruction (PSI) 08/2012 ‘Care and Management of Young People’.  
57 The statutory membership of YOTs is set out in section 39 (5) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
58 Arrangements to Safeguard and Promote Children’s Welfare in the United Kingdom Border Agency. 
(original title “Every Child Matters” statutory guidance to the UK Border Agency under section 55 of the 
Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009). 

Draft

73

Page 100

https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012l
https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012l
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/39
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/257876/change-for-children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/257876/change-for-children.pdf


Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service  
44. The responsibility of the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 
(Cafcass), as set out in the Children Act 1989, is to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
individual children who are the subject of family court proceedings. This is through the 
provision of independent social work advice to the court. 

45. A Cafcass officer has a statutory right in public law cases to access local authority 
records relating to the child concerned and any application under the Children Act 1989. 
That power also extends to other records that relate to the child and the wider functions 
of the local authority, or records held by an authorised body that relate to that child. 

46. Where a Cafcass officer has been appointed by the court as a child’s guardian 
and the matter before the court relates to specified proceedings, they should be invited to 
all formal planning meetings convened by the local authority in respect of the child. This 
includes statutory reviews of children who are accommodated or looked-after, child 
protection conferences and relevant adoption panel meetings.  

Armed Services 
47. Local authorities have the statutory responsibility for safeguarding and promoting 
the welfare of the children of service families in the UK.59,60 In discharging these 
responsibilities: 

• local authorities should ensure that the Soldiers, Sailors, Airmen, and Families 
Association Forces Help, the British Forces Social Work Service or the Naval 
Personal and Family Service is made aware of any service child who is the subject 
of a child protection plan and whose family is about to move overseas 

• each local authority with a United States (US) base in its area should establish 
liaison arrangements with the base commander and relevant staff. The 
requirements of English child welfare legislation should be explained clearly to the 
US authorities, so that the local authority can fulfil its statutory duties 

59 When service families or civilians working with the armed forces are based overseas the responsibility for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of their children is vested in the Ministry of Defence.  
60 The Army welfare contact is through the Army Welfare Service Intake and Assessment Team: Tel. 01904 
662613 or email: AWS-HQ-IAT@mod.uk; The Naval Service welfare contact is through the RN RM Welfare 
(RNRMW) Portal. Tel: (Mil): 9380 28777; (Civ): +44 (0)23 9272 8777 or, email: navypers-welfare@mod.uk; 
The RAF welfare contact is through the Personal Support & Social Work Service RAF (SSAFA).  
Tel:Mil:95221 6333; (Civ): +44 (0) 01494 49 6477/6333 or email: air-cospers-polssafahd@mod.uk.  

Draft

74

Page 101



Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements  
48. Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) are the set of 
arrangements through which the police, prison and probation services work together with 
duty to co-operate (DTC)61 agencies to manage the risks posed by violent and sexual 
offenders living in the community in order to protect the public. Many of the agencies that 
are subject to the section 11 duty are also involved in MAPPA and the child safeguarding 
is a key element of public protection  

Voluntary and private sectors 
49. Voluntary organisations and private sector providers play an important role in 
delivering services to children. This includes statutory services that may be run by 
volunteers such as library services. They should have the arrangements described in 
paragraph 4 of this chapter in place in the same way as organisations in the public 
sector, and need to work effectively with the safeguarding partners as required by any 
local safeguarding arrangements. Paid and volunteer staff need to be aware of their 
responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, how they should 
respond to child protection concerns and make a referral to local authority children’s 
social care or the police if necessary. 

Sports Clubs / Organisations 
50. There are many sports clubs and organisations including voluntary and private 
sector providers who deliver a wide range of sporting activities to children. They should 
have the arrangements described in paragraph 4 of this chapter in place in the same way 
as organisations in the public sector, and need to work effectively with the safeguarding 
partners as required by any local safeguarding arrangements. Paid and volunteer staff 
need to be aware of their responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children, how they should respond to child protection concerns and make a referral to 
local authority children’s social care or the police if necessary. 

51. All National Governing Bodies of Sport, who receive funding from either Sport 
England62 or UK Sport,63 must aim to meet the Standards for Safeguarding and 
Protecting Children in Sport.64 

61 The DTC agencies are listed in section 325(6) of the CJA 2003. They are required to co-operate as far as 
they can do so, consistent with the exercise of their other statutory functions. 
62 Sport England 
63 UK Sport 
64 Standards for Safeguarding and Protecting Children in Sport. 

Draft

75

Page 102

https://www.sportengland.org/
http://www.uksport.gov.uk/
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/


Faith Organisations  
52. Churches, other places of worship and faith-based organisations provide a wide 
range of activities for children and have an important role in safeguarding children and 
supporting families and communities. Like other organisations who work with children, 
they should have appropriate arrangements in place to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. 

Draft

76

Page 103



Chapter 3: Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
1. To achieve the best possible outcomes, children and families need to receive 
targeted services to meet their needs in a co-ordinated way. Fragmented provision of 
services creates inefficiencies and risks disengagement by children and families.  Local 
agencies are the front line when it comes to safeguarding children and it is vital that they 
work well together. There is a shared responsibility between agencies to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of all children in a local area. In order to do this effectively, local 
agencies should develop processes that promote: 

• the commissioning of services in a co-ordinated way 

• co-operation and integration between universal services such as schools, GP 
practices, adult services, early years settings, youth services and colleges, 
voluntary and community and specialist support services 

2. The duty to make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all 
children in a local area rests with the three safeguarding partners.  

Safeguarding partners 
Safeguarding partners 65 

A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in England is defined under 
the Children Act 2004 as:  

(a) the local authority 

(b) a clinical commissioning group for an area any part of which falls within the local 
authority area 

(c) the chief officer of police for an area any part of which falls within the local 
authority area 

 

3. The three safeguarding partners must set out how they will work together and with 
any relevant agencies whose involvement they consider may be required to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children in particular cases. They must also set out how their 
arrangements will receive independent scrutiny. Once agreed, the safeguarding partners 

65 Children Act 2004, Section 16 E 

Draft

77

Page 104



must publish the arrangements.66 The purpose of these local arrangements is to support 
and enable local agencies to work together in a system where:  

• excellent practice is the norm 

• partner agencies hold one another to account effectively 

• there is early identification of ‘new’ safeguarding issues 

• learning is promoted and embedded 

• information is shared effectively 

• the public can feel confident that children are protected from harm 

Leadership 
4. It is the responsibility of each safeguarding partner to identify a senior officer in 
each of their agencies to have responsibility and authority for ensuring full collaboration 
with these arrangements. 
 
5. The representatives should be able to: 

• speak with authority for the safeguarding partner they represent 

• commit their organisation on policy and practice matters 

• hold their own organisation to account and hold others to account 

6. It will be the responsibility of these representatives to determine how they will work 
together to make the arrangements and to review them on an ongoing basis. All three 
partners have equal and joint responsibility for local safeguarding arrangements. In 
situations that require a clear, single point of leadership, all three safeguarding partners 
are responsible for determining who should take the lead on issues including 
implementation and compliance. 

7. Where there is failure to reach agreement, or where those providing independent 
scrutiny consider that the leadership arrangements are weak or malfunctioning, action 
should be taken to resolve the dispute. The escalation route for any dispute should be set 
out in the arrangements- see paragraph 25.   

66 [placeholder - link to RA] 

Draft

78

Page 105



Publication of arrangements 
8. Local safeguarding arrangements must be published and must include: 

• arrangements for commission and publication of local safeguarding practice 
reviews (see chapter 4) 

• the arrangements for independent scrutiny of the effectiveness of the arrangements 

9. They should also include: 

• who the three local safeguarding partners are, especially if the arrangements cover 
more than one local authority area 

• geographical boundaries (especially if the arrangements extend or cut across the 
usual local authority boundaries) 

• the relevant agencies the safeguarding partners will work with, why these agencies 
are relevant and how they will work together to improve outcomes for children and 
families 

• how all schools (including independent schools, academies and free schools) and 
other educational partners will be included in the safeguarding arrangements 

• how any youth custody and residential homes for children will be included in the 
safeguarding arrangements 

• how the safeguarding partners will use data to assess the effectiveness of the help 
being provided to children and families, including early help 

• how the arrangements will be funded 

• the process for undertaking local practice learning reviews, setting out the process 
for how lessons will be learnt, and how any changes made will impact on outcomes 
for children and families 

In agreeing their arrangements, safeguarding partners should take account of 
recommendations from any previous learning reviews and relevant research from the 
What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care. They should also have regard to any 
reports sent to them by the child death review partners for their area. 

Draft

79

Page 106



Geographical area 
10. Local arrangements can cover two or more local authorities, and safeguarding 
partners can join and collaborate on their arrangements, providing this has been agreed 
by the relevant safeguarding partners67. The administrative geography of safeguarding 
partners is capable of changing over time. Where changes are proposed this should also 
be agreed by the three safeguarding partners. 

11. A single local authority area must not be covered by two separate safeguarding 
partnerships. 

12. Where more than one local authority joins together, the local authorities can agree 
to delegate their safeguarding partner duties to one authority. Each local authority must 
continue to fulfil their statutory and legislative duties to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. The same applies for clinical commissioning groups and chief officers 
of police in respect of their safeguarding partner duties only. All safeguarding partners 
should satisfy themselves that the arrangements, including those carried out by other 
agencies on their behalf, are robust. 

Relevant agencies 
13. Strong, effective multi-agency arrangements are ones that are responsive to local 
circumstances and engage the right people. For local arrangements to be effective, they 
should reflect the local needs assessment and engage agencies who can provide 
targeted support to children and families. This approach requires flexibility to enable joint 
identification of, and response to, existing and emerging needs, and to agree priorities to 
improve outcomes for children.  

14. The safeguarding partners must agree how multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements will work in their area and which agencies can bring that targeted help and 
support that children and families need. They must set out in their published 
arrangements which relevant agencies they will be working with to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. This list should and will change over time if the local 
arrangements are to work effectively for children and families.  

15. Safeguarding partners should make sure the relevant agencies are aware of, and 
agree to, the expectations placed on them by the new arrangements. They should 
consult with relevant agencies in developing the safeguarding arrangements to make 
sure the expectations take account of an agency’s structure and statutory obligations. 
Relevant agencies must co-operate with the safeguarding arrangements as far as they 
can do so consistently within the exercise of their other statutory functions. The 

67 Placeholder [Insert act ref] 

Draft

80

Page 107



legislation does not allow relevant agencies to disagree with their inclusion, or decline to 
participate.68 

16. Where safeguarding partners agree that a body or individual not named in the 
regulations as a relevant agency is an important partner for the purposes of safeguarding 
or promoting the welfare of children in their area, they may still include them in their 
safeguarding arrangements by agreement. 

17. In setting out how they will work with relevant agencies, the safeguarding partners 
should set out how they will assure themselves that relevant agencies have appropriate, 
robust safeguarding policies and procedures in place. This could, for example, involve 
helping to align policies within the locality so that all relevant agencies are working to a 
common set of procedures. 

Schools and other educational partners 
18. All schools, including maintained schools, non-maintained, or independent 
schools, including academies and free schools, have duties in relation to safeguarding 
children and promoting their welfare. They have an important role to play in multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements. 

19. In setting out how schools and other educational partners will be included in the 
new safeguarding arrangements, the safeguarding partners should make arrangements 
to allow all schools and other educational partners in the local area to be fully engaged 
and involved, making sure communication is effective. Once designated as a relevant 
agency, schools and colleges, in the same way as other relevant agencies, are under a 
statutory duty to work in line with the arrangements published by the safeguarding 
partners.69 

Independent scrutiny  
20. In striving for effective multi-agency arrangements, the role of independent 
scrutiny is critical to provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of services to protect 
children. Independent scrutiny can also assist when there is disagreement between the 
leaders responsible for protecting children in the agencies involved in multi-agency 
arrangements. The safeguarding partners should set up their arrangements to create an 
environment conducive to robust scrutiny and constructive challenge and must ensure there 
is independent scrutiny of the effectiveness of the arrangements. It will be a local 
decision how best to implement a robust system of independent scrutiny. Safeguarding 

68 Children Act 2004, Section 16G 
69 Placeholder [RA regs] 

Draft

81

Page 108



partners should involve a person or persons who are independent, for example by virtue 
of being from outside the local area and/or having no prior involvement with local 
agencies.  

21. All published arrangements agreed by the safeguarding partners must include 
plans for scrutiny by an independent person. The published arrangements themselves 
should set out the plans for independent scrutiny, who will conduct the scrutiny, how the 
arrangements will be reviewed and how any recommendations will be taken forward. This 
might include, for example, the process and timescales for ongoing review of the 
arrangements. 

22. Safeguarding partners should also agree arrangements for independent scrutiny 
of the report they must publish at least once a year. 

Funding 
23. The three safeguarding partners may make payments towards expenditure 
incurred in conjunction with local arrangements for safeguarding and promoting welfare 
of children locally. 

24. The safeguarding partners should agree the level of funding secured from each 
partner, which should be equitable and proportionate, and with each relevant agency, to 
support the local arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in their 
area. The funding should be transparent to children and families in the area and sufficient 
to cover all elements of the arrangements.  

Dispute resolution 
25. Safeguarding partners and relevant agencies must comply with the arrangements 
for their area, and will be expected to work together to resolve any disputes locally. 
Public bodies that fail to comply with their obligations under law are held to account 
through a variety of regulatory and inspection activity for example, Ofsted in the case of 
schools. 

26. If necessary, legislation allows the Secretary of State to take enforcement action 
against any agency that is not meeting its statutory obligations as part of local 
safeguarding arrangements. 

Updates to arrangements 
27. The three safeguarding partners should report any updates to the published 
arrangements in their yearly report and the proposed timescale for implementation. 

Draft

82

Page 109



Reporting 
28. In order to bring transparency for children, parents and all practitioners to the 
activity undertaken by agencies, the safeguarding partners must publish a report at least 
once in every 12 month period. The report must set out what they have done as a result 
of the arrangements and how effective the arrangements have been in practice. It must 
also include actions relating to local child safeguarding practice reviews and what the 
safeguarding partners have done as a result. 

29. In addition, the report should also include: 

• evidence of the impact of the work of the safeguarding partners and relevant 
agencies on outcomes for children and families 

• a record of actions taken by the partners in the report’s period (or planned to be 
taken) to implement the recommendations of any reviews 

• ways in which the partners have sought and utilised feedback from children, young 
people and families to inform their work and influence service provision 

30. Safeguarding partners should make sure the report is widely available, and the 
published safeguarding arrangements should set out where the reports will be published. 

31. A copy of all published reports should be sent to the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel70 and the What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care71 within 7 days of 
being published. Where there is a secure establishment in a local area, safeguarding 
partners should include a review of the use of restraint within that establishment in their 
report, and the findings of the review should be reported to the Youth Justice Board. 

Information requests 

32. Agencies within a strong multi-agency system will have confidence that information is 
shared effectively, amongst and between them, to improve outcomes for children and their 
families.  Safeguarding partners may require any person or body to provide them with 
specified information which they deem necessary to fulfil their duties of safeguarding or 
promoting the welfare of children in their area.  

33. Partners may enforce the information request by court order if necessary, but they 
should seek to exercise these powers with sensitivity and with regard to guidance 
provided by the Information Commissioner’s Office.  

70 Children Act 2004, Section 16F (3)(C) 
71 [Placeholder] 

Draft

83

Page 110



Chapter 4: Learning from serious cases about children 

Overview 
1. Practitioners and organisations protecting children should reflect on the quality of 
their services and learn from their own practice and that of others. Good practice should 
be shared so that there is a growing understanding of what works well to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children and their families. Equally, when things go wrong there 
needs to be an understanding not only of what happened but also why things happened 
as they did, including analysis of the context such as workload, staff capacity, and other 
external events. Responding appropriately when things go wrong is a key part of the way 
we can continually improve our response to children and their families. We should not 
hide from the reasons why we are not as effective overall as we should be. These are 
found at national and local level; they are evident in all professions; exist in all agencies; 
and are present in all regions. Challenge, reflection and analysis are important so that 
lessons can be learnt and services improved to reduce the risk of future harm to children 
and to improve their outcomes. 

2. How we learn from these serious incidents and events should be transparent, with 
findings of reviews shared publicly. The findings, whilst very relevant locally, are 
important for all practitioners and Practice Leaders working with children and families as 
well as for the government and policy makers. Understanding whether there are systemic 
issues and whether and how policy and practice need to change is critical to the system 
being dynamic and constantly self-improving. 

3. This chapter covers: 

• the duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel, and related guidance on notifications 

• guidance for safeguarding partners (local authorities, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and chief officers of police) on serious child safeguarding cases 

• guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 

4. Safeguarding partners are responsible for overseeing the review of serious child 
safeguarding cases which, in their view, raise issues of importance in relation to their 
area. 

5. The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel is responsible at a national level 
for overseeing the review of serious child safeguarding cases which in its view raise 
issues that are complex or of national importance. 

Draft

84

Page 111



6. ‘Serious child safeguarding cases’ are those in which: 

• abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected  

• the child has died or been seriously harmed 

7. ‘Serious harm’ includes serious or long-term impairment of mental health or 
intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural development. It should also cover instances 
of impairment of physical health. This is not an exhaustive list and when making 
decisions, judgment should be exercised in cases where impairment is likely to be long-
term, even if this is not immediately certain. 

Principles for learning and improvement  
8. Safeguarding partners should put in place arrangements to monitor and challenge 
the quality of agencies’ work in relation to children’s safety and welfare. These 
arrangements should enable partners to identify and understand the reasons for and root 
causes of systemic strengths and weaknesses of local practice. Strategic decisions about 
local system changes should be driven by this intelligence. It is for single agencies and 
the safeguarding partners to decide which areas of practice should have a priority focus 
and why. 

9. The arrangements should include ongoing assessment and sharing of good 
practice as well as assessment of situations where there have been ‘near misses’, and 
should set out how lessons learnt will be applied and monitored.  

10. When a child dies or is seriously harmed and abuse and neglect is known or 
suspected, a number of agencies may be involved including possible criminal 
investigation, a coroner’s investigation and professional body disciplinary procedures. The 
safeguarding partners and the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel should have 
clear processes for how they will work with other investigations that may run in parallel 
with their reviews. The purpose of these practice reviews at both local and national level is 
to learn lessons that can improve the response to children and families.  

Draft

85

Page 112



Duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel  

16C(1) of the Children Act 2004 states 

Where a local authority in England knows or suspects that a child has been abused 
or neglected, the local authority must notify the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
Panel if –  

(a) the child dies or is seriously harmed in the local authority’s area, or 

(b) while normally resident in the local authority’s area, the child dies or is seriously 
harmed outside England. 

 

11. The local authority must report any event that meets the above criteria to the Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. They should do so within five working days of 
becoming aware that the incident has occurred. 

12. The local authority should also report the event to Ofsted, Department for 
Education (DfE), the relevant child death review partners and the relevant safeguarding 
partners within five working days. Where a looked-after child has died (including cases 
where abuse or neglect is not known or suspected), the event should also be reported to 
Ofsted, the safeguarding partners and the child death review partners (see chapter 5).  

13. Whilst the duty to notify events to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
rests on the local authority, it is open to anyone exercising functions in relation to 
children, who identifies a serious child safeguarding case to notify the Child Safeguarding 
Practice Review Panel accordingly. 

14. Contact details and notification forms for local authorities to notify incidents to the 
Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel are available from [ ]. 

Guidance for safeguarding partners on serious child 
safeguarding cases 

Action on receipt of a notification 

15. When the safeguarding partners receive information about the known or 
suspected abuse or neglect of a child in their area, where death or serious harm has 
occurred, they should undertake a concise investigative exercise to understand both the 
relevant circumstances and the involvement of local agencies. This should be completed, 

Draft

86

Page 113



and a decision taken on next steps, within five working days of receipt of this information 
and any immediate learning shared appropriately.  

16. As soon as the initial investigative exercise is complete, the safeguarding partners 
should send a copy of the findings to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. 
When they do so, they should also advise the Panel whether in principle they already 
consider that a local child safeguarding practice review is appropriate or not. 

17. The Panel will consider the information and will advise the safeguarding partners 
whether they intend to undertake a national child safeguarding practice review. In the 
meantime, the safeguarding partners should undertake necessary planning, for a local 
child safeguarding practice review, where applicable, so that immediate action can be 
taken once the Panel’s views are known. Safeguarding partners should inform the Panel 
Ofsted and DfE of their final decision on whether or not they are commissioning a local 
child safeguarding practice review of any notified case, and about their next steps, 
including the name of any reviewer commissioned. 

Local child safeguarding practice reviews 

Deciding when to carry out a local child safeguarding practice review 

18. Safeguarding partners must make arrangements to: 

• identify serious child safeguarding cases which raise issues of importance in 
relation to the area 

• commission and oversee the review of those cases, where they consider it 
appropriate for a review to be undertaken 

19. The purpose of a local child safeguarding practice review is to identify any 
improvements that should be made locally to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children (both collectively and individually). This means that learning must be at the heart 
of all reviews and should seek to prevent or reduce the risk of recurrence of similar 
incidents. Reviews are not conducted to hold individuals or organisations to account, as 
there are other processes for that purpose, including through employment law and 
disciplinary procedures, and professional regulation and in exceptional cases criminal 
proceedings. Employers should consider whether any disciplinary action should be taken 
against practitioners whose conduct and/or practice falls below acceptable standards and 
should refer to their regulatory body as appropriate.  

 

Draft

87

Page 114



When safeguarding partners are deciding when it is appropriate to 
commission a local review of a case or cases, they must take the 
following into account 

a) Whether the case highlights or could highlight improvements needed to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, including where those 
improvements have been previously identified 

b) Whether the case highlights or could highlight recurrent themes in the 
safeguarding and promotion of the welfare of children 

c) Whether the case raises or may raise issues relating to the safeguarding and 
promotion of the welfare of children in institutional settings72 

d) Whether the case highlights or could highlight concerns regarding two or more 
agencies working together effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children 

e) Whether the case is one which the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
have considered and concluded a local review may be more appropriate 

 

20. When deciding whether a review of a serious child safeguarding case may be 
appropriate, safeguarding partners must also have regard to the following circumstances: 

72 “Institutional settings” includes— 
(a) all children’s homes including secure children’s homes;  
(b) all custodial settings where a child is held, including police custody, young offender institutions and 

secure training centres;  
(c) all settings where detention of a child takes place including under the Mental Health Act 1983 or the 

Mental Capacity Act 2005. 
 

Draft

88

Page 115



Safeguarding partners must also have regard to the following 
circumstances 

• where the safeguarding partners have cause for concern about the actions of a 
single agency 

• where there has been no agency involvement and this gives the safeguarding 
partners cause for concern 

• where more than one local authority is involved, including in cases where families 
have moved around 

 

21. If another type of review, for example a Domestic Homicide Review, MAPPA 
Serious Case Review or Safeguarding Adults Review, is being carried out, safeguarding 
partners should work collaboratively with those responsible for carrying out those 
reviews. This is to minimise duplication of effort, uncertainty and/or confusion relating to 
the different review processes, and reduce burdens on and anxiety for the families and 
children concerned. 

Other circumstances  

22. This guidance does not preclude a local area from making a decision to undertake 
a local child safeguarding practice review in other circumstances. For example, some 
cases may not meet the definition of a ‘serious child safeguarding case’, but nevertheless 
raise issues of importance to the local area. This includes where there has been good 
practice, poor practice or where there have been ‘near miss’ events (where something 
could have gone wrong but didn’t). In such cases, safeguarding partners should consider 
what action to take, including whether they wish to commission a local child safeguarding 
practice review. 

Commissioning a reviewer or reviewers for a local child safeguarding 
practice review 

23. The safeguarding partners are responsible for commissioning and supervising 
reviewers for local reviews. When commissioning a reviewer, safeguarding partners 
should consider whether those they commission have the following73: 

73 Safeguarding partners may also consider appointing reviewers from the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel’s pool of reviewers where available.  

Draft

89

Page 116



• professional knowledge, understanding and practice relevant to the ability to 
undertake and write local child safeguarding practice reviews 

• knowledge and understanding of research relevant to children’s safeguarding 
issues 

24. Safeguarding partners should also: 

• seek to assure themselves that the reviewer they select is able to produce a quality 
review within the agreed timescale 

• consider whether the reviewer has any conflicts of interest which could restrict 
his/her ability to identify improvements 

• clearly commission the reviewer, taking into account the need for the review to be 
proportionate to the circumstances of the case and for it to establish and explain 
the reasons why the events occurred as they did 

• ensure that any contract with a reviewer covers the above key points and that it 
provides for the safeguarding partners to remove the reviewer if this is necessary 

Procedure for a local child safeguarding practice review 

25. The safeguarding partners should agree with the reviewer(s) the method by which 
the review should be conducted, provided that it is consistent with the principles in this 
guidance, and the systems methodology recommended by the Munro review.74  The 
methodology should provide a way of looking at and analysing front line practice as well 
as organisational structures and learning. The methodology should be able to reach 
recommendations that will improve outcomes for children.  
 
26. As part of their duty to ensure that the review is of satisfactory quality, the 
safeguarding partners should seek to ensure that: 

• practitioners are fully involved in reviews and invited to contribute their perspectives 
without fear of being blamed for actions they took in good faith 

• families, including surviving children, are invited to contribute to reviews. This is 
important for ensuring that the child is at the centre of the process.75 They should 
understand how they are going to be involved and their expectations should be 
managed appropriately and sensitively.  

74 The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final Report: A Child Centred System (May 2011). 
75 Morris, K., Brandon, M. and Tudor, P.(2012) A Study of Family Involvement in Case Reviews: Messages 
for Policy and Practice, BASPCAN  

Draft

90

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system


27. The safeguarding partners should also seek to ensure that the reviewer: 

• recognises the complex circumstances in which practitioners work together to 
safeguard children 

• seeks to understand practice from the viewpoint of the individuals and 
organisations involved at the time rather than using hindsight 

• is transparent about the way data is being collected and analysed 

• handles information securely 

• makes use of relevant research and case evidence to inform the findings 

28. The safeguarding partners must supervise the review to ensure that the reviewer 
is making satisfactory progress. This should be against the timescales as set out in the 
contract agreed with the reviewer. Where there are other proceedings which will run 
parallel to a local review, for example a criminal investigation/prosecution or inquest, the 
safeguarding partners should ensure the reviewer works closely with those responsible to 
avoid one process jeopardising or unnecessarily delaying the other. 

29. The President of the Family Division’s Guidance covering the role of the judiciary 
in serious case reviews76 applies equally to local child safeguarding practice reviews. 

Expectations for the final report 

30. Safeguarding partners must ensure that the final report is of satisfactory quality 
and includes: 

• A summary of recommended improvements for the safeguarding partners or others 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

• An analysis of the systemic or underlying reasons why actions were taken or not 
taken in respect of matters covered by the report 

Any recommendations which are made should be clear on what is required of relevant 
parties collectively and individually and focussed on improving outcomes for children. 
Safeguarding partners should regularly audit progress on the implementation of 
recommended improvements. 

31. Safeguarding partners must publish the report, unless they consider it 
inappropriate to do so. In such a circumstance, they must publish any information about 
the improvements that should be made following the review that they consider it 

76 President of the Family Division’s Guidance covering the role of the judiciary in serious case reviews 

Draft

91

Page 118

https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/publications/presidents-guidance-judicial-cooperation-with-serious-case-reviews/


appropriate to publish. Given that this is about promoting and sharing information about 
improvements, both within the area and potentially beyond, there is a presumption that 
the full report should be published. Reports should be written in such a way that what is 
published avoids harming the welfare of any children or vulnerable adults involved in the 
case. 

32. Safeguarding partners must send a copy of the full report to the Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and to the Secretary of State at least seven working 
days77 (a) after completion or (b) before publication, whichever is the sooner. They 
should confirm what is being published and when, and set out for the Panel and the 
Secretary of State the justification for any non-publication, or delay to publication, if 
applicable. Safeguarding partners must have regard to any comments the Panel or the 
Secretary of State make with regard to publication. 

33. Depending on the nature and complexity of the case, reports should be completed 
and published between two and six months from the date of the decision to initiate a 
review. Where other proceedings may have an impact on or delay publication, e.g. an 
ongoing criminal investigation, inquest or future prosecution, the safeguarding partners 
should inform the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and the Secretary of State 
of the reasons for the delay. Every effort should also be made, both before the review 
and while it is in progress, to (i) capture points from the case about improvements 
needed, and (ii) take corrective action and disseminate learning. 

Actions in response to national and local reviews 

34. The safeguarding partners should take account of the findings from their own local 
reviews and from all national reviews, with a view to considering how identified 
improvements should be implemented locally, including the way in which agencies work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Improvement should be 
sustained through regular monitoring and follow up of actions so that the findings from 
these reviews make a real impact on improving outcomes for children. 

Guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 

National child safeguarding practice reviews 

35. The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel is responsible for commissioning 
and supervising reviewers for national child safeguarding practice reviews. The purpose 
of a national child safeguarding practice review is to identify any improvements that 
should be made by safeguarding partners or others to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. These improvements should prevent or reduce the recurrence of 

77 ‘Working day’ means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday. 

Draft

92

Page 119



similar incidents. As for local reviews, national reviews are not conducted to hold 
individuals or organisations to account. Learning must be at the heart of all reviews. 

36. The Panel must decide when it is appropriate to commission a national review of a 
case or cases. When they do so, they must take the following criteria into account 
(‘review regulations’): 

Criteria to be taken into account 

(a) Whether the case highlights or could highlight improvements needed to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children, including where those improvements have been 
previously identified 

(b) Whether the case raises or may raise issues requiring legislative change or changes 
to statutory guidance 

(c) Whether the case highlights or could highlight recurrent themes in the safeguarding 
and promotion of the welfare of children 

(d) Whether the case raises or may raise issues relating to the safeguarding and 
promotion of the welfare of children in institutional settings78 

 

37. The Panel must also have regard to the following circumstances in which a review 
of a serious child safeguarding case may be appropriate: 

The Panel must also have regard to the following circumstances 

• Significant harm or death to a child educated otherwise than at school 

• Children who are seriously harmed or die while in the care of the local authority, 
or while on (or recently removed from) a child protection plan 

• Cases which involve a range of types of abuse 

 

38. As well as considering notifications from local authorities or others, the Panel 
should take account of a range of wider evidence when deciding whether to commission 
a review. This includes evidence from inspection reports (in particular Ofsted, HM 

78 “Institutional settings” includes— 
(a) all children’s homes including secure children’s homes;  
(b) all custodial settings where a child is held, including police custody, young offender institutions and 
secure training centres;  
(c) all settings where detention of a child takes place including under the Mental Health Act 1983 or the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

Draft

93

Page 120



Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) and Care Quality Commission (CQC) and other 
reports and information, for example joint targeted area inspections, Ofsted thematic 
reviews and research from the What Works Centre for children’s social care. They should 
also consider information and related decisions from safeguarding partners about local 
child safeguarding practice reviews.  

39. The Panel may also take into account any other criteria they consider appropriate 
to identify whether a serious child safeguarding case raises issues which are complex or 
of national importance.  

40. The Panel should inform the relevant safeguarding partners promptly, and within 
at least five working days of their decision, if they intend to carry out a review of any 
notified case or cases. If they have views on whether a local review is appropriate, they 
should inform the safeguarding partners to the same timescale. When making a 
determination to carry out a review, the Panel should make clear to the safeguarding 
partners the basis of their decision.  

Commissioning a reviewer for a national child safeguarding practice 
review 

41. The Panel must select a reviewer or reviewers whom they consider suitable to 
carry out the review. Any person appointed to carry out a review must be in a pool of 
reviewers as determined by the Panel. In considering eligibility for the pool, the Panel 
must consider whether the reviewer has: 

• professional knowledge, understanding and practice relevant to the ability to 
undertake and write national child safeguarding practice reviews 

• knowledge and understanding of research relevant to children’s safeguarding 
issues 

42. When commissioning a reviewer, the Panel should: 

• seek to assure themselves that the reviewer they select to carry out the review is 
able to produce a quality review within the appropriate timescale 

• consider whether the reviewer has any conflicts of interest which could restrict 
his/her ability to identify improvements 

• clearly commission the reviewer, taking into account the need for the review to be 
proportionate to the circumstances of the case and for it to establish and explain 
the reasons why the events occurred as they did 

Draft

94

Page 121



• ensure that the reviewer’s contract covers the above and that it provides for the 
removal of the reviewer at any point, including if the Panel determines that his/her 
work is inadequate or that he/she has failed to maintain an acceptable standard of 
professional conduct 

Procedure for a national child safeguarding practice review 

43. The Panel should agree with the reviewer(s) the method by which the review 
should be conducted, provided that it is consistent with the principles in this guidance, 
including the systems methodology recommended by Professor Munro.79 

44. As part of their duty to ensure that the review is of satisfactory quality, the Panel 
should seek to ensure that: 

• practitioners are involved fully in reviews and invited to contribute their perspectives 
without fear of being blamed for actions they took in good faith 

• families, including surviving children, are invited to contribute to reviews. They 
should understand how they are going to be involved and their expectations should 
be managed appropriately and sensitively. This is important for ensuring that the 
child is at the centre of the process80 

45. The Panel should also seek to ensure that the reviewer: 

• recognises the complex circumstances in which practitioners work together to 
safeguard children 

• seeks to understand practice from the viewpoint of the individuals and 
organisations involved at the time rather than using hindsight 

• is transparent about the way data is being collected and analysed 

• handles information securely 

• makes use of relevant research and case evidence to inform the findings 

46. The Panel must supervise the review to ensure that the reviewer is making 
satisfactory progress. This should be against the timescales as set out in the contract 
agreed with the reviewer. Where there are other proceedings which will run parallel to a 
national review, for example a criminal investigation/prosecution or inquest, the Panel 

79 The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final Report: A Child Centred System (May 2011). 
80 Morris, K., Brandon, M. and Tudor, P.(2012) A Study of Family Involvement in Case Reviews: Messages 
for Policy and Practice, BASPCAN 

Draft

95

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.baspcan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/ReportFINALsmaller.pdf
https://www.baspcan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/ReportFINALsmaller.pdf


should ensure that the reviewer works closely with those responsible to avoid one 
process jeopardising or unnecessarily delaying the other. 

47. The President of the Family Division’s Guidance covering the role of the judiciary 
in serious case reviews81 applies equally to national child safeguarding practice reviews. 

Expectations for the final report 

48. The Panel must ensure that all reports are of satisfactory quality and include: 

• A summary of recommended improvements for the safeguarding partners or others 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

• An analysis of the systemic or underlying reasons why actions were taken or not 
taken in respect of matters covered by the report 

Any recommendations which are made should be clear on what is required of relevant 
parties collectively and individually and focussed on improving outcomes for children. 

49. The Panel must publish the report, unless they consider it inappropriate to do so. 
In such a circumstance they must publish any information about the improvements that 
should be made following the review that they consider it appropriate to publish. Given 
that this is about promoting and sharing learning nationally, there is a presumption that 
the full report should be published. Reports should be written in such a way that what is 
published will not be likely to harm the welfare of any children or vulnerable adults 
involved in the case. 

50. The Panel must send a copy of the full report to the Secretary of State at least 
seven working days (a) after completion or (b) before publication, whichever is the 
sooner. They should confirm what is being published and when, and set out for the 
Secretary of State the justification for any non-publication, or delay to publication, if 
applicable. 

51. Reports should be completed and published within six months from the date of the 
decision to initiate a review. Where other proceedings may have an impact on or delay 
publication, e.g. an ongoing criminal investigation, inquest or future prosecution, the 
Panel should advise the Secretary of State of the reasons for the delay. During the 
review, the Panel should share any points that arise about improvements needed, at 
least with the safeguarding partners in the area covered by the review. 

52. The Panel should send copies of published reports of national and local child 
safeguarding practice reviews, or published information about improvements linked to 

81 President of the Family Division’s Guidance covering the role of the judiciary in serious case reviews 

Draft

96

Page 123

https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/publications/presidents-guidance-judicial-cooperation-with-serious-case-reviews/


those reviews, to the What Works Centre for children’s social care. The Panel should 
regularly audit progress on the implementation of national-level recommended 
improvements. 

Draft

97

Page 124



Chapter 5: Child death reviews  
1. The death of a child is a devastating loss that profoundly affects all those involved. 
The tragedy is that many child deaths are preventable and every preventable death is one 
death too many. The process of systematically reviewing all children’s deaths is grounded 
in respect for the rights of children and their families, with the intention of learning what 
happened and why, and preventing future child deaths. The review should, keep an 
appropriate balance between forensic and medical requirements, learning lessons, and 
supporting the family at a difficult time.  
 

Draft

98

Page 125



 

2. Practitioners in all agencies should notify the child death review (CDR) partners of 
the death of any child of which they become aware. This is to share information for the 
purposes of reviewing the child's death, and to participate in local child death review 
arrangements. This might include any child death review meeting82 if they have been 

82 Child death review meeting. This is the final multi-practitioner meeting where those practitioners directly 
involved in the care of the child, and their peers, discuss all matters relating to the child’s death.  
It is acknowledged that this meeting is known locally by a variety of names across hospital and community 
settings (mortality meeting, perinatal mortality meeting, and a local or final case discussion in the context of 
a joint agency response). This meeting is referred to in the Sudden Unexplained Death in Infancy (SUDI) 
guidance as the final case discussion. 

Statutory Requirements 

Under the Children Act 2004 (the Act), as amended by sections 24-28 of the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017, ‘child death review partners’ must make arrangements to review all 
deaths of children normally resident in the local area, and if they consider it appropriate, for 
those not normally resident in the area.  

‘Child death review partners’ are defined under the Act as local authorities and any clinical 
commissioning groups for the local area. Child death review partners for two or more local 
authority areas may combine and agree that their area be treated as a single area to carry 
out certain functions. In addition to having to make arrangements to review child deaths: 

1. They must make arrangements for the analysis of information from deaths reviewed. 

2. They should identify any matters relating to the death or deaths that are relevant to 
the welfare of children in the area and to public health and safety. In doing so, they 
must consider whether it is appropriate for any action to be taken by anyone in 
relation to their findings. If they find action should be taken, they must inform the 
necessary person. 

3. They must prepare and publish reports on:  

a) what they have done as a result of the arrangements, and 

b) how effective the arrangements have been in practice. 

4. They can request information from a person or body that will enable or assist the 
review process, and the person or body must comply with the request. If they do not, 
the child death review partner can take legal action to enforce the request made. 

5. Child death review partners may make payments directly towards expenditure 
incurred in connection with child death review, or by contributing to a fund out of 
which payments may be made. They may provide staff, goods, services, 
accommodation or other resources to any person for purposes connected with child 
death review. 

Draft

99

Page 126



involved with the child or family, and any Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) when they 
have specific expertise which may help achieve the review’s purpose. 

3. The processes to be followed when responding to, investigating, and reviewing a 
child’s death are set out in separate detailed guidance [insert link to Comprehensive 
Child Death Review Guidance 2018] 

4. All forms and templates to be used for reporting child deaths can be found here: 
[placeholder for DH child death review webpage]. These forms will be replaced by direct 
input to the National Child Mortality Database once it is operational.  

 

Flow Chart 7: Process to follow when a child dies 

 
 

 

Responsibilities of Child Death Review Partners 
 
5. CDR partners must review the deaths of all children from birth to their 18th 
birthday, regardless of the cause of death83. CDR partners should set up a child death 
CDOP to conduct child death reviews. 

83 This will include the death of any new-born baby (of any gestation) who shows signs of life following birth, 
or where the birth was unattended, but does not include those (of any gestation) who are stillborn where 
there was medical attendance, or planned terminations of pregnancy carried out within the law. 

Draft

100

Page 127



6. CDR partners may request any practitioner or organisation to provide relevant 
information to enable or assist the reviewing and or analysis of each child's death. 
Practitioners and organisations must comply with such requests. 

7. CDR partners should agree locally how the child death review process will be 
funded in their area.  

8. The geographical and population ‘footprint’ of CDR partners must be locally 
agreed, but the minimum area is one local authority area, and primarily aligned to 
networks of clinical care at a sub-regional level. It is expected that such geographical 
populations would translate reviewing 80-120 deaths a year. CDR partners should come 
together to develop clear plans outlining the administrative and logistical processes for 
these new review arrangements. While there might be efficiencies in regions having 
larger administrative centres, this should not detract from local responsibilities to the child 
death review process. 

9. All local organisations or individual practitioners that have had involvement in the 
case should co-operate in the child death review process. 

10. In the case of a looked-after child, the CDR partners for the area of the local 
authority looking after the child, rather than where the child was resident, should take 
lead responsibility for conducting the child death review process, involving other CDR 
partners or agencies with an interest. 

11. The CDR partners should ensure a process is in place whereby a designated 
doctor for child deaths is notified of each child’s death and is sent relevant information. 
CDR partners should have a list of the relevant people and make it widely available. 

12. CDR partners should publicise the arrangements for the child death review 
process: which local authority and CCG partners are involved, what geographical area is 
covered, and who are the accountable officials.  

Child Death Overview Panels   
13. CDR partners are responsible for ensuring that a review of each death of a child 
normally resident in their area (and where appropriate for the death in their area of a child 
not normally resident in their area) takes place. They should do this through a CDOP. 

14. The CDOP should be composed of representatives of the CDR partners, lay 
members, and necessary experts, to ensure that the purposes of the child death review 
are met. Relevant experts may be standing members of the CDOP or co-opted from time 
to time. Panel members should not have provided direct care to the child being 
discussed. The CDOP should be chaired by someone independent of the key service 

Draft

101

Page 128



providers in the area. Quoracy should demand attendance by the local authority and lead 
practitioners from health. 

15. The CDOP review of all children’s deaths should be informed by an individual 
review of each child’s death at a child death review meeting, involving those practitioners 
directly involved in the care of the child and family. The purpose of the child death review 
meeting is to ensure that local learning takes place in the context of reflective practice 
and quality improvement. The requirement for this individual review does not remove the 
need for an independent CDOP discussion of each child's death. 

16. CDOPs should have themed panels. Panel themes may include, for example: 
neonates, sudden unexpected deaths in infancy, suicides, cardiac, trauma, and deaths in 
children with learning disabilities. Themed panels should have relevant co-opted experts. 
The frequency of such panels is dictated by the number of deaths in each category and 
an anticipated ability for an expert panel to review up to 12 deaths in a half-day session. 
Some types of deaths may require co-operation between any neighbouring CDOPs and 
review at a regional level. 

17. A CDOP may be used to:  

• collect and collate information on each child death, seeking relevant information 
from practitioners and, where appropriate, family members  

• analyse the information obtained, including the report of the child death review 
meeting, in order to confirm or clarify the cause of death, to determine any 
contributory factors, and to identify learning arising from the child death review 
process that may prevent future child deaths  

• make recommendations to anyone where actions have been identified which may 
prevent future child deaths or promote the health, safety and wellbeing of children  

• notify the CDR partners when it identifies that a child was abused or neglected, so 
that the CDR partners can notify the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
and Local Safeguarding Partners 

• notify the Medical Examiner (once introduced) and the doctor who certified the 
cause of death, where it identifies any errors or deficiencies in an individual child's 
registered cause of death,  for the purposes of improving death registration 

• provide specified data to the Department of Health and then, once established, to 
the National Child Mortality Database 

Draft

102

Page 129



• produce an annual report for CDR partners on local patterns and trends in child 
deaths, any lessons learnt and actions taken, and the effectiveness of the wider 
child death review process 

• to contribute to local, regional and national initiatives to improve learning from child 
death reviews, including, where appropriate, approved research carried out within 
the requirements of data protection 

Health input to child death review  
18. The CDR partners, through the relevant CCGs, should ensure that a designated 
doctor for child deaths is appointed with responsibility for the child death review process. 
This doctor will take a lead in co-ordinating responses to children's deaths and health 
input to the child death review process. Sufficient time should be allocated within the 
individual's job plan to enable them to carry out these functions effectively. 

19. The CDR partners, through the relevant CCGs, should ensure that arrangements 
are put in place to enable an appropriate and effective health response to each child 
death, including a joint agency response to those deaths requiring a police investigation. 
These arrangements should follow the guidelines laid out in 'Sudden unexpected death in 
infancy and childhood: multi-agency guidelines for care and investigation' (Royal College 
of Pathologists, 2016). 

Processes for notification  
20. Any practitioner who becomes aware of a child's death should notify the 
designated doctor for child deaths for the local authority area where the child is normally 
resident and the local authority for the area where the child has died (or where the child’s 
body was found). Other persons who become aware of a child's death may also notify the 
designated person. 

21. Where a doctor completes a Medical Certificate of the Cause of Death (MCCD) 
following the death of a child, they should also notify the designated doctor of the cause 
of death as entered on the MCCD. 

22. Registrars of Births and Deaths (Children & Young Persons Act 2008) are required 
to supply the CDR partners with information which they have about the death of persons 
under 18 they have registered or re-registered; and notify CDR partners if they issue a 
Certificate of No Liability to Register where it appears that the deceased was or may 
have been under the age of 18 at the time of death. They should send the information to 
the appropriate CDR partners no later than seven days from the date of registration. 

Draft

103

Page 130



23. Coroners are required to notify the CDR partners for the area in which the child 
died (or where the child's body was found) within three working days of deciding to 
investigate a death or commission a post-mortem examination. 

24. At the conclusion of an investigation into a child's death, the coroner should notify 
the CDR partners of their conclusions. 

Responding to the death of a child 
25. If there is an unexplained death of a child at home or in the community, the child 
should normally be taken to an Emergency Department rather than a mortuary. In some 
cases when a child dies at home or in the community, the police may decide that it is not 
appropriate to move the child’s body immediately, for example, because forensic 
examinations are needed. 

26. Whenever a child dies, practitioners should work together in responding to that 
death in a thorough, sensitive and supportive manner. The aims of this response are to:  

• establish, as far as is possible, the cause of the child's death 

• identify any modifiable contributory factors 

• provide ongoing support to the family 

• ensure that all statutory obligations are met 

• learn lessons in order to reduce the risk of future child deaths and promote the 
health, safety and wellbeing of other children 

27. Whenever a child dies or is discovered to be dead, the practitioners confirming the 
death should decide on the appropriate response to that death. This will vary depending 
on the nature and circumstances of the death, the necessity for any police investigation, 
and the requirements for any other internal or external review:  

• Where the attending doctor is able to issue a MCCD without the requirement to 
notify the coroner, for example in a child who dies as a consequence of a life-
limiting or life-threatening condition, or where there is a clear medical cause of 
death, the response should be health-led and focused around supporting the family 
and gathering appropriate information to inform the child death review process. 
There may be a need for an internal investigation into the quality of services 
provided to the child and family. All information pertaining to the child’s death 
should be discussed at a child death review meeting (involving the clinical team 
and other relevant practitioners), which reports to the CDOP 

Draft

104

Page 131



• Where the death is due to external causes, including: 

• all accidents and injuries 

• suspected assaults 

• child abuse or neglect 

• suspected suicides 

• where the death is sudden and there is no immediately apparent cause (including 
all sudden unexpected deaths in infancy) 

• where the death occurs in custody or the child was detained under the Mental 
Health Act or under a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards authorisation the attending 
doctor84 should ensure that the coroner and the police are notified of the death. In 
these circumstances, there should be a joint agency response to the death as 
outlined in 'Sudden unexpected death in infancy and childhood: multi-agency 
guidelines for care and investigation' (Royal College of Pathologists, 2016). The 
joint agency response will culminate in a child death review meeting which reports 
to the CDOP 

• Where a criminal investigation is undertaken, the police are responsible for 
collecting and collating all relevant information pertaining to the child’s death, and 
should be consulted before any arrangements relating to the local child death 
review process are made 

• Where a child is admitted to hospital following an acute event and is expected to 
die, and the circumstances are those listed above, then a joint agency response 
should be initiated on admission to hospital rather than at the time of death 

• Where a death occurs during an operation or before recovery from the effects of an 
anaesthetic, the attending doctor should notify the coroner of the death. In these 
circumstances and in other circumstances where the doctor considers it 
appropriate to notify the coroner, but where a police investigation is not warranted, 
the response should be health-led and focused around supporting the family and 
gathering appropriate information to inform the child death review process. This 
should include a child death review meeting involving the clinical team and any 
other relevant practitioners which reports to the CDOP. There may be a need for an 
internal investigation into the quality of services provided to the child and family 

84 The “attending doctor” is the medical consultant who certifies the child’s death. 

Draft

105

Page 132



28. As soon as possible after arrival at a hospital, the child should be examined by a 
consultant paediatrician and a detailed history should be taken from the parents or 
carers. The purpose of obtaining this information is to understand the cause of death and 
identify anything suspicious about it. In all cases when a child dies in hospital, or is taken 
to hospital after dying, the hospital should allocate a member of staff to remain with the 
parents and support them through the process. 

29. If the child has died at home or in the community, the lead police investigator and 
a senior health care practitioner should decide whether there should be a visit to the 
place where the child died, how soon (ideally within 24 hours) and who should attend. 
This should almost always take place for cases of sudden infant death. After this visit the 
lead police investigator, senior health care practitioner, GP, health visitor or school nurse 
and local authority children’s social care representative should consider whether there is 
any information to raise concerns that neglect or abuse contributed to the child’s death. 

30. If there is a criminal investigation, the team of practitioners must consult the lead 
police investigator and the Crown Prosecution Service to ensure that their enquiries do 
not prejudice any criminal proceedings. If the child dies in custody, there will be an 
investigation by the Prisons and Probation Ombudsman (or by the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission in the case of police custody). Organisations who worked with 
the child will be required to co-operate with that investigation. 

31. The Prisons and Probation Ombudsman will carry out an investigation for any 
child who dies in a secure children’s home. In order to assist the Ombudsman to carry 
out these investigations, secure children’s homes are required to notify the Ombudsman 
of the death and to comply with requirements at regulation 40(2) of the Children’s Homes 
(England) Regulations 2015 to facilitate that investigation. 

32. Where a coroner is carrying out an investigation of a child's death, practitioners 
and organisations who are involved in the child death review process must co-operate 
with the coroner and provide him/her with documentation relevant to the child’s death as 
requested. This should be informed by the child death review meeting and include a 
review of relevant information on the child from all involved agencies. This report should 
be delivered to the coroner as soon as possible after the death. 

Involving and supporting the family  
33. In all cases, regardless of the cause and circumstances of death, family members 
should be kept informed of what is being done in response to their child's death and any 
investigation taking place. They should be given the opportunity to contribute to the 
review process, have their views represented at the child death review meeting, and be 

Draft

106

Page 133



informed of the outcome of that meeting and any specific actions arising as a result of the 
wider child death review process. 

34. Families should be given a single, named point of contact who they can turn to for 
information on the processes following their child's death, and who can signpost them to 
sources of support. This person will usually be a healthcare practitioner who is familiar 
with the family. Criteria for this role are set out in the [placeholder -comprehensive child 
death review guidance]. 

 

Draft

107

Page 134



Appendix A: Glossary  

Item Definition 

Children  Anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday. The fact that a child 
has reached 16 years of age, is living independently or is in further 
education, is a member of the armed forces, is in hospital or in custody in 
the secure estate, does not change his/her status or entitlements to 
services or protection. 

Safeguarding 
and 
promoting 
the welfare of 
children  

Defined for the purposes of this guidance as: 

• protecting children from maltreatment 

• preventing impairment of children's health or development 

• ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent 
with the provision of safe and effective care 

• taking action to enable all children to have the best life chances  

Child 
protection  

Part of safeguarding and promoting welfare. This refers to the activity that 
is undertaken to protect specific children who are suffering, or are likely to 
suffer, significant harm.  

Abuse   A form of maltreatment of a child. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child 
by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children may be 
abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting by those 
known to them or, more rarely, by others (e.g. via the internet). They may 
be abused by an adult or adults, or another child or children.  

Physical 
abuse  

A form of abuse which may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, 
burning or scalding, drowning, suffocating or otherwise causing physical 
harm to a child. Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or 
carer fabricates the symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a 
child. 

Draft

108

Page 135



Item Definition 

Emotional 
abuse  

The persistent emotional maltreatment of a child such as to cause severe 
and persistent adverse effects on the child’s emotional development. It 
may involve conveying to a child that they are worthless or unloved, 
inadequate, or valued only insofar as they meet the needs of another 
person. It may include not giving the child opportunities to express their 
views, deliberately silencing them or ‘making fun’ of what they say or how 
they communicate. It may feature age or developmentally inappropriate 
expectations being imposed on children. These may include interactions 
that are beyond a child’s developmental capability, as well as 
overprotection and limitation of exploration and learning, or preventing the 
child participating in normal social interaction. It may involve seeing or 
hearing the ill-treatment of another. It may involve serious bullying 
(including cyber bullying), causing children frequently to feel frightened or 
in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of children. Some level of 
emotional abuse is involved in all types of maltreatment of a child, though 
it may occur alone.  

Sexual 
abuse 

Involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual 
activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence, whether or not 
the child is aware of what is happening. The activities may involve 
physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example, rape or 
oral sex) or non-penetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, rubbing 
and touching outside of clothing. They may also include non-contact 
activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, 
sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave 
in sexually inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for 
abuse (including via the internet). Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated 
by adult males. Women can also commit acts of sexual abuse, as can 
other children. 

Child sexual 
exploitation 

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where 
an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to 
coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 
into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or 
wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased status of the 
perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually exploited 
even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation 
does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the use 
of technology. 

Draft

109

Page 136



Item Definition 

Neglect  The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or psychological 
needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or 
development. Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal 
substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or 
carer failing to: 

• provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion 
from home or abandonment) 

• protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger 

• ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate care-
givers) 

• ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment 

It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s basic 
emotional needs. 

Extremism Extremism goes beyond terrorism and includes people who target the 
vulnerable – including the young – by seeking to sow division between 
communities on the basis of race, faith or denomination; justify 
discrimination towards women and girls; persuade others that minorities 
are inferior; or argue against the primacy of democracy and the rule of law 
in our society. 

Extremism is defined in the Counter Extremism Strategy 2015 as the vocal 
or active opposition to our fundamental values, including the rule of law, 
individual liberty and the mutual respect and tolerance of different faiths 
and beliefs. We also regard calls for the death of members of our armed 
forces as extremist.  

Young carer  A young carer is a person under 18 who provides or intends to provide 
care for another person (of any age, except generally where that care is 
provided for payment, pursuant to a contract or as voluntary work).  

Parent carer  A person aged 18 or over who provides or intends to provide care for a 
disabled child for whom the person has parental responsibility.  

Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan  

A single plan, which covers the education, health and social care needs 
of a child or young person with special educational needs and/or a 
disability (SEND). See the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Code of Practice 0-25 (2014).  

  

Draft

110

Page 137



Appendix B: Statutory framework  
The legislation relevant to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is set out 
below. 

Children Act 2004  
Section 10 requires each local authority to make arrangements to promote co-operation 
between the authority, each of the authority’s relevant partners (see Table A) and such 
other persons or bodies who exercise functions or are engaged in activities in relation to 
children in the local authority’s area as the authority considers appropriate. The 
arrangements are to be made with a view to improving the wellbeing of children in the 
authority’s area – which includes protection from harm and neglect alongside other 
outcomes.  

Section 11 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals (see Table A) to 
make arrangements for ensuring that their functions, and any services that they contract 
out to others, are discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children85.  

Sections 13 to 16 have been repealed.   

Sections 16A -16D  

Under 16A, the Secretary of State must establish the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
Panel (the Panel). The Panel’s functions under 16B are to identify serious child 
safeguarding cases which raise issues that are complex or of national importance and to 
arrange, where appropriate, for those cases to be reviewed under their supervision. The 
reviews will seek to identify improvements required to safeguard and promote the welfare 
of children. The National and Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review (England) 
Regulations [2018] set out the criteria the Panel must take into account when determining 
whether serious child safeguarding cases raise issues that are complex or of national 
importance, along with arrangements for national reviewers and reports. 16C places a 
duty on local authorities to notify the Panel of events where they know or suspect that a 
child has been abused or neglected and the child dies or is seriously harmed in the local 

85 Under section 55 of the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009, the Secretary of State (in 
practice, the UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Border Force) has a duty to 
make arrangements to ensure that functions relating to immigration, asylum, nationality and customs, and 
any services that are contracted out to others in relation to such functions, are discharged or provided with 
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children who are in the United Kingdom. 
Section 55 is intended to have the same effect as section 11 of the Children Act 2004.  

 

Draft

111

Page 138



authority’s area, or dies or is seriously harmed outside England while normally resident in 
the local authority’s area. 16D requires persons or bodies to supply information to the 
Panel, a reviewer or another person or body to enable the Panel to carry out its functions. 
The person or body to whom a request is made must comply with the request. The Panel 
may enforce such a request by making an application to the High Court or the county 
court for an injunction. 

Sections 16E-K establish the roles and responsibilities of safeguarding partners.  

Section 16E defines ‘safeguarding partners’ as the local authority, a clinical 
commissioning group and the chief officer of police within the local authority area; and a 
‘relevant agency’ as a person who is specified in the Local Safeguarding Partner 
(Relevant Agencies) (England) Regulations [2018] and exercises functions in relation to 
children within the area. It also requires safeguarding partners to make arrangements for 
themselves (and relevant agencies they consider appropriate) to work together in 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in their area. This must include 
arrangements to identify and respond to the needs of children in the area.  

Section 16F requires local safeguarding partners for a local authority area to make 
arrangements to identify serious child safeguarding cases which raise issues of 
importance in relation to the area, and where appropriate, for those cases to be reviewed 
under their supervision. The purpose of these reviews is to identify improvements which 
should be made locally to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The National 
and Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review (England) Regulations [2018] set out the 
criteria the safeguarding partners must take into account when determining whether 
serious child safeguarding cases raise issues of importance in relation to the area, along 
with arrangements for local reviewers and reports. 

Section 16G requires safeguarding partners to publish their arrangements, and to ensure 
scrutiny of how effective the arrangements have been by an independent person. It 
places a duty on safeguarding partners and the specified relevant agencies to act in 
accordance with the published arrangements; and enables the Secretary of State to 
make regulations which provide for enforcement of this duty if necessary. It also requires 
the safeguarding partners to prepare and publish, at least once in every 12 month period, 
a report on the work that they have done as a result of their arrangements, and how 
effective the arrangements have been in practice.  

Section 16H sets out the requirement for persons or bodies to supply (on request) 
information to the safeguarding partners for the purpose of enabling or assisting the 
performance of their work. When a recipient does not comply with such a request, a 
safeguarding partner may apply for a High Court or county court injunction to enforce it. 

Draft

112

Page 139



Section 16I allows the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies to fund their 
arrangements by making payments towards expenditure incurred in connection with the 
arrangements; and to supply resources to support the arrangements which may include 
(for example) staff, goods, services or accommodation. 

Section 16J enables the safeguarding partners for two or more local authority areas to 
agree that their areas are to be treated as a single area; and if so, for safeguarding 
partners in those areas to arrange for one of them to carry out safeguarding partner 
functions on behalf of the other. 

Section 16K specifies that the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies for a local 
authority area in England must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of 
State in connection with their functions. 

Sections 16M-P establish the roles and responsibilities of child death review partners. 
Section 16Q defines ‘child death review partners’ as the local authority and any clinical 
commissioning group for the local authority area.  

Section 16M sets out the requirement on child death review partners to make 
arrangements for the review of each death of a child normally resident in the area, or if 
they deem it appropriate, a child who is not normally resident. It also requires the 
partners to make arrangements for the analysis of information gathered by their reviews. 
This section sets out that where partners identify that it would be appropriate for 
someone to take action in relation to matters identified in their review, they must inform 
the relevant people. It also requires that child death review partners must prepare and 
publish reports on what they have done as result of their arrangements, and how 
effective the arrangements have been.  

Section 16N sets out the requirement for persons or bodies to supply (on request) 
information to the child death review partners for the purpose of enabling or assisting the 
performance of their work. When a recipient does not comply with such a request, a child 
death review partner may apply for a High Court or county court injunction to enforce it. 

Section 16O allows child death review partners to fund their arrangements by making 
payments towards expenditure incurred in connection with the arrangements; and to 
supply resources to support the arrangements which may include (for example) staff, 
goods, services or accommodation. 

Section 16P enables child death review partners for two or more local authority areas in 
England to agree that their areas are to be treated as a single area. If so, those 
authorities may arrange for one of them to carry out child death review functions on 
behalf of the other 

Draft

113

Page 140



Education Acts  
Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 places a duty on:  

a) local authorities in relation to their education functions; and  

b) the governing bodies of maintained schools and the governing bodies of 
further education institutions (which include sixth-form colleges) in relation to 
their functions relating to the conduct of the school or the institution.  

to make arrangements for ensuring that such functions are exercised with a view to 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children (in the case of the school or 
institution, being those children who are either pupils at the school or who are students 
under 18 years of age attending the further education institution).  

A similar duty applies to proprietors of independent schools (which include 
academies/free schools) by virtue of regulations made under sections 94(1) and (2) of the 
Education and Skills Act 2008.  

Regulations made under Section 342 of the Education Act 1996, set out the requirements 
for a non-maintained special school to be approved and continue to be approved by the 
Secretary of State. It is a condition of approval and continuing approval that 
arrangements must be in place for safeguarding and promoting the health, safety and 
welfare of pupils and when making such arrangements, the proprietor of the school must 
have regard to any relevant guidance published by the Secretary of State.  

Children Act 1989  
The Children Act 1989 places a duty on local authorities to promote and safeguard the 
welfare of children in need in their area.  

Provision of services for children in need, their families and 
others  

Section 17(1) states that it shall be the general duty of every local authority:  

(a) to safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are 
in need; and  

(b) so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of such 
children by their families.  

by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs.  

Draft

114

Page 141



Section 17(5) enables the local authority to make arrangements with others to provide 
services on their behalf and states that every local authority:  

(a) shall facilitate the provision by others (including in particular voluntary 
organisations) of services which it is a function of the authority to provide by virtue 
of this section, or section 18, 20, 22A to 22C, 23B to 23D, 24A or 24B; and  

(b) may make such arrangements as they see fit for any person to act on their 
behalf in the provision of any such service.  

Section 17(10) states that a child shall be taken to be in need if:  

(a) the child is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or to have the opportunity of 
achieving or maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or development 
without the provision of services by a local authority under Part III of the 
Children Act 1989;  

(b) the child’s health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or 
further impaired, without the provision of such services; or  

(c) the child is disabled.  

Under section 17, local authorities have responsibility for determining what services 
should be provided to a child in need. This does not necessarily require local authorities 
themselves to be the provider of such services.   

Provisions relating to young carers and parent carers have been inserted into Part 3 of 
the Children Act 1989 by sections 96 and 97 of the Children and Families Act 2014. 
These provisions are expected to come into force on 1 April 2015.  

Section 17ZA states that a local authority in England must assess whether a young carer 
within their area has needs for support and, if so, what those needs are. This is either 
where:  

(a) it appears to the authority that the young carer may have needs for support; 
or  

(b) the authority receives a request from the young carer or a parent of the 
young carer to assess the young carer’s needs for support.  

Section 17ZC requires a local authority that carries out a young carer’s needs 
assessment to consider the assessment and decide –  

(a) whether the young carer has needs for support in relation to the care which 
he or she provides or intends to provide;   

Draft

115

Page 142



(b) if so, whether those needs could be satisfied (wholly or partly) by services 
which the authority may provide under section 17; and  

(c) if they could be so satisfied, whether or not to provide any such services in 
relation to the young carer.  

Section 17ZD states that a local authority in England must assess whether a parent carer 
of a disabled child who lives within their area has needs for support and, if so, what those 
needs are, if:  

(a) it appears to the authority that the parent carer may have needs for support; 
or  

(b) the authority receive a request from the parent carer to assess the parent 
carer’s needs for support; and  

(c) the local authority is satisfied that the disabled child cared for and the 
disabled child’s family are persons for whom they may provide or arrange for the 
provision of services under section 17 of the Act.  

The local authority need not carry out a young carer’s assessment (under section 17ZA) 
or a parent carer’s assessment (under section 17ZD) if the local authority has previously 
carried out a care-related assessment of the young carer/parent carer in relation to the 
same person cared for, unless it appears to the authority that the needs or circumstances 
of the young carer/parent carer or the person they care for have changed since the last 
care-related assessment.   

Section 17ZF requires the local authority that carries out a parent carer’s needs 
assessment to consider the assessment and decide:  

(a) whether the parent carer has needs for support in relation to the care they provide; 

(b) whether the disabled child cared for has needs for support;   

(c) whether any needs identified could be satisfied (wholly or partly) by 
services which the authority may provide under section 17 of the Act; and  

(d) whether or not to provide any such services in relation to the parent carer or 
the disabled child cared for.  

Co-operation between authorities  
Section 27 imposes a duty on other local authorities, local authority housing services and 
health bodies (see Table A) to co-operate with a local authority in the exercise of that 

Draft

116

Page 143



authority’s duties under Part 3 of the Act which relate to local authority support for 
children and families. Where it appears to a local authority that any authority or body 
mentioned in section 27(3) could, by taking any specified action, help in the exercise of 
any of their functions under Part 3 of the Act, they may request the help of that other 
authority or body, specifying the action in question. An authority or body whose help is so 
requested must comply with the request if it is compatible with their own statutory or other 
duties and obligations and does not unduly prejudice the discharge of any of their 
functions. The authorities are:  

(a) any local authority;  

(b) any local housing authority;  

(c) NHS England;   

(d) any clinical commissioning group, Special Health Authority National Health  

Service Trust or NHS Foundation Trust; and  

(e) any person authorised by the Secretary of State for the purpose of section 
27.  

Section 47(1) states that:  

Where a local authority:  

(a) are informed that a child who lives, or is found, in their area (i) is the subject 
of an emergency protection order, or (ii) is in police protection; or   

(b) have reasonable cause to suspect that a child who lives, or is found, in their 
area is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant harm:  

the authority must make, or cause to be made, such enquires as they consider necessary 
to enable them to decide whether they should take any action to safeguard or promote 
the child’s welfare.  

Section 47(9) places a duty on persons mentioned in section 47(11) (see Table A) where 
a local authority is conducting enquiries under section 47, to assist them with these 
enquiries (in particular by providing relevant information and advice) if called upon by the 
local authority to do so. Both section 17 and section 47 of the Children Act 1989, to 
require in each case that in order to help it to determine what services to provide or what 
action to take, the local authority must, so far as is reasonably practicable and consistent 
with the child’s welfare:  

Draft

117

Page 144



(a) ascertain the child’s wishes and feelings regarding the provision of those 
services or the action to be taken; and  

(b) give due consideration (with regard to the child’s age and understanding) to 
such wishes and feelings of the child as they have been able to ascertain.  

Emergency protection powers  
The court may make an emergency protection order with respect to a child under section 
44 of the Children Act 1989 on application by any person, if it is satisfied that there is 
reasonable cause to believe that a child is likely to suffer significant harm if the child:  

• is not removed to different accommodation (provided by or on behalf of the 
applicant); or  

• does not remain in the place in which the child is then being 
accommodated.  

An emergency protection order may also be made by the court on the application of a 
local authority or an authorised person (i.e. a person authorised to apply to the court for 
care orders or supervision orders under section 31 of the Act) if the court is satisfied that:  

• enquires being made with respect to the child (in the case of a local 
authority, under section 47 (1) (b) of the Act) are being frustrated by access to the 
child being unreasonably refused to a person authorised to seek access, and  

• the applicant has reasonable cause to believe that access is needed as a 
matter of urgency.  

In addition, where the applicant is an authorised person the court must be satisfied that 
the applicant has reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to 
suffer, significant harm.  

An emergency protection order gives authority to remove a child to accommodation 
provided by or on behalf of the applicant and place the child under the protection of the 
applicant, amongst other things.  

Exclusion requirement  
The court may include an exclusion requirement in an interim care order or emergency 
protection order (section 38A and 44A of the Children Act 1989). This allows a 
perpetrator to be removed from or be prohibited entrance to the home or to be excluded 

Draft

118

Page 145



from a defined area in which the home is situated, instead of having to remove the child 
form the home. The court must be satisfied that:  

• there is reasonable cause to believe that if the person is excluded from the 
home in which the child lives, the child will not be likely to suffer significant harm, 
or that enquiries will cease to be frustrated; and  

• another person living in the home is able and willing to give the child the 
care that it would be reasonable to expect a parent to give, and consents to the 
inclusion of an exclusion requirement in the relevant order.  

Police protection powers  
Under section 46 of the Children Act 1989, where a police officer has reasonable cause 
to believe that a child would otherwise be likely to suffer significant harm, the officer may:  

• remove the child to suitable accommodation and keep him there; or  

• take reasonable steps to ensure that the child’s removal from any hospital 
or other place in which the child is then being accommodated is prevented.  

No child may be kept in police protection for more than 72 hours.  

Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012   
Under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (LASPOA), all 
children remanded in criminal proceedings will be looked-after. Children may be 
remanded to accommodation provided by the local authority or to youth detention 
accommodation (YDA). The authority responsible for a child who becomes looked-after 
following remand is usually the one where the child normally lives, but where there is a 
doubt about this the court may initially determine which authority should be designated as 
being responsible for the child’s care.  

Where a child is remanded to local authority accommodation, the local authority’s care 
planning responsibilities will be the same as for any other looked-after child (though 
authorities are not required to produce a “plan for permanence” for this group of children). 
Where a child, including a child already looked-after, is remanded to YDA, the local 
authority will be required to produce a Detention Placement Plan, describing the 
arrangements for responding to the child’s needs whilst they are detained. The Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010, as amended, take LASPOA 
into account.  

Draft

119

Page 146



Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011  
Section 1 (8)(h) requires the police and crime commissioner for a police area to hold the 
relevant chief constable to account for the exercise of the latter’s duties in relation to 
safeguarding children and promoting their welfare under sections 10 and 11 of the 
Children Act 2004.  

Childcare Act 2006  
Section 40 requires early years providers registered on the Early Years Register and 
schools providing early years childcare to comply with the welfare requirements of the 
Early Years Foundation Stage.  

Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
Section 38 requires local authorities, acting in co-operation with certain persons 
(including every Chief Police Officer or local policing body whose area lies within that of 
the local authority, clinical commissioning groups and providers of probation services), to 
such extent as is appropriate for their area, to secure that youth justice services are 
available in their area, such services to include the provision of persons to act as 
appropriate adults to safeguard the interests of children and young persons detained or 
questioned by police officers.   

Housing Act 1996  
Section 213A requires housing authorities to refer to adult social care services persons 
with whom children normally reside or might reasonably be expected to reside, who they 
have reason to believe may be ineligible for assistance, or who may be homeless and 
may have become so intentionally or who may be threatened with homelessness 
intentionally, as long as the person consents. If homelessness persists, any child in the 
family could be in need. In such cases, if social services decide the child’s needs would 
be best met by helping the family to obtain accommodation, they can ask the housing 
authority for reasonable advice and assistance in this, and the housing authority must 
give reasonable advice and assistance.  

Draft

120

Page 147



Table A: Bodies and individuals covered by key duties  

Body  CA 2004  
Section 10 - 
duty to co-
operate  

CA 2004  
Section 11 - 
duty to  
safeguard &  

promote 
welfare  

Education  
Legislation - duty 
to  
safeguard & 
promote welfare   

CA 1989  
Section 27 - 
help with  
children in 
need  

CA 1989  
Section 47 - 
help with  
enquiries 
about  
significant 
harm  

Local authorities and 
District councils  

X  X  X  

In relation to their 
education  
functions under  
section 175 of the 
Education Act  
2002  

X  

(including 
local  
housing 
authority)  

X  

(including 
local housing 
authority)  

Local policing body  X  X       

Chief officer of police  X  X        

SoS re probation 
services’ functions  
under s2 and 3 of 
the Offender  
Management Act  
(OMA) 2007  

X  X  

(including  
Community  
Rehabilitation  
Companies  
(by virtue of 
contractual  
arrangements 
entered into 
with the SoS)  

      

Providers of 
probation services  
required under s3(2) 
OMA 2007 to act as 
relevant partner of a 
local authority  

X          

British Transport  
Police  

  X        

Draft

121

Page 148



Body  CA 2004  
Section 10 - 
duty to co-
operate  

CA 2004  
Section 11 - 
duty to  
safeguard &  

promote 
welfare  

Education  
Legislation - duty 
to  
safeguard & 
promote welfare   

CA 1989  
Section 27 - 
help with  
children in 
need  

CA 1989  
Section 47 - 
help with  
enquiries 
about  
significant 
harm  

National Crime  
Agency  

  X        

 UK Visas and  
Immigration,  
Immigration 
Enforcement and the 
Border Force  

     

Section 55 of 
the Borders,  
Citizenship and  
Immigration  
Act 2009 
applies same 
duty as section 
11  

      

Governor or director 
of prison (which  
ordinarily detains  
children) or secure  
training centre (and  
principal of secure 
college)  

  X        

Youth offending 
services  

X  X        

 NHS England  X  X    X  X  

Clinical  
commissioning 
groups  

X  X    X  X  

Special Health  
Authorities  

      X  X  

Draft

122

Page 149



Body  CA 2004  
Section 10 - 
duty to co-
operate  

CA 2004  
Section 11 - 
duty to  
safeguard &  

promote 
welfare  

Education  
Legislation - duty 
to  
safeguard & 
promote welfare   

CA 1989  
Section 27 - 
help with  
children in 
need  

CA 1989  
Section 47 - 
help with  
enquiries 
about  
significant 
harm  

NHS Trusts and  
NHS Foundation  
Trusts  

  X    X  X  

Cafcass            

Persons providing 
services pursuant to 
section 68 of the  
Education and Skills  
Act 2008   

X          

Persons providing 
services pursuant to 
section 74 of the  
Education and Skills  
Act 2008  

  X        

Maintained schools  X  

(includes non-
maintained 
special 
schools)  

  X  

under section 175  
of the Education 
Act 2002  
(maintained 
schools) & via  
regulations made  
under section 342  
of the Education  
Act 1996 (non-
maintained 
special schools)  

    

FE colleges  X    X  

under section 175  
of the Education  
Act 2002  

    

Draft

123

Page 150



Body  CA 2004  
Section 10 - 
duty to co-
operate  

CA 2004  
Section 11 - 
duty to  
safeguard &  

promote 
welfare  

Education  
Legislation - duty 
to  
safeguard & 
promote welfare   

CA 1989  
Section 27 - 
help with  
children in 
need  

CA 1989  
Section 47 - 
help with  
enquiries 
about  
significant 
harm  

Independent schools      X  

Via regulations 
made under  
sections 94(1) and 
(2) of the  
Education and  
Skills Act 2008  

    

Academies and free 
schools  

X    X  

Via regulations 
made under  
sections 94(1) and 
(2) of the  
Education and  
Skills Act 2008  

    

Contracted services 
including those  
provided by 
voluntary 
organisations  

  X        

 
 

 

Draft

124

Page 151



Appendix C: Further sources of information  

Supplementary guidance on particular safeguarding issues  

Department for Education guidance  

• Safeguarding children  

• Child sexual exploitation: definition and guide for practitioners  

• Safeguarding children who may have been trafficked Department for Education 
and Home Office 

• Care of unaccompanied and trafficked children  

• Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation Department for 
Education, Department of Health and Home Office  

• Mandatory reporting of female genital mutilation: procedural information 
Department for Education and Home Office 

• Child abuse linked to faith or belief: national action plan  

• Use of reasonable force in schools  

• Safeguarding Children in whom illness is fabricated or induced Department for 
Education, Department of Health and Home Office  

• Preventing and tackling bullying  

• Keeping children safe in education: for schools and colleges  

• Information sharing: advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services  

• National service framework: children, young people and maternity services 
Department of Health and Department for Education 

• What to do if you're worried a child is being abused: advice for practitioners   

• Non-Maintained Special Schools Regulations 2015  

• Knowledge and skills statements for child and family social work  

Draft

125

Page 152

https://www.gov.uk/topic/schools-colleges-childrens-services/safeguarding-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-sexual-exploitation-supplementary-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-sexual-exploitation-supplementary-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-who-may-have-been-trafficked-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-who-may-have-been-trafficked-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-of-unaccompanied-and-trafficked-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-genital-mutilation-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-genital-mutilation-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-reporting-of-female-genital-mutilation-procedural-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-action-plan-to-tackle-child-abuse-linked-to-faith-or-belief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-action-plan-to-tackle-child-abuse-linked-to-faith-or-belief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-in-whom-illness-is-fabricated-or-induced
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-in-whom-illness-is-fabricated-or-induced
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-tackling-bullying
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-safer-recruitment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-service-framework-children-young-people-and-maternity-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/non-maintained-special-schools-regulations-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/knowledge-and-skills-statements-for-child-and-family-social-work


• Statutory visits to children with special educational needs and disabilities or health 
conditions in long-term residential settings.  

• Early years (under 5s) foundation stage framework (EYFS) 

• Children who run away or go missing from home or care 

• Children Act 1989: care planning, placement and case review 

• Children Act 1989: court orders 

Guidance issued by other government departments and agencies  

• Forced marriage Foreign and Commonwealth Office and Home Office 

• Apply for a forced marriage protection order Foreign and Commonwealth Office 

• Violence against women and girls Home Office 

• Guidance for health professionals on domestic violence Department of Health  

• Supporting information for developing local joint protocols between drug and 
alcohol partnerships and children and family services Public Health England 

• Guidance on offences against children Home Office 

• Violence against Women and Children Department of Health  

• Arrangements to Safeguard and Promote Children’s Welfare (original title “Every 
Child Matters” statutory guidance to the UK Border Agency under s.55 of the 
Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009).  

• Good practice guidance on working with parents with a learning disability 
Department of Health 

• Circular 16/2005 - Guidance on offences against children Home Office  

• Advice to parents and carers on gangs Home Office 

• Disclosure and Barring Services Disclosure and Barring Service 

• DBS barring referral guidance Disclosure and Barring Service 

• Child protection and the Dental Team – an introduction to safeguarding children in 
dental practice British Dental Association 

Draft

126

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/apply-forced-marriage-protection-order
https://www.gov.uk/apply-forced-marriage-protection-order
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-in-the-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-in-the-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-health-professionals-on-domestic-violence
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-health-professionals-on-domestic-violence
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/safeguardingprotocol2013.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/safeguardingprotocol2013.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/safeguardingprotocol2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-offences-against-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-offences-against-children
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publichealth/ViolenceagainstWomenandChildren/index.htm
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publichealth/ViolenceagainstWomenandChildren/index.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080910224541/dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_075119
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080910224541/dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_075119
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-offences-against-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-offences-against-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-to-parents-and-carers-on-gangs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-referrals-guidance--2
http://www.cpdt.org.uk/
http://www.cpdt.org.uk/
http://www.cpdt.org.uk/


• Multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA) Ministry of Justice, National 
Offender Management Service and HM Prison Service 

• Prison, probation and rehabilitation: Public protection manual National Offender 
Management Service and HM Prison Service  

• Probation service guidance on conducting serious further offence reviews 
framework Ministry of Justice 

• Missing Children and Adults - A Cross Government Strategy Home Office 

• Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the carers strategy 2010 
Department of Health 

• Carers Strategy: the second national action plan 2014-2016 Department of Health 

• Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings: Guidance on interviewing 
victims and witnesses, and guidance on using special measures Ministry of Justice 

• Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice: Guidance on the visiting of psychiatric 
patients by children Department of Health 

• Modern slavery Act statutory guidance Home Office 

• Guidance to schools and colleges on gangs and youth violence Home Office 

• Advice to parents and carers on gangs Home Office 

• Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults: county lines Home Office 

• Handling cases of forced marriage: multi-agency practice guidelines Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office 

• Forced marriage Foreign and Commonwealth Office and Home Office 

• Radicalisation - Prevent strategy Home Office 

• Radicalisation - Channel guidance Home Office  

• Serious and Organised Crime Toolkit Home Office 

• Female Genital Mutilation Protection Orders: factsheet Home Office 

• Forced Marriage Protection Orders HM Courts and Tribunals Service 

Draft

127

Page 154

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-probation-and-rehabilitation-public-protection-manual
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/offenders/probation-instructions/pi-15-2014-review-procedure-for-serious-further-offences.doc
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/offenders/probation-instructions/pi-15-2014-review-procedure-for-serious-further-offences.doc
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/offenders/probation-instructions/pi-15-2014-review-procedure-for-serious-further-offences.doc
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children-and-adults-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children-and-adults-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-strategy-actions-for-2014-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-strategy-actions-for-2014-to-2016
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4012153.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4012153.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4012153.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/modern-slavery
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-to-schools-and-colleges-on-gangs-and-youth-violence
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-to-parents-and-carers-on-gangs
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/handling-cases-of-forced-marriage-multi-agency-practice-guidelines-english
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
http://infed.org/mobi/soctoolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-protection-orders-factsheet
https://formfinder.hmctsformfinder.justice.gov.uk/fl701-eng.pdf


• Understanding the female genital mutilation enhanced dataset: updated guidance 
and clarification to support implementation Department of Health 

• Indecent images of children guidance for young people Home Office 

• Cyber Aware Home Office and Department of Culture, Media & Sport  

• Thinkuknow National Crime Agency 

• Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre National Crime Agency 

• AssetPlus: assessment and planning in the youth justice system Youth Justice 
Board 

• Safeguarding vulnerable people in the reformed NHS: Accountability and 
Assurance Framework NHS England 

• NHS England safeguarding Policy NHS England 

• Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the Carers Strategy November 
2010 Department of Health 

• Carers Strategy: Second National Action Plan 2014-2016 Department of Health 

• Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice: Guidance on the visiting of psychiatric 
patients by children Department of Health 

Guidance issued by external organisations   

• Improving the quality and use of serious case reviews NSPCC 

• Private fostering CoramBAAF 

• Safeguarding children and young people: roles and competences for health care 
staff - Intercollegiate document, March 2014 Royal College of Paediatrics and 
Child Health 

• Protecting children and young people: doctors' responsibilities General Medical 
Council 

• Safeguarding Children Toolkit for General Practice Royal College of General 
Practitioners 

• Standards for safeguarding and protecting children in sport NSPCC 

Draft

128

Page 155

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.gov.uk_government_publications_indecent-2Dimages-2Dof-2Dchildren-2Dguidance-2Dfor-2Dyoung-2Dpeople_indecent-2Dimages-2Dof-2Dchildren-2Dguidance-2Dfor-2Dyoung-2Dpeople&d=DQMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=Q9Rf44UUFEkxGhxdD3halW3I4T_-ka-Obbo9Pysln5o&m=39hxO8Mesy0eC4ZVhkj74hzk6jaRQ-M0fKIFCY_NjMw&s=km721Dth_Dfp1GEObo1PVqTqXQCNotVktJ2KmBTYWvo&e=
http://www.cyberaware.gov.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.ceop.police.uk/safetycentre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguard-policy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-strategy-actions-for-2014-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/435512/MHA_Code_of_Practice.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/435512/MHA_Code_of_Practice.PDF
http://www.nspcc.org.uk/lipp
http://www.privatefostering.org.uk/?gclid=CLvorZLL_qcCFUlkfAod9Tsatg
http://www.privatefostering.org.uk/?gclid=CLvorZLL_qcCFUlkfAod9Tsatg
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/asset_library/Education%20Department/Safeguarding/Safeguarding%20Children%20and%20Young%20people%202010G.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/asset_library/Education%20Department/Safeguarding/Safeguarding%20Children%20and%20Young%20people%202010G.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/asset_library/Education%20Department/Safeguarding/Safeguarding%20Children%20and%20Young%20people%202010G.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/asset_library/Education%20Department/Safeguarding/Safeguarding%20Children%20and%20Young%20people%202010G.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/asset_library/Education%20Department/Safeguarding/Safeguarding%20Children%20and%20Young%20people%202010G.pdf
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_guidance/13257.asp
http://www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_guidance/13257.asp
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/


• Looked-after children - Knowledge, skills and competences of health care staff 
Royal College of Nursing and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 

• Guidance on when to suspect child maltreatment NICE 

• Whistleblowing advice line NSPCC 

• NICE guideline on child abuse and neglect NICE 

• Child maltreatment: when to suspect maltreatment in under 18s NICE 

• Inter parental relationships Early Intervention Foundation 

• Sudden unexpected death in infancy and childhood: multi-agency guidelines for care 
and investigation Royal College of Pathologists 

Supplementary guidance to support the Learning and Improvement 
Framework 

• Guidance on Investigating Child Abuse and Safeguarding Children College of 
Policing and National Police Chief’s Council 

• Prison and Probation Ombudsman’s fatal incidents investigation  

 

  

Draft

129

Page 156

https://www.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/451342/RCN_and_RCPCH_LAC_competences_v1.0_WEB_Final.pdf
https://www.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/451342/RCN_and_RCPCH_LAC_competences_v1.0_WEB_Final.pdf
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG89/
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG89/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-you-can-do/report-abuse/dedicated-helplines/whistleblowing-advice-line/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng76
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG89/
http://www.eif.org.uk/inter-parental-relationships/
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
http://www.ceop.police.uk/Documents/ACPOGuidance2009.pdf
http://www.ceop.police.uk/Documents/ACPOGuidance2009.pdf
http://www.ppo.gov.uk/document/fii-report/
http://www.ppo.gov.uk/document/fii-report/


 

© Crown copyright 2018  

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any 
third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright 
holders concerned.  

To view this licence:  
Visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3  
Email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk  
write to  Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU  

About this publication: 
enquiries: www.education.gov.uk/contactus  
download www.gov.uk/government/publications  

 

  
Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk  

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

 

Draft

130

Page 157

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk


REPORT TO: 
 

Executive Board 

DATE: 
 

19 July 2018  

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director, People 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Children, Education and Social Care 
Health & Wellbeing 
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Everyone Early Help Strategy 2018-2021  
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough-wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To present the new Everyone Early Help strategy that combines 
children, adults and public health.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That 
 

1) The content of the strategy is discussed and comments 
invited; 

 
2) The Board agrees to support the implementation of the 

strategy. 
 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

Services to support children, families and vulnerable adults are 
facing unprecedented challenges. It is obvious that Early Help and 
Prevention services should make up the cornerstone of any delivery 
model. If low-level needs can be prevented (or delayed) from 
developing into more serious or acute needs then this is win-win.  
Effective, early help and prevention can not only increase 
independence, improve outcomes and the quality of life for 
individuals, but also provide a financial return to the Local Authority 
in the form of cost avoidance and a reduction in the use of more 
expensive, acute resources. 
 

3.2 
 

This transformation in thinking is about undertaking a whole system 
review of the approach to Early Help and Prevention, with a focus on 
increasing the resilience of communities and their potential to help 
themselves, supported by a planned prioritisation of resources, 
integration, collaboration, and understanding the benefits that Early 
Help can have on a wide range of longer term outcomes for 
everyone involved. 
 

Page 158 Agenda Item 4a



 Halton’s Approach 
 

3.3 
 

There is a long standing and strong commitment to early help and 
prevention across all agencies and strategic partners in Halton. 
Within Halton during 2016/2017 the council restructured to combine 
the adult and children directorate to create a People’s directorate. 
Both of the existing directorates had in place a prevention/ early 
intervention strategies but it was agreed to the creation of a new 
joint Early Help strategy that would sit across the new People 
Directorate. 
 

3.4 
 

In response to the range of national and local policy developments, 
this new strategy for Early Help represents a refresh of our approach 
and reflects our desire for an integrated approach to Early Help 
across children,’ adults and older people’s  services and public 
health as part of a whole Council approach. 
 

3.5 
 

Halton’s definition of “early help and prevention” across children’s 
and adults’ services and public health can be described as: 
 
“Supporting communities to prevent and reduce need at the 
earliest stage whilst taking targeted action as soon as possible 
to tackle emerging situations, where there is a risk of a person 
developing problems. Early intervention may occur at any point 
in a person’s life”. 
 

3.6 
 

Within the strategy there are five key aims  
 
1) More children and young people will lead healthy, safe lives and 

will be given the opportunity to access education and develop the 
skills, confidence and opportunities they need to achieve their full 
potential;  

2) More adults will have the support they need to live their lives as 
healthily, successfully, independently and safely as possible, with 
good timely access to health, mental health and social care 
services;  

3) Everyone will be given the opportunity to voice their opinions and 
experiences to ensure that services meet their individual needs;  

4) The best possible services will be provided within the resources 
we have, giving excellent value for the public. 

5) Our workforce will continue to thrive and work effectively to 
support each other and the community they serve, ensuring that 
we have a confident, competent, happy workforce. 

 
3.7 
 

Contained within the strategy there are 3 priorities that we are 
wanting all agencies to work towards to help further embedded early 
help principles.  
 
1) The right early help, in the right place at the right time. 
2) Ensuring a whole system approach to early help with strong 

Page 159



partnership working  
3) Empowering local people and communities to build capacity and 

resilience, to enable people and communities to do more for 
themselves. 

 
3.8 
 

This strategy is ensuring that we are all responsible for Early Help. 
The idea is to build upon people’s strengths at an early stage, so 
they are enabled with the support of family and friends to recognise 
when help is required. By tackling the root causes of a problem as 
early as possible, people are able to maintain their independence 
and general wellbeing longer and where necessary can self-refer to 
an appropriate person or service.  
 

3.9 We will expect to see that more individuals and families are 
empowered and enabled to take control of their lives, and they are 
supported in their local communities avoiding the need for services 
intervention. When there is service intervention we will expect to see 
the positive impact in a timely way with families reporting sustained 
improvement in their circumstances. 
 

3.10 Going forward we will focus on some key elements to assist with our 
early help offer these will be around improving information 
management and use of information technology, enhancing co-
ordination and timing of service delivery, enhancing approaches to 
whole household and/or family support and building resilience and 
community capacity.  
 

3.11 The development of a robust early help offer for children, young 
people, adults and families in Halton will prevent problems 
escalating and becoming entrenched and more complex. It will also 
lead to a reduction in the need for more costly, specialist and 
statutory services while preventing unnecessary trauma and 
emotional upheaval for families. 
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

There are no policy implications identified.  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

 None identified.  
 

  
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton  
 

Early help strategy directly relates to improving the safety and 
wellbeing of children and young people The document also support 
key elements within Halton’s Safeguarding and Children and Young 
People’s Plans. 

Page 160



 

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
 

There are no implications for Employment, Learning & Skills arising 
from this Report. 
 

6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 

Early Help Strategy supports the Council’s strategic priority of 
Improving Health. 
 

6.4 A Safer Halton 
 

There are no implications for Safer Halton arising from this Report. 
 

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

There are no implications for Urban Renewal arising from this 
Report. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 None  
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 None identified. 
 

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

 None. 
 

 

Page 161



 
 

1 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Strengthening our Communities  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Everyone Early Help 
Strategy 2018 - 2021 
 
 
 
 
Early Help For Everyone In Halton – Children, Young People, Adults, Families 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version Number Date Author  Review Date 

V11 June 2018 Clare Hunt September 2019 

 
 
 

Page 162



 
 

2 
 
 

 

 
 
Foreword 
 

1. Introduction  
 

2. Purpose and Aims of the Strategy 
 

3. Legislative Framework 
 

4. What do we mean by Early Help?  
 

5. Early Help in Halton 
 

5.1 Priorities  
5.2 Principles 
5.3 Early Help Stories   
 

6. Working Together  
 

7. Case for Change 
 

8. Halton’s approach  
 

9. How will we measure success in Halton? 
 

10. Conclusion  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



 
 

3 
 
 

 

FOREWORD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
Councillor Tom McInerney 
Lead Member Children, Education 
and Social Care  

 
I am pleased to introduce Halton’s Early 
Help Strategy. Effective Early Help is 
essential to improve the life chances of 
Halton’s children, young people and their 
families.  Although Halton, along with 
many other Local Authorities and our 
partner agencies, faces unprecedented 
financial pressures, we believe that a 
focus on support, prevention and early 
intervention will not only mean that we 
can overcome the current and future 
financial challenges but also, and more 
importantly, give people of all ages, the 
opportunity to take full advantage of 
everything that Halton and life has to 
offer. Our vision is to empower our 
children, young people, adults and 
families to become more resilient and 
less reliant to cope with the demands of 
life in the 21st century. Early Help is 
fundamental to achieving this vision. 
 

 

 
 
This Early Help Strategy is an enabling 

approach for all ages in Halton and it 

stresses the importance of different areas of 

social care, health and mental health 

working together with other agencies to 

improve the wellbeing of every individual. 

The Care Act (2014) highlighting the 

individual’s right to choice and 

independence combined with The Children 

& Family Act 2014 which has a focus on 

greater integration across health, social care 

and education underpin much of what we do 

already and is articulated in this Strategy 

through examples, of how individuals, 

families and communities can benefit from 

different teams pooling their ideas and 

resources to develop local priorities and 

deliver early help that can make a significant 

difference in people’s lives.  Our approach 

will provide children, young people, families 

and older people with a straightforward route 

to the services they need from their first 

contact with us and strike the right balance 

between specialist support, targeted work to 

prevent issues getting worse and access to 

universal services that are open to all in our 

communities.  

This balance of provision is becoming ever 

more difficult to maintain as the challenging 

financial position of the public and voluntary 

sector continues.   This strategy is, 

therefore, an important document that will 

shape and guide the development of 

services by both the Council and its partners 

over the coming years and how we will work 

with you, as we all seek to ensure that 

Halton’s families are supported in providing 

their children with the best start in life and 

maximise the chances for their children to 

achieve in their schools and into adulthood 

and for older people to live independently 

and happily.  

 

Milorad Vasic 
Strategic Director 
People, Halton 
Borough Council 
 

Page 164



 
 

4 
 
 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 
There is a long standing and strong commitment to early help and prevention across 
all agencies and strategic partners in Halton. The majority of people, irrespective of 
their individual circumstances want to live a fulfilling and where possible active life. 
They also want to stay healthy for as long as possible while remaining a valued part 
of the community and able to play a part. Halton fully supports this view. It 
recognises that by addressing needs and the root causes of a problem at an early 
stage, individuals and families can be supported to cope better and achieve their 
own future potential.  
In response to a range of national and local policy developments, this new strategy 
for Early Help represents a refresh of our approach and reflects our desire for an 
integrated approach to Early Help across children,’ adults and older people’s  
services and public health as part of a whole Council approach. 
 
This strategy aims to build upon the good practice and existing strategies from early 
help and prevention which already exists in Halton. We will use these foundations to 
establish a new ‘Everyone’ Early Help Strategy that is firmly embedded within the 
main relevant legislative acts for children and adults. Throughout this document the 
term ‘Adult’ is defined within the meaning of the Care Act (a person aged 18 or over 
and which also includes ‘older people’ - aged 55+). 

 
Whilst the Early Help services in the People’s Directorate of the Council has a key 
role in the provision of early help services by taking a lead in the delivery and 
commissioning of services; it also has a role as a partner working collaboratively and 
co-operatively within a system of services from the statutory, voluntary and 
community sector. In addition, as a facilitator it helps to build capacity and 
confidence among young people, adults and families within Halton as well as the 
wider partnership.  
 
The main benefits of early help approaches include identifying and promoting 
protective factors at an early stage and as a result prevent negative outcomes 
developing. The overall aim is to support people to maximise their potential, and as a 
consequence, enjoy a better quality of life. Early help approaches are often 
‘enabling’: equipping individuals and communities with the tools to succeed, rather 
than interventions being imposed upon them. Asset based approaches, being 
introduced in communities in Halton will foster self-reliance and resilience rather than 
dependency. 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



 
 

5 
 
 

 

 

2. PURPOSE AND AIMS OF STRATEGY  

 
In Halton we see a focus on early help as fundamental in tackling the root causes of 
problems as soon as they arise; this is critical to improving people’s quality of life 
throughout each life stage. We want to break down intergenerational cycles of 
deprivation and poor outcomes, prevent problems from escalating and reduce the 
need for the involvement of statutory services. Early Help is an overarching 
philosophy that that should influence all strategies in Halton. The aim of the strategy 
is to achieve much better outcomes for local people of all ages and their families.  
 
In doing so, we will be promoting better outcomes for the people of Halton and the 
communities which are an integral part of their identity. We want to help to ensure 
that we reduce avoidable spending on acute services where early help would have 
prevented, decreased or delayed the need for them, and hence provide better value 
for public money. 
 
The strategy outlines our intentions and approach to ensure early help is understood, 
accessible and firmly embedded within the working practices of all agencies, 
promoting lifetime and whole-family planning to deliver effective early help in Halton. 
 
We want to empower our children, young people, adults and families to become 
more resilient and less reliant. 
 
 

2.1 Aims  

 
These aims set out our aspirations in broad terms. Further detail will be in the action 
plans that are currently being developed. By 2021 in Halton: 
 

1. More children and young people will lead healthy, safe lives and will be given 
the opportunity to access education and develop the skills, confidence and 
opportunities they need to achieve their full potential;  

2. More adults will have the support they need to live their lives as healthily, 
successfully, independently and safely as possible, with good timely access to 
health, mental health and social care services;  

3. Everyone will be given the opportunity to voice their opinions and experiences 
to ensure that services meet their individual needs;  

4. The best possible services will be provided within the resources we have, giving 
excellent value for the public. 

5. Our workforce will continue to thrive and work effectively to support each other 
and the community they serve, ensuring that we have a confident, competent, 
happy workforce.  

 
 

 

Page 166



 
 

6 
 
 

 

3. LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 
 
The recent changes in legislation have reinforced the need to consider the needs of 
all individuals regardless of age and their families.  
 
The Children & Family Act 2014 sets out a range of new responsibilities including 
the promotion of greater integration across education, health and social care. This 
focus on joint approaches to deliver integrated and personalised care provides a 
fresh impetus on achieving together the outcomes that matter to children, young 
people and their families. The act requires particular attention to be given to: 
 

 Prevention 

 Early identification 

 Access 

 Transition across life stages, and 

 Preparation for adult life. 
 

Also important to Early Intervention and Prevention work for children are the Children 
Act 1989 and 2004; the Ofsted single inspection framework; the thematic Ofsted 
framework; the Ofsted Children’s Centre inspection framework; and the new Ofsted 
SEND inspection framework. 
 
The Care Act 2014 highlights the requirement of effective person-centred planning 
to help intervene at the earliest possible stage. It states “It is critical to the ethos of 
the Care Act that the care and support system works to actively promote wellbeing 
and independence, and does not just wait to respond when people reach a crisis 
point.” To meet the challenges of the future, it will be vital that the care and support 
system intervenes early to support individuals, helps people retain or regain their 
skills and confidence, prevents need or delays and deterioration wherever possible”. 
 

According to the Care Act 2014 the most important part of adult care and support is 
to help people achieve those outcomes that are important and matter most to them 
in their life. This means that Halton, when carrying out its care and support functions 
for any person, must always promote that person’s wellbeing. This idea of wellbeing 
covers many areas but can be summarised as follows: 

 remain mentally and physically healthy  

 maintain dignity stay safe and be in control 

 enjoy, achieve and remain socially connected  

 have a suitable home  

 avoid financial and domestic troubles   
  

Page 167



 
 

7 
 
 

 

4. WHAT DO WE MEAN BY EARLY HELP? 
 

Early help aims to give people who are experiencing difficulty at any point in their 
lives the help they need as early as possible. It also supports individuals, families 
and communities to do more for themselves. People are no-longer considered 
passive recipients of care. Instead, they are actively involved and encouraged to 
adopt a ‘can do’ approach in tackling many of their own problems. This reduces 
dependency, but stresses independence and self-referral as means of accessing 
early support when needed. 
 
In Halton, all agencies working with children or adults recognise that prevention and 
earlier intervention are more successful and cost effective than later or more formal 
interventions. We are all engaged to a greater or lesser extent in work that seeks to 
prevent the escalation of difficulties or the deterioration of circumstances which could 
adversely affect people at any age. 
 
Halton’s definition of “early help and prevention” across children’s and adults’ 
services and public health can be described as: 
 
“Supporting communities to prevent and reduce need at the earliest stage 
whilst taking targeted action as soon as possible to tackle emerging 
situations, where there is a risk of a person developing problems. Early 
intervention may occur at any point in a person’s life”. 
 

By early help we mean the targeted action that we take to prevent the 
development or escalation of problems. This definition importantly includes both help 
provided early in life (with young children, including pre-birth interventions) as well 
as the help delivered early in the development of a problem (with any person, 
regardless of age). 
 
Who is responsible? 

Everyone is responsible. The idea is to build upon people’s strengths at an early 
stage, so they are enabled with the support of family and friends to recognise when 
help is required. By tackling the root causes of a problem as early as possible, 
people are able to maintain their independence and general wellbeing longer and 
where necessary can self-refer to an appropriate person or service.  

For this to work effectively, a number of different groups involving public, private, 
voluntary and community have to work together to ensure the appropriate support is 
made available at the right time and in the right place. 

Specifically in relation to children’s services, Munro (2011) outlines three levels of 
prevention: primary, secondary and tertiary. Focussed more on adults, the Care Act 
2014 provides a similar categorisation using the language of prevent, reduce and 
delay. 
 

This definition highlights the importance of early intervention in improving outcomes 

for people. The dual aspects of better life chances and improved value for money are 

Page 168



 
 

8 
 
 

 

fundamental. In addition to this overarching definition, the Partnership recognises a 

continuum of prevention, ranging from:  

 ‘primary’ or ‘upstream’ approaches (including whole population approaches 

and/or services and interventions for people with lower level needs)  

 through ‘secondary’ approaches – typically those directed at people with 

emerging needs, in an attempt to stop these getting worse; and finally  

 ‘tertiary’ or ‘downstream’ approaches to prevention, usually targeted at people 

with a range of complex needs and/or more pronounced ill-health, focused on 

maintaining stability and preventing deterioration for as long as possible.  

The diagram shows how both the principles of “Prevent, Reduce, Delay” interrelates 

with Primary, Secondary and Tertiary Prevention, so that whether we are talking of 

children’s or adults’ services, we have a clear framework to describe early help in 

Halton. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The table below summarises the different levels of prevention to help agencies to 

describe their contribution across three levels. 

Primary Prevention: 
Prevent 

Secondary Prevention: 
Reduce 

Tertiary Prevention: 
Delay 

Preventing the 
occurrence of problems 

Preventing problem 
escalation 

Reducing the severity of 
problems 

Early Help is taken at the level of 
the whole population in order to 
prevent the development of risk 
factors. At this universal level 
agencies build resilience across 
the population. Informal and 
formal education, awareness 
raising, helps to strengthen the 
support communities provide for 
local people. 

At this level agencies will 
intervene early with individuals 
who have existing risk factors, 
vulnerabilities or acknowledged 
additional needs to ensure that 
problems are halted and do not 
become either more significant 
or entrenched. 

At this level agencies work with 
individuals to tackle more complex 
problems to reduce the severity of 
those problems that have already 
emerged and reduce or delay the 
need for the involvement of more 
specialist services. This includes 
individuals, children, young people 
and families in crisis and on the 
edge of family breakdown. 

 

 

Page 169



 
 

9 
 
 

 

HALTON’S LEVELS OF NEED FOR CHILDREN  

It is important that there is a clear understanding of where early help fits into the 

‘threshold of need’ for children and that it is used appropriately by all partners.  The 

diagram below illustrates this relationship it provides a continuum of needs of all 

children and their families in Halton. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What we do with children and young people now will have an impact and future 

savings for the adult population and the community. For example, social and 

emotional foundations in the early years, capable and confident parenting amongst 

vulnerable families, healthy lifestyles and good education experiences set during the 

primary and secondary school years can determine positive outcomes throughout 

the life course. It can also tackle the costly consequences of issues such as school 

exclusions and unemployment in later years. 

 

 

 

Page 170



 
 

10 
 
 

 

EARLY HELP IN HALTON 

 
Halton’s strategy is made up of three elements:  
 

 a set of shared early help priorities to support the shift to early help,  

 a set of early help principles to inform the borough partners’ work on early 

help 

 a selection of early help ‘stories’, that help to illustrate some of the real 

benefits of effective early help to individuals, families and communities. 

 

5.1 SETTING OUR PRIORITIES FOR 2018–2021 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment uses all available data and information to 
assess the current and future health and wellbeing needs of our local residents and 
communities. Such information is used to inform how resources are allocated across 
the borough in accordance with identified needs, ensuring the best possible health 
and wellbeing outcomes are achieved whilst also reducing health inequalities. 

The following diagram provides an overview of the key findings from the most recent 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and other intelligence sources. The diagram 
reflects some common risk factors associated with the need for early help. 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



 
 

11 
 
 

 

Priority 1 

The right early help, in the right place at the right time. 

 

Outcome 

Individual’s families and communities are self-aware, able to identify when they need 
support, and engage appropriate services to maintain their independence and overall 
wellbeing. 

 

We will: 

 Ensure whole system early help pathways are developed which are clearly 
understood and embedded in practice. 

 Work with all agencies to put in place a workforce development plan to 
provide a whole system workforce response to our early help offer. 

 Embed an outcome-focussed approach, ensuring that we can demonstrate 
the impact and difference made to, and in partnership with, our communities 
through the delivery of a whole system early help offer. 
 

What difference will it make?  

 People in Halton will know what advice and support is available to them and 
their families. This will help them respond to problems or needs arising due to 
changing circumstances. 

 They will know where and who to go to for support, and what to expect. 

 People will be able to deal with issues or problems before they become more 
severe or complicated. They will be independent and resilient enough to 
support themselves in the longer term, appropriate to their particular needs. 

 

Priority 2  

Ensuring a whole system approach to early help with strong partnership working  

 

Outcome 

Mature and adaptive partnerships which have shared ownership and accountability 
for the delivery of an effective early help offer. 

 

We will: 

 Embed a shared understanding and commitment of the ‘everyone early help’ 
offer. 

 Ensure that all learning across the early help spectrum is shared to celebrate 
successes, but also learn from areas of improvement. 

 Ensure that Early Help is not seen as something at the periphery of service 
design and delivery, but is embedded as mainstream. 

 
 
 

Page 172



 
 

12 
 
 

 

What difference will it make?  

 Service Providers will work together to minimise duplication, share knowledge 
about services available, and ensure that vulnerable people don’t fall through 
gaps in processes.  

 

Priority 3 

Empowering local people and communities to build capacity and resilience, to enable 
people and communities to do more for themselves. 

 

Outcome 

Strong, connected communities supporting themselves and each other to lead happy 
and fulfilling lives, thereby reducing the demand on statutory services. 

 

We will: 

 Ensure that the premise of early help is underpinned by an asset-based 
approach to community development and resilience. 

 Enable individuals, families and communities to self-help, and access services 
independently through maximising the use of technology, ensuring everyone 
is well informed about the service and support available. 

 Promote independence by encouraging and enabling individuals to maintain a 
good quality of life accessing provision in their communities (helping them to 
help themselves). 

 Recognise the need for strong connectivity with universal services to ensure 
people who need help are identified early, and effective step-up and step-
down practices are in place. 

 Ensure that the voice of the individual is at the centre of the early help offer, 
and individuals, families and communities are empowered to take control of 
their lives. 
 

What difference will it make?  

 People will have the knowledge and confidence to get involved or take a lead 
on community-based activities and projects, tailored to the skills and needs of 
their local areas. 

 People will feel enabled to be independent, but aware of how to seek support 
services when needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 
 

13 
 
 

 

 

Early Help Enablers 

To assist with the 3 highlighted priorities we recognise that we need to more in the 

following areas: 

 

 Improve Information Management and Use of Information Technology  

 Enhance Co-ordination and Timing of Service Delivery  

 Enhance approaches to Whole Household and/or Family Support  

 Building Resilience and Community Capacity  
 

We want to support individuals to make choices in their lives that enable them to 

achieve their full potential. Recognising that carers, staff and volunteers are an 

important part of delivering our vision, and must be valued and supported. 

Our purpose is to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Halton by 
empowering and supporting local people from the start to the end of their lives by 
preventing ill-health, promoting self-care and independence, arranging local, 
community-based support whenever possible and ensuring high-quality hospital 
services for those who need them.  

We will work with local people and with partner organisations including healthcare 
providers and the voluntary sector. This will ensure that the people of Halton 
experience smooth, co-ordinated, integrated and high-quality services to improve 
their health and wellbeing. 

The Council is working hard to maintain services with fewer resources and with 

further cuts expected, this will continue over the coming years. Our focus will be on 

prevention and independence and through making the most of universal and 

community based services to help young people, families and adults build, retain and 

recover skills. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



 
 

14 
 
 

 

 

5.2 Early Help Principles  

Our vision is underpinned by a number of early help principles; 
 

 Adopting strength based approaches using the strengths of individuals, 
families and communities; 

 Supporting independence at all stages, with different levels of intervention 
offered; 

 Working together as a strong partnership to deliver an effective local offer of 
support; 

 Early help will be addressed across the life course, from developmental 
support in early years, to maximising wellbeing in later years.  

 Ensuring we have an engaged, knowledgeable and committed workforce, that 
fully understand the importance of their role in early help; 

 Identifying the children, young people, adults and families who need extra 
help and support at the earliest opportunity. 

 Commitment to a ‘Think Child’, ‘Think Parent’, ‘Think Family’ and ‘Think 
Community’ approach to the assessment of needs which will have a positive 
impact upon all individuals within the whole family. 

 Listening to children, young people, adults and families, and ensuring that the 
voice of children, young people, adults and families is evident throughout our 
involvement. 

 Make every contact count – through effective assessment processes and by 
empowering professionals to address recognised needs of children, young 
people, adults and their families at the first opportunity. 

 Share information – in a timely way, avoiding the need for continuous or 
repetitive assessment and ‘starting again’ syndrome. Understanding the 
whole family’s needs, regardless of which individual service or setting they 
come to. 

 Continuously improve – learning as we go along by monitoring, reviewing and 
evaluating the way that we work, gaining a better understanding of what helps 
families most, eliminating wasteful systems and bureaucracy and focusing our 
resources on making a positive difference. 

 

Page 175



 
 

15 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By 2021 we will have: 

Introduced targeted prevention, so that more people can live independently for longer 

in their communities, needing less; preventing and delaying the need for traditional 

public health or social care services.  

Implemented and embedded requirements of the new Care Act. 

Become more efficient in the way we work, making more use of digital technology to 

produce better results for people. 

Supported new and existing providers of public health and social care to increase the 

range and quality of services. 

Developed a confident, skilled and knowledgeable workforce that works flexibly with a 

range of partners to provide services. 

Page 176



 
 

16 
 
 

 

 

5.3 Early Help Stories  

The early help stories help to illustrate some of the real benefits of effective early 

help to individuals, families and communities.  

David developed skills and confidence to live more independently  

 

 
 
At an early stage David was supported by his social worker and learning disability 
nurses to ensure all of his health needs were being met. Halton Housing was able to 
find suitable supported housing accommodation that David felt comfortable with. 
With assistance from his support agency he has been able to increase his 
independence gradually and improve his daily living skills such as maintaining his 
personal care and completing domestic tasks.  
 
David now feels comfortable and safe in his new environment. Halton’s Community 
Bridge Builders have enabled him to locate a local range of meaningful activities to 
take part in. These include volunteering with the local museum at Norton Priory to 
taking part in wider community activities such as walking groups. David and his 
family agree that the move has overall been a great success. He will be reviewed 
regularly by the social work team to ensure there is a continual emphasis on 
outcomes that match what David wants now and in the future.  
 
 

Halton offers support to people at all levels of need and at every level will actively 
explore how people can be safeguarded and protected from harm. We offer timely 
intervention from our ‘Home Support,’ ‘Rapid Access’ and ‘Reablement’ teams. All of 
our actions are targeted to promote independence like David’s story above.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 177



 
 

17 
 
 

 

 
 

Doris was reassured and felt enabled to access support 

  

 

 

Social isolation and the twin problems of loneliness and depression are common 

among people who are over 55 and living alone. The Volunteer Service that Doris 

found so helpful is part of Halton’s SureStart to Later Life information service.  This 

offers information about a range of activities available in the local community 

(benefits and pensions, transport, education, social activities, health and fitness and 

much more. The idea is to enable older people to counter loneliness and take an 

active part in their community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



 
 

18 
 
 

 

Betty was supported to develop the right skills helping her to move forward to 

independence 

  

Betty is now attending college each week thank to the intervention of Halton’s Bridge 

Building team and her social worker. She does voluntary work at a cafe and a salon 

both of which are run by Halton Day Services. She has a much more active social 

life and attends events in her local area with her friends. For big decisions that she 

may have to take about her life, she has help from advocacy services and also 

support from the Bridges Health Team to put plans in place and increase her 

independence. Currently, she is working with her social worker in order to gradually 

reduce the support that she needs from staff. 

Community Connectors is a recent example of a local project that will provide 

practical person centred assistance to anyone in specific localities in the borough. 

The service is about empowering people to have the skill set to solve their own 

problems before they reach the crisis stage. 

 Individuals will be enabled to clarify their own goals, strengths and needs and 

develop a plan to pursue their aspirations, build resilience and improve their 

possibilities for a more fulfilled life.  

 

 

 

 

Page 179



 
 

19 
 
 

 

Robinson Family were fully supported, reassured and motivated to regaining 

the confidence to move forward with family life 

 

The Robinson family, are two parents under 25 years of age with a 2 year old and 
new born baby.  A Health visitor referred the family for early help with a number of 
support needs including parenting, budgeting and mums isolation and low mood.  

The family worked with a Family Support Worker for four months to holistically 

address their individual needs as adults, developing the families parenting skills as 

well as ensuring that the individual needs of the children were met. 

The Family Support Worker supported the family through a range of suitable 
approaches to meet their needs; expanding their skills in areas such as child 
development, money management and parenting, as well as supporting Mum to 
access mental health support.  

As a result of this early help, the family developed the necessary skills to grow their 

confidence to move forward with their lives independently. They have built strong 

connections in their community, helping to reduce social isolation, maintain their 

independence and improve their quality of life. 

Halton offers a variety of support to parents and families. This family found support 

through their health visitor interactions, support via the G.P and with their local 

children’s centre. These interactions got mum to talk about their mental health issues 

and get support, it identified a 2 year funded place, plus access to local groups to 

widen their support networks and improving their parenting confidence.  

 

 

6 WORKING TOGETHER   
 

6.1 The vital role of partnerships  

We need to build on the work of the partnership to date to ensure we draw on the full 

range of resources, expertise and insight of all partners so we can better understand 

the needs of our children, young people, adults and families. We need to better 

identify and engage with those families who will benefit most from services, and 

provide co-ordinated services that effectively address needs early, to ensure the very 

best outcomes for our children, young people, adults and families.  

The strategy is set in the context of a very challenging economic climate which has 

seen unprecedented levels of central government cuts to local authority funding. 

Central Government funding for Halton Borough Council has already fallen by £45m. 

The next four-year period looks equally challenging. One example is within the North 

West. Alder Advice were commissioned to report on the future of Adult Social Care 

Page 180



 
 

20 
 
 

 

in the region. Their report indicated a number of key risks and challenges some of 

which involved moving from expensive residential care to community provision and 

greater use of digital technology to lower the cost of long-term care. This highlighted 

major financial challenges for Halton. By 2022 a further £4.8m will be needed to fund 

services. If demographic changes are included this figure increases to £12.8m. 

Halton’s challenge working with others, is to deliver on our agreed priorities while 

maintaining front-line services within limited resources and at a difficult time for the 

national economy. To achieve this, particularly with vulnerable adults, Halton has 

introduced a new model of care. This emphasises the need to work with adults as 

early as possible. It aims to make the most of the person’s own strengths and skills, 

enabling them to live independently as long as possible. The focus of assessment is 

for the individual leading a life (as fulfilling as possible) rather than having a service.  

Partnerships are the key to being able to maintain effective services and continue to 

improve outcomes for everyone in Halton. There are key partnerships between the 

council and health services in supporting early help. The partnership between the 

third sector, the council and other partners is also crucial to achieving better 

outcomes for children, young people, adults and families. Third sector partners, 

including community groups and volunteers, perform an important role in reaching 

local communities and supporting individuals and families and it is important there is 

further collaboration across the partnership which maximises the third sector’s 

contribution, and its ability to lever in additional resource. 

Partnerships need to build on our achievements to date and encourage both the 

alignment of resources and more formal joint commissioning arrangements. Grants 

for 11 voluntary sector organisations, totalling £214,000 have been recommended 

for the current financial year (2018-19). These will contribute to the council’s 

priorities involving: Children and young people; employment learning and skills; 

healthy Halton and Safer Halton. These grants will have a significant impact on 

volunteering, training and development opportunities as a means of reducing 

reliance on statutory services. 

 

Page 181



 
 

21 
 
 

 

 

6.1   Commissioning 

Bringing agencies to work together to meet the needs of children, adults and families 
is at the heart of early help. This is requires whole system change, driven by 
energetic and visionary leadership which is already in place across the Council. 
Integrated commissioning is the key. It will support the delivery of the whole system 
change that is needed. It will also provide a robust, credible and objective way of 
making decisions about sparse resources, so that they have maximum positive 
impact on the lives of children, adults and families. 

Key commissioning principles  

We will: 

 adopt an outcomes based approach to commissioning;  

 understand the needs and priorities of our community, now and in the future 

and clearly specify our requirements;  

 ensure that value for money and achieving sustainable efficiencies are the 

foundation of our commissioning solutions;  

 undertake co-production and involve customers and service users in the 

planning, design, monitoring and evaluation of services; 

 ensure commissioning takes place at the most appropriate level (services will 

be personalised wherever possible);  

 be honest about the financial and legislative frameworks in which services are 

to be provided;  

 support market developments to ensure there is a mixed economy of 

commissioned services enabling partners and individuals to deliver services 

where they can enhance outcomes and efficiency;  

 build the capacity of our local third sector and small businesses to ensure they 

have equal opportunity to participate in commissioning;  

By 2021 we will have: 

Strengthened arrangements for existing public health services so that more people get the 

right support to manage lifestyle issues such as substance misuse, smoking or being 

overweight. 

Put in place actions to support communities and individuals to reduce loneliness and social 

isolation. 

Improved preventative services for children and young people through the Healthy Child 

Programme. 

Invested in local community projects within Halton that support people to live longer, 

healthier and more independent lives. 

 

Page 182



 
 

22 
 
 

 

 promote investment in the local community through all stages of the 

commissioning process; and  

 work jointly with other relevant local and regional commissioners to best 

secure positive outcomes and value for money for our residents. 

Halton will use commissioning and co-production approaches to develop and imbed 

a different widespread culture and practice. This will supports and allow innovation 

and collaboration, as well as greater capacity and relevant freedom at local level to 

develop and implement new approaches. 

An example of our joint commissioning is around Mental Health Services. Following 

a redesign of the services provided by the council for people with mental health 

needs, the Mental Health Outreach Team is now working collaboratively with NHS 

Halton Clinical Commissioning Group to provide targeted and time-limited support for 

people with the full range of mental health conditions in Halton, including people with 

complex needs supported by the North West Boroughs NHS Trust and those people 

with more common, but often equally difficult to manage, mental health conditions 

who are supported only by primary care services. 

When people are referred to the outreach team, they are interviewed about what 

changes in their lives they want to make, in order to have a better quality of life and 

to be able to participate in their own communities. An individual plan is then 

developed with them, targeted at their wishes and needs, and a member of the team 

supports them over an agreed time period to achieve these aims. This approach is 

having a considerable level of success and is reducing the need for people to be 

referred for more complex and expensive levels of support.  

In addition, the mental health social work service has redesigned and is able to focus 

more fully on people whose needs are only being managed through primary care 

services. Both approaches are achieving positive outcomes for local residents with 

mental health problems. 

 

6.2    Community Capacity Building – Working Towards a Community 

Asset    Based Approach 

Halton Borough Council has always helped communities to “help themselves”, 
including helping people to understand their needs and develop their own solutions 
to these needs. There are three key areas that we can continue with to develop this 
further: 
 

1. Unlock the capacity of communities to support themselves and vulnerable 
individuals and families – reducing the demand on public service. 

2. Support communities to work in partnership with the Council to design and 
deliver services, including those currently delivered by the Council 

Page 183



 
 

23 
 
 

 

3. Develop voluntary and community sector (VCS) organisations in Halton as 
effective providers in a diverse market which supports delivery of the 
Council’s priorities. 
 

Halton values the many people in our borough that contribute their time, energy and 
enthusiasm to helping others in the community. 
 
Halton benefits from a variety of volunteer support opportunities across a number of 
projects from providing a listening ear at Halton Haven Hospice, support at scouts 
and our youth provision to partnership initiatives including Venus project that has 
staff and volunteers that work to empower, promote and support young people and 
their families in developing their potential, recognising their choices and achieving 
their goals. 
 
We know volunteers make an important contribution to the quality of life in Halton 
and that is why we support the efforts of the non-profit and voluntary sector in Halton 
and we will look to strengthen our community asset based approach in the coming 
months and years.  
 
7 THE CASE FOR CHANGE - NATIONAL RESEARCH AND EVIDENCE 

Nationally there are varying degrees of commitment to early help. Many services 

across health and social care are responding to escalating levels of demand through 

increased crisis management. However there is a growing body of evidence to 

support early help, which has been highlighted in key national documents and 

research. 

Many local authorities are operating within a climate of unprecedented challenge for 
the public and voluntary sector, as demand for specialist services rapidly increases 
against a backdrop of dramatically reducing resources. For some families (estimated 
at 30 per cent of the population), difficulties arise which, if addressed early enough, 
can be prevented from escalating into costly statutory service intervention. 

The Marmot Review into health inequalities in England published in February 2010 
acted as a timely reminder of the continuing social and economic cost of health 
inequalities and provided further pointers towards early intervention help and 
support. In doing so, it presents a robust and well-evidenced business case for 
national and local action to address health inequalities through concerted action.  

Work undertaken by the Early Intervention Foundation, the Washington State 
Institute for Public Policy, the Dartington Social Research Unit, MP Frank Field’s 
review on the Foundation Years, MP Graham Allen’s review of Early Intervention, 
and the work of the WAVE Trust among many others provide enough evidence that 
Early Help can reduce demand on more reactive and expensive services. 
 
They all independently reached the same conclusion that it is important to provide 
help early in order to improve outcomes. Nationally, interest is growing in an 
evidence base for early help and in particular a need to demonstrate effectiveness to 
produce cost savings in more specialist and acute services. It is important to 

Page 184



 
 

24 
 
 

 

recognise that early help is not a one-off fix, but a highly targeted process and 
approach – a way of working with specific outcomes. 
 
The emphasis on the economic value of early help has been developed further by 
the Social Research Unit at Darlington University. The American ‘Blueprint’ model is 
being translated into a UK context for a number of evidence-based interventions. 
The work currently in progress is specifically on child protection, however work on 
Early Years and Young Offending has already been published. 

It is estimated nationally that if the number of offences by children and young people 
were reduced by 1%, it would generate £45 million in savings to households and 
individuals per year. The cost of educational underachievement has been projected 
at £18 billion per year by the London School of Economics for the Prince’s Trust. 
Statistics highlight intergenerational cycles; daughters of teenage parents are three 
times more likely to become teenage mothers, and 65% of sons with a convicted 
father go on to offend themselves, with significant costs to society. Inequality also 
impacts; a child living in poverty is more likely to have poorer health, lower 
attainment and less earning potential. 

As people age they become more likely to have reduced contacts with family and 
friends .They are also more likely to be less mobile and have reduced income. These 
factors and others such as increased likelihood of hearing and sight deterioration can 
cause older people to be vulnerable to loneliness. Loneliness and isolation pose 
severe risks to health and can lead to early death. The effect of loneliness on life 
expectancy exceeds the impact of factors such as physical inactivity and obesity, 
and has a similar effect to that of cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption. Older 
people who are lonely have a greatly increased risk of developing Alzheimer’s 
disease and have an increased use of health and social care services.   

Well targeted loneliness interventions can substantially decrease spending on health 
and social care services. SCIE give case studies of befriending schemes saving 
£300 per person per year and Community Bridge Builder / Sure Start to Later Life 
type services saved even more. Research highlights that for every £1 spent on 
preventing loneliness there is a potential to save £3.  

 

8 HALTON’S APPROACH  

A key priority of this strategy is to develop a more cost effective, integrated and 
sustainable service model for people’s services which identifies emerging problems 
as early as possible and prevents them from escalating. 

In achieving this, a new financial model needs to be developed, which will include a 
focus on: 

 Protecting the existing early help spend, focusing this on evidence-based 
interventions; 

 Acknowledging that there is no new money to invest in interventions, 
exploring opportunities for attracting investment to pump prime early help 
initiatives; 

Page 185



 
 

25 
 
 

 

 As early help is systematically rolled out and evidence of changes of demand 
becomes apparent, a commitment to re-prioritise some high cost expenditure 
on acute and crisis management services into cost effective early help 
provision. 

This approach aims to create a cycle where a proportion of savings from reduced 
demand are reinvested into early help and prevention activity which in turn leads to a 
further reduction in demand on specialist and statutory services. This feedback 
approach is outlined in the diagram below: 

 

 

 

 

 

9 HOW WE WILL MEASURE SUCCESS 
 

By 2021 we will have: 

Designed, developed and delivered services with people who use them, in ways that make 

good use of volunteers’ time and are an efficient use of public money. 

Routinely asked people who are experts by experience and where relevant Carers, to help us 

assess the quality of care and health providers.  

Improved the ways in which we show that people and staff’s involvement makes a difference 

– so that they can see and understand that we listen to what they tell us and that it influences 

what we do. 

Kept more vulnerable people safe. We will do so by raising awareness and understanding in 

the social care workforce and the public about what to do if they are worried about someone 

who is vulnerable. 

Page 186



 
 

26 
 
 

 

We will constantly review how we work to make sure that we are delivering better 
care and results for people. We know it is important to listen to people, if we have a 
good understanding of what people think, want or need, we are more likely to deliver 
the right result for them. We will not know if we are successful in making a difference 
to people’s lives unless we can measure the results, and we will measure how well 
we are doing in a number of ways: 
 
The Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework - tells us how well care services are 
meeting people’s needs, as we would expect for ourselves, our friends and relatives. 
This includes whether people feel they are treated with dignity and respect, feel safe 
and are independent, for example, being still able to live at home after a stay in 
hospital. 
 
Public Health Outcomes Framework - tells us how well public health services in 
Halton are working, for example not only how long people live, but how healthy they 
are. Other indicators of success include reducing the number of people who have 
falls, or who feel they are lonely. 
 
NHS Outcomes Framework - as we work more closely with partners, sometimes our 
performance will be jointly measured. For example, with our NHS colleagues how 
successful are we at reducing avoidable emergency admissions to hospital. 
 
 
 
9.1 How will we know if Early Help in Halton is working? 
 
We will expect to see that more individuals and families are empowered and enabled 
to take control of their lives, and they are supported in their local communities 
avoiding the need for services intervention. When there is service intervention we will 
expect to see the positive impact in a timely way with families reporting sustained 
improvement in their circumstances. 
 
The success of the strategy will be reported through agreed key performance 
indicators. The indicators we are developing will provide a benchmark of whether 
early help for children, young people, adults and families in Halton is making a 
difference to our community. All our partnership activity – whether strategic or 
operational – over the next three years will be expected to make a contribution to 
these outcomes. 
 
This strategy follows an outcome-based accountability model. The indicators below 
tell us whether early help is working locally. Outcome measures are used at service 
level to tell us whether early help is working for individuals and families. It follows 
that if early help services are delivering positive outcomes to individuals and families, 
then we should see that reflected at community level. 
 
 
 
9.2 Governance 

Page 187



 
 

27 
 
 

 

 
The Early Help Strategy covers the period 2018–2021 and will be reviewed annually 
to ensure the plan remains agile and focused on the emerging needs of local people 
and communities. The reviews will also enable an assessment to be made on 
progress to the previous year and provide means to harness commitment to deliver 
the future year’s aspirations. 
 
Responsibility for the monitoring of the implementation of the Strategy lies with the 
Children’s Trust and Health and Well Being Board. 
 
The Early Help Strategy is fully joined up with existing plans and priorities relating to: 
 

 One Halton Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2022 

 Sustainable Community Strategy 2016- 2026 

 Children and Young People’s Plan 2018 – 2021 

 Adult Social Care Business Plan 2017 – 2020 

 The Care Act 2014 
 

A governance structure and early help priority groups will oversee the development 
and delivery of these priorities. Each group will use a life course approach and 
ensure each action plan includes action to maximise prevention and early help. 
 
  

Page 188



 
 

28 
 
 

 

 
Impact of Early Help 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improved 

partnership 

working across 

early helps 

services  

Early 

identification of 

emerging needs 

and the provision 

of support  

Better 

Outcomes for 

young people, 

adults, and 

families  

Young People, 

Adults, Families 

are more able to 

meet their needs 

and address 

challenges  

Decrease 

reliance upon 

and demand for 

statutory and 

specialist 

services  

Early help 

services are 

maintained  

Key Measure 

The number of organisations 

completing early help 

assessments  

Key Measure 

The percentage of 

vulnerable adults and 

families reporting that 

support was timely and 

helpful  

Key Measure 

The percentage of vulnerable 

adults and families supported 

by early help services 

achieving positive outcomes   

Key Measure 

Improved performance against 
a range of indicators: 
Demand for specialist services 
Proportion of children in need 
School attendance and 
exclusions 

Key Measure 

The number of vulnerable 

adults and families supported 

by early help services  

Page 189



 
 

29 
 
 

 

10 CONCLUSION 
 
The success of our approach to Early Help is dependent upon collaborative and 
integrated working and will only be achieved by making Early Help an integral 
‘golden thread’, which is woven into all our borough’s strategic plans and comes with 
a clear commitment across the partnership. 
 
The development of a robust early help offer for children, young people, adults and 
families in Halton will prevent problems escalating and becoming entrenched and 
more complex. It will also lead to a reduction in the need for more costly, specialist 
and statutory services while preventing unnecessary trauma and emotional upheaval 
for families. 
 
Halton has the opportunity to provide an early help offer which is more coordinated, 
one which avoids duplication and makes the most of the resources available in an 
efficient and effective way. To deliver the early help offer requires a significant 
transformation of some current models of service delivery. This practice and culture 
change can take time and requires commitment into the medium and longer term 
future. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 190



 
 

30 
 
 

 

Appendix 1 - Cost Benefit Analysis  

There is a growing body of evidence which indicates that early intervention is cost 
effective when delivered in a targeted and timely fashion. It can create savings 
across a number of public sector services further down the line by taking demand out 
the system.  
 
Since social and economic policy decisions are made under resource constraints, 
the value of public investment must be judged, at least in part, through economic 
efficiency, in terms of value for money. In deciding how funds should be allocated, 
public agencies need to know not only what is effective, but also which choice brings 
the greatest benefits for a given set of resources.  
 
In the case of early year’s interventions, the long-term economic impact is 
determined by comparing the benefits to society to the costs accrued. Benefits to 
society include the benefits to the programme recipient and family.  
 
Costs to society include the benefits foregone from not using the resources for some 
other use. Due to the large differences in the methodologies adopted by studies 
aiming to evaluate the economic impact of early year’s interventions, it is difficult to 
compare results across interventions. Nevertheless, a number of studies do provide 
indications regarding whether early years or other interventions generate benefits in 
the long term that outweigh the costs.  
 
A number of studies have been conducted which demonstrate these cost benefits 
and include: 
 

Policy Area 
 

Illustrative Example 
Mental Health According to the Mental Health Foundation – Fundamental Facts 

about Mental Health (2015), In England, early intervention for 
first-episode psychosis has been calculated to result in savings of 
£2,087 per person over 3 years as a result of improved 
employment and education outcomes. 

 A study by the LSE estimated savings of £8 for every pound 
spent on parenting programmes to prevent conduct disorder 
over the course of a child’s lifetime. The report also stated that 
“the economic returns from school-based programmes to deal 
with bullying and other behavioural problems are even larger. 

 The same study estimates a saving of £18 is for every pound 
spent on early intervention psychosis teams that work with 
young people in their first episode of schizophrenia or bipolar 
disorder 

 Investment in suicide training for GPs saves £44 for every 
pound invested, while bridge safety barriers save £54. 
Screening and brief intervention in primary care for alcohol 
misuse saves nearly £12 for every pound invested 

 Workplace mental health promotion programmes save almost 
£10 for every pound invested. 

Parenting  The Incredible Years Parenting Programme, which deals with 

Page 191



 
 

31 
 
 

 

children diagnosed with disruptive behaviour, costs around 
£1,344 to deliver a six month intervention to improve behaviour. It 
is estimated that without intervention, the continued conduct 
disorder of an individual costs an additional £60,000 to public 
services by the age of 28. 

Early Years 
(Dartington Report) 

It is estimated nationally that if the number of offences by children 
and young people were reduced by 1%, it would generate £45 
million in savings to households and individuals per year. The 
cost of educational underachievement has been projected at £18 
billion per year by the London School of Economics for the 
Prince’s Trust. Statistics highlight intergenerational cycles; 
daughters of teenage parents are three times more likely to 
become teenage mothers, and 65% of sons with a convicted 
father go on to offend themselves, with significant costs to 
society. Inequality also impacts; a child living in poverty is more 
likely to have poorer health, lower attainment and less earning 
potential. 
 

Early Years  A UK-based study, contrasted estimated £70,000 per head direct 
costs to the public of children with severe conduct disorder, with 
a £600 per child cost of parent training programmes. Although 
such figures do not demonstrate cost-effectiveness, they highlight 
the very low costs of early years’ intervention compared to later 
expenditures once the problem is not addressed. 
 

Literacy  Poor literacy skills are estimated to cost between £5,000 and 
£64,000 for each individual over a lifetime with the vast majority 
of these costs being due to lower tax revenues and higher benefit 
payments. The cost of a specific intervention with school pupils, 
in this case the Reading Recovery Programme, costs £2,609 per 
pupil and has shown that 79% of participants have been lifted out 
of literacy failure. 
 

Economic 
Development & Skills 

It has been argued that early year’s interventions should also be 
portrayed as economic development initiatives and one way of 
considering this issue is with regards to skills formation. 
Research suggests that early skills and behavioural disturbances, 
or antisocial behaviour – during childhood and adolescence 
found average costs to UK society ranging from £13,000 to 
£65,000 annually per child. These costs are disproportionally 
higher than the cost of early prevention/intervention. A failure to 
obtain skills and qualifications the first time around cannot be 
made up entirely in adulthood, even with significant investment. 
The costs of such remedial programmes per person can be more 
than double the cost per child spent on pre-school or compulsory 
school education and are not likely to be as effective. 
 

Pause Every local authority within the UK has women with complex and 
challenging needs to whom multiple children are born and 
subsequently removed into the care system under child 
protection proceedings. A Lancaster University study estimates 
the scale and pattern of recurrent care proceedings over a seven 

Page 192



 
 

32 
 
 

 

year period (Broadhurst et al 2014). The numbers are significant, 
showing a total of 46,094 birth mothers appearing before the 
courts of which 15.5% (7,143) were linked to recurrent care 
applications. As each woman may be linked to more than one 
child, the total number of care applications associated with this 
group is as high as 29% of all care applications (22,790). If we 
estimate that 100 women, with a similar profile to those currently 
on Pause, were spread over 5 sites over a 5 year period with no 
intervention, they could potentially have 264* children removed 
into care at a cost of almost £20million. These are primarily the 
costs of taking those 264* children into care and do not account 
for other associated costs. 

Older People It is widely acknowledged that falls and fall-related injuries result 
in major costs to health and care systems:  
  

 Around one in three people over 65 and one in two people 
over 80 fall at least once each year.  

 Falls account for around 40% of all ambulance call-outs to 
the homes of people over 65 and are a leading cause of 
older people’s use of hospital beds. 

 Each year there are around twice as many fractures 
resulting from falls as there are strokes in the over 65s. 

 Falls are a common precipitant for people moving into 
long-term care, or needing more help at home. 
 

A Cochrane review looking at the effectiveness of various 
interventions in the prevention of falls among older people living 
in the community, concluded that home safety assessment and 
modification interventions were effective at reducing the rate and 
risk of falls. 
 
The most common serious injury arising from a fall is a hip 
fracture. Around 70,000-75,000 hip fractures occur in the UK 
each year. The annual cost for all hip fractures in the UK, 
including medical and social care, is about £2 billion (c £26,000 
per hip fracture) Applying the New Zealand finding of a 26% 
reduction in falls achieved by very modest adaptations would 
indicate a potential reduction of 18,000 falls with resulting savings 
of half a billion pounds (£500 million) each year 
 

Young Adults 
Positive Behaviour 
Support Service 
(PBSS)  

In terms of cost reduction over a 6 -7 year period, a single young 
woman with PBSS and Halton Supported Housing Network 
(HSHN) staff to support her has saved Halton £578,000 on 
packages of care. This was able to happen due to an early 
intervention plan and reward system which ensured Lucy (not her 
real name) remained engaged and was able to address her 
issues through training.  
 

Telehealthcare The principal social care and financial arguments supporting the 
use of Telehealthcare stem from the Department of Health 
‘Whole System Demonstrator Programme and other controlled 
studies since such as: Medvivo (2014) which found that the 

Page 193



 
 

33 
 
 

 

following gains were possible in a large group GP practice for 
patients with COPD: 

 45% reduction in patient deaths (mostly among those over 
65) 

 52% reduction in hospital admissions 

 36% reduction in visits to A & E 

 35% reduction in GP visits 
 

In an attempt to estimate overall cost savings they found the 
following savings per person per year: 

 £1,250 in reduced unplanned hospital admissions 

 £110 in reduced visits to the GP 

 £480 reduced visits by the community matron 

 £30 in reduced attendance at A & E 
 
This represents a total annual saving per individual with COPD of 
£1,870 (this figure doesn’t include the cost of equipment and 
training). By 2020 the estimated number of COPD patients in 
Halton (aged 16+) will be approximately 4,400. This represents a 
potential saving for COPD overall using Telehealthcare of around 
£8.25m. 
 

 

 

Page 194



REPORT TO:   Executive Board 

DATE:    19 July 2018 

REPORTING OFFICER:  Operational Director – Finance 

PORTFOLIO:   Resources 

TITLE:    Treasury Management Annual Report 2017-18 
 
WARDS:    Borough-wide 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an update regarding investment and 
borrowing activities undertaken during 2017/18, as required by the Council’s 
Treasury Management Policy.  

2.0 RECOMMENDED:  That the report be noted. 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

Economic Outlook 

3.1 The following analysis of the UK economic situation has been provided by Link 
Asset Services, the Council’s treasury management advisors. 
 

3.2 During the six months up until 31st March 2018; 

 

 The UK economy maintained a mediocre pace 

 Employment fell and the tightness in the labour market fed through to 

higher wage growth 

 Headline inflation reached its highest level since March 2012 and the Bank 

of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) signalled its intention to 

bring Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation back to target over a shorter 

time horizon 

 The MPC increased the bank rate for the first time in a decade and a 

further increase expected in 2018/19 

 The Chancellor provided a larger than expected budget “giveaway” 

 The European Commission gave the green light to progress to the second 

phase of Brexit negotiations 

 

3.3 After the UK economy surprised analysts with strong growth in 2016, the 

growth in 2017 was disappointingly weak in the first half of the year. Quarter 1 

came in at +0.3% (+1.7% year on year) and quarter 2 was +0.3% (+1.5% year 

on year), which meant that growth in the first half of 2017 was the slowest for 

Page 195 Agenda Item 5a



the first half of any year since 2012. The main reason for this has been the 

sharp increase in inflation, caused by the devaluation of sterling after the EU 

referendum, feeding increases into the cost of imports into the economy.  This 

has caused, in turn, a reduction in consumer disposable income and spending 

power and so the services sector of the economy, accounting for around 75% 

of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), has seen weak growth as consumers cut 

back on their expenditure.  

3.4 Growth did pick up in quarter 3 to 0.5% before dipping back to 0.4% in quarter 

4. Annual growth for 2017, therefore, came in at an overall figure of 1.8%, the 

same as the upwardly revised figure for 2016, (which meant the UK was equal 

to Germany in having the strongest GDP growth figure of the G7 countries in 

2016). 

3.5 The manufacturing sector has been the bright spot in the economy, seeing 

stronger growth, particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It 

has helped that growth in the EU, our main trading partner, has improved 

significantly over the last year.  However, the manufacturing sector only 

accounts for around 11% of GDP so expansion in this sector will have a much 

more muted effect on the average total GDP growth figure for the UK economy 

as a whole.  

3.6 The MPC meeting minutes of 14 September 2017 surprised markets and 

forecasters by using a much more aggressive tone in its words, warning that 

bank rate would need to rise shortly. CPI inflation duly peaked at 3.1% in 

November 2017 as the MPC had forecast, but the February 2018 MPC 

forecast still sees CPI above its target rate of 2% in two years’ time. The 

primary reason why the MPC has become more aggressive with its wording 

around the pace of increases in bank rate in, and since September, is due to 

an emerging view that with unemployment falling to 4.3%, the lowest level 

since 1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, the amount of 

spare capacity in the economy has also significantly diminished.  In particular, 

the MPC has also been concerned at building pressure on rising average 

wage rates. It was, therefore, no surprise that the MPC increased the bank 

rate by 0.25% to 0.5% in November 2017.  

3.7 At their February 2018 meeting, the MPC’s wording became more aggressive 

still and indicated that the bank rate would be going up faster than had 

previously been indicated to the markets. Nevertheless, while there remains 

so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer spending levels 

and business investment, it is still far too early to be confident about how 

Page 196



strong growth and inflationary pressures will be over the next two years, and 

therefore the pace of any rate increases. 

3.8 Economic growth in the EU, (the UK’s biggest trading partner), had been lack 

lustre for several years after the financial crisis, despite the European Central 

Bank (ECB) eventually cutting its main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a 

massive programme of Quantitative Easing.  However, growth picked up in 

2016 and now looks to have gathered ongoing substantial strength and 

momentum thanks to this stimulus, with an overall GDP figure for 2017 likely 

to be around 2.5%.  Nevertheless, despite providing massive monetary 

stimulus, the ECB is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in 

March 2018, inflation was only 1.4%. It is, therefore, unlikely to start an 

upswing in rates until possibly towards the end of 2019. 

3.9 Growth in the American economy was volatile in 2015 and 2016.  2017 

followed that path again with quarter 1 at 1.2%, quarter 2 at 3.1%, quarter 3 at 

3.2% and quarter 4 at 2.9%. The annual rate of GDP growth for 2017 was 

2.3%. Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest level for 17 years, 

reaching 4.1% in October to February, while wage inflation pressures, and 

inflationary pressures in general, have been building. The Federal Bank has 

started on an upswing in rates with six increases since the first one in 

December 2015 to lift the central rate to 1.75%. There could be a further two 

or more increases in 2018. In October 2017, the Federal Bank became the 

first major western central bank to make a start on unwinding Quantitative 

Easing by phasing in a gradual reduction in respect of reinvesting maturing 

debt. 

 Interest Rate Forecast 

3.10  The following forecast has been provided by Link Asset Services. 

 

 
 Short Term Borrowing Rates  
  
3.11 The bank base rate increased to 0.5% on 2nd November 2017. 
  

Page 197



Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

% % % % % % %

Call Money (Market) 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47

1 Month (Market) 0.25 0.40 0.49 0.50 0.49 0.50 0.51

3 Month (Market) 0.34 0.44 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.58 0.71  
 
 

Longer Term Borrowing Rates 
 

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

% % % % % % %

1 Year (Market) 1.14 1.17 1.23 1.16 1.33 1.38 1.47

10 Year (PWLB) 2.23 2.22 2.25 2.11 2.34 2.41 2.26

25 Year (PWLB) 2.79 2.77 2.77 2.65 2.75 2.77 2.57  
  
3.12 Market rates are based on LIBOR rates and PWLB rates are for new loans 

based on principal repayable at maturity.  The rates are shown for the end of 
each month. 

 
Borrowing and Investments 

 
 Turnover During the Period 

 

 

No of 

deals

Turnover

£m

Short Term Borrowing - - 

Short Term Investments 20 167    
 
 

Position at Month End 
 

Sep

£m

Oct

£m

Nov

£m

Dec

£m

Jan

£m

Feb

£m

Mar

£m

Total Borrowing 143 172 172 172 172 172 172 

Total Investments (68) (54) (70) (75) (70) (65) (65)

Call Account Balance (31) (24) (18) (20) (25) (25) (16)  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 198



 Investment Benchmarking 
 

 

Benchmark

Benchmark 

Return

%

Performance 

Oct - Mar

%

Investment 

Interest Earned

£000

7 day 0.32 0.25 30 

1 month 0.34 0.30 2 

3 month 0.40 0.38 34 

6 month 0.49 0.66 176 

12 month 0.69 0.76 14 

Over 12 months 0.72 44 

Property Fund 4.22 106 

Total 406  
 
3.13 This shows the Council has not reached the benchmarks for very short term 

investments, but has over achieved on 6 months and above.  It is intended to 
use Money Market Funds more often during 2018/19 to achieve an increased 
yield on short term investments. 

 
3.14 At 31st March 2018 the Council held £5m in the CCLA Local Authority Property 

Fund, for which there is no benchmark available. 
 
 Budget Monitoring 
  

  

Budget Year 

to Date

£000

Actual Year 

to Date

£000

Variance

(o/spend)

£000

Actual inc 

M Gateway

£000

Investment (406) (534) 128 (689)

Borrowing 1,141 1,124 17 5,845 

Total 735 590 145 5,156 

Net Interest at 31st March 2018

 
 
 
3.15 As the borrowing and investments in relation to the Mersey Gateway have no 

effect on the Council’s revenue budget they been excluded from the budget 
monitoring figures above. 

 
 New Long Term Borrowing 
 
3.16 The Council borrowed £29m from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) on 

26th October 2017 at a rate of 2.73% to fund the final major capital spend on 
the Mersey Gateway.  The interest on Mersey Gateway borrowing is funded 
from toll income so has no impact on the Council’s revenue budget. 

   
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 Policy Guidelines 
 
3.17 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2017/18, which 

includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 23 
February 2017.  It sets out the Council’s investment priorities as being: 

 Security of capital; 

 Liquidity; and 

 Yield 

 
3.18 The Council will also aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on investments 

commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity.  In the current economic 
climate and the heightened credit concerns it is considered appropriate to keep 
the majority of investments short term and to ensure all investments are in in line 
with Link Asset Services’ credit rating methodology. 

 
 Treasury Management Indicators 
 
3.19 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 

affordable borrowing limits. The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential 
Indicators were set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and are 
reviewed in Appendix 1. 

 
Debt Rescheduling 

 
3.20  No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the year. 
 
 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The financial implications are as set out in the report. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 There are no direct implications, however, the revenue budget and capital 

programme support the delivery and achievement of all the Council’s priorities. 
 
 
7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 The main risks with Treasury Management are security of investment and 

volatility of return. To combat this, the Authority operates within a clearly 
defined Treasury Management Policy and annual borrowing and investment 
strategy, which sets out the control framework 

 
 

Page 200



8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1 None. 
 
9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
9.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act. 
 

Page 201



Appendix 1 
Treasury and Prudential Indicators – 2017/18 
 

2016/17

Full Year Original Full Year

Prudential Indicators Actual Estimate Actual

£000 £000 £000

Capital Expenditure 84,747 82,013 104,665 

Net Financing Need for the Year 58,759 60,177 85,208 

(Borrowing Requirement)

Increase / (Decrease) in CFR 56,369 57,744 722,947 

(Capital Financing Requirement)

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 

Revenue Stream 2.1% 2.0% 1.9%
(Proportion of cost of borrowing to Council's net 

revenue)

Incremental Impact on band D Council 

Tax (£) 2.42 2.44 2.17

(net cost of borrowing compared to tax base)

External Debt 153,000 173,000 172,000 

Operational Boundary 252,600 254,164 254,164 
(Limit of which external debit is not epected to 

exceed)

Authorised Limit 270,000 270,000 270,000 
(Limit beyound which external debit is 

prohibited)

2017/18

 
 

Exposure 2016/17 2017/18

Limit Actual Actual

% % %

Fixed Rate 100 100 100 

Variable Rate 30 - - 

Upper Limit for Interest Rate 

Exposure

 
 

Exposure 2016/17 2017/18

Limit Actual Actual

% % %

Under 12 months 40 7 0

12 months to 24 months 40 0 0

24 months to 5 years 40 0 0

5 years to 10 years 40 0 0

10 years and above 100 93 100 

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 

Borrowing

 

Page 202



Investment 2016/17 2017/18

Limit Actual Actual

£000 £000 £000

Principal Sums Invested over 365 days 30,000 5,000 10,000

Maximum Principal invested > 365 

days

 
 

Page 203



 
REPORT TO: Executive Board 
 
DATE: 19 July 2018 
  
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director Enterprise Community & Resources 
 
PORTFOLIO: Resources 
 
SUBJECT: Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy 
 
WARD(S): Borough-wide 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. To propose two amendments to the Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy, 

in relation to discretionary council tax relief provided to Care Leavers. 
 
2. RECOMMENDED: That 

 
1) the two amendments to the Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy 

outlined in paragraphs 3.4 and 3.6 below, be approved; and 
  

2) the updated Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy presented 
within Appendix 1, be approved. 

  
3. SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 
3.1    On 5 June 2018 the Corporate Policy & Performance Board received a report 

(see Appendix 1) regarding two proposed changes to the Council Tax Section 
13A Discount Policy in respect of Care Leavers. 

 
3.2 Halton’s Care Leavers currently receive 100% council tax discount, which the 

Council introduced from April 2018 in order to support Care Leavers with their 
transition into adulthood and help avoid them falling into financial hardship, as 
part of the Council’s corporate parenting role. 

 
3.3 Discussions with neighbouring authorities have raised two potential anomalies 

within Halton’s policy, which this report seeks to rectify.   
 
3.4 Where a Care Leaver is jointly and severally liable to pay council tax with one 

or more other residents in a property who are not Care Leavers, it is proposed 
that the council tax payable for the property will only be reduced by 50% 
rather than 100%. This is to ensure that non-Care Leavers are not 
advantaged through the policy and that relief is only provided to eligible Care 
Leavers. A similar approach is now operated by most other councils within the 
North West. 

 
3.5 The Section 13A Policy currently states that discretionary relief will only apply 

to Care Leavers for whom the Council has acted previously as a corporate 
parent. However, the majority of North West councils now apply discretionary 

Page 204 Agenda Item 5b



relief to “all” Care Leavers who reside within their boundaries, irrespective of 
which council has previously acted as their corporate parent. 

 
3.6 It is therefore proposed to amend the wording of the Section 13A Policy, to 

provide discretionary council tax relief to Care Leavers regardless of which 
council previously acted as their corporate parent. This will also ensure the 
Council can provide a reciprocal arrangement to that provided for Halton Care 
Leavers who move to other boroughs. To date the Council has only been 
approached by one Care Leaver residing within the Borough, for whom 
Hertfordshire County Council previously acted as their corporate parent. 

     
3.7 The proposed amendments to the Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy in 

respect of Care Leavers, will help to ensure that the Policy remains equitable 
and is consistent with the approach adopted by other North West councils. 
The amended Section 13A Discount Policy is presented in Appendix 1.  

 
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The policy statement presented in the Appendix would meet the requirements 

of Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The total cost of the relief proposed cannot be determined precisely as the 

number of Care Leavers who would continue to reside in Halton cannot be 
accurately determined and neither can the value of the national discounts, 
exemptions or council tax reduction they would be entitled to. Relief would 
only be granted for the amount of council tax the Care Leaver still has to pay 
“after” such discounts and support have been taken into account. 

 
5.3 Taking into consideration all of these factors, the total cost to the Council of 

discretionary relief provided for Care Leavers is expected to be in the region 
of £7,000 per year. 

 
6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 
 
6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
 
6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 
6.4 A Safer Halton 
 
6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

Depending upon the specific circumstances, the award of discounts under the 
Section 13A Policy have the potential to affect all of the Council priorities 
above. 

 
 
 

Page 205



7. RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 The total cost of awards granted may become significant, therefore the 

number and cost of awards will be closely monitored. 
 
8. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1 The eligibility criteria and application process relation to the Section 13A 

Policy will ensure that no particular groups of individuals are excluded.  
 
8.2 In accordance with our equality duty, this proposal will result in more 

favourable treatment being applied to Care Leavers living in Halton, in order to 
advance equality of opportunity, with the overall aim of removing financial 
barriers, resulting in increased opportunities for employment, education and/or 
training opportunities. 

 
9. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE    

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer 
 
Section 13A Local 
Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as 
amended) 

 
Revenues & Financial 
Management Division   
Kingsway House 
Widnes 

 
Steve Baker  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 206



Appendix 1 
 
REPORT TO: Corporate Policy & Performance Board 
 
DATE: 5th June 2018 
  
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director Enterprise Community & Resources 
 
PORTFOLIO: Resources 
 
SUBJECT: Amendment to Council Tax Section 13A Discount 

Policy Statement 
 
WARD(S): Borough-wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
3.1. To propose two amendments to the Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy 

Statement, in relation to discretionary council tax relief provided to Care 
Leavers. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That Executive Board approve the amended Council 
Tax Section 13A Discount Policy Statement attached at Appendix A. 

  
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 

Background 
 

3.1    On 21 September 2017, Executive Board approved an amendment to the 
Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy Statement, to reduce to nil the 
amount of council tax payable by young people leaving care from the ages 18 
to 25. This amendment was applied from 1st April 2018. The Council was 
responding to a Children’s Society campaign which identified a range of 
disadvantages that Care Leavers typically experience. The campaign called 
upon local authorities to do more to support families who are struggling with 
council tax debt, in particular, Care Leavers. 

   
3.2 The Council agreed with the campaign’s principal sentiment that young 

people’s transition out of care and into adulthood is often difficult and 
managing money for the first time can make Care Leavers vulnerable and at 
risk of falling into debt. 

 
3.3 Corporate Parenting is a statutory function of the Council. The underlying 

principle is that every local authority will seek the same outcomes for young 
people in care that every good parent would want for their own children. 

 
3.4 Under section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the Council 

has a general discretionary power to reduce liability for council tax in relation 
to individual cases or class of cases that it may determine where national 
discounts and exemptions cannot be applied. 

 

Page 207



 
3.5 The most cost efficient way of determining the value of Care Leaver’s 

discretionary relief is to calculate how much council tax the Care Leaver still 
has to pay after any existing statutory discounts and Council Tax Support 
(CTS) has been taken into account. It is estimated that this relief will amount 
to around £7,000 per annum and therefore in relative terms it does not 
represent a significant financial cost for the Council. 

 
Proposed Amendments 

 
3.6 Where a Care Leaver is jointly and severally liable to pay council tax with one 

or more other residents in a property who are not Care Leavers, it is proposed 
that the council tax payable for the property will only be reduced by 50% 
(rather than 100%). This is to ensure that non-Care Leavers are not 
advantaged through the policy and that relief is only provided to eligible Care 
Leavers. A similar approach is now operated by most other councils within the 
North West. 

 
3.7 The Council’s existing Section 13A Policy states that discretionary relief will 

only apply to Care Leavers for whom the Council has acted previously as a 
corporate parent. The majority of North West councils now apply discretionary 
relief to “all” Care Leavers who reside within their boundaries, irrespective of 
which council has previously acted as their corporate parent. 

 
3.8 It is therefore proposed to amend the wording of the Section 13A Policy 

Statement, to enable the Council to provide discretionary council tax relief to 
Care Leavers regardless of which council has previously acted as their 
corporate parent. This will also ensure that the Council can provide a 
reciprocal agreement to that provided for Halton Care Leavers who move to 
other boroughs. To date the Council has only been approached by one Care 
Leaver residing within the Borough, for whom Hertfordshire County Council 
previously acted as their corporate parent.     

 
 Conclusion 
 
3.9 The proposed amendments to the Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy in 

respect of Care Leavers, will help to ensure that the Policy remains equitable 
and is consistent with the approach adopted by other North West councils. 

 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The policy statement presented in the Appendix meets the requirements of 

Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). 
 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The cost of any care leavers discounts awarded under the Council Tax 

Section 13A Policy would be met in full by the Borough’s council taxpayers. 
 
5.2 The total cost of the discretionary relief awarded is estimated to cost the 

Council in the region of £7,000 per annum. 
 

Page 208



 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 
 
6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
 
6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 
6.4 A Safer Halton 
 
6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

Depending upon the specific circumstances, the award of discretionary relief 
under the Section 13A Policy has the potential to affect all of the Council 
priorities above. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 The total cost of awards granted may become significant, therefore the 

number and cost of awards will be closely monitored. 
 
8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1 The eligibility criteria and application process relation to the Section 13A 

Policy will ensure that no particular groups of individuals are excluded.  
 
8.2 In accordance with the Council’s equality duty, this proposal will result in more 

favourable treatment being applied to Care Leavers living in Halton, in order to 
advance equality of opportunity, with the overall aim of removing financial 
barriers, resulting in increased opportunities for employment, education and/or 
training opportunities. 

 
9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE    

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer 
 
Section 13A Local 
Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as 
amended) 

 
Revenues & Financial 
Management   
Kingsway House 
Widnes 

 
Stephen Baker  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

Council Tax 

Section 13A Discount 

Policy Statement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 210



1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1  Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) provides 

the Council with discretionary powers to reduce the amount of council tax 

liability in exceptional circumstances, where national discounts and exemptions 

cannot be applied. 

1.2  This would only be applied in exceptional circumstances and would then be 

considered on a case-by-case basis or for several taxpayers who may fall into a 

group due to similar circumstances e.g. those who have had to leave their 

home due to flooding or fire or care leavers 

1.3  Council tax legislation provides a wide range of discounts, exemptions and 

reductions that have the effect of reducing the level of council tax due. 

Applicants will therefore be expected to have exhausted all other options before 

making an application under this policy. 

1.4  Prior to applying this policy, consideration should be given to whether 

alternative actions should be undertaken. Therefore, this policy will only 

consider exceptional circumstances, where it is appropriate and fair to provide 

a discretionary discount. 

2.  STATEMENT OF OBJECTIVES 

2.1  Section 13A discount awards will be awarded when tax payers experience 

unforeseen or exceptional circumstances that threaten their ability to pay their 

council tax. 

2.2  Given that the cost of any such award has to be met by the Borough’s council 

taxpayers, any applications must meet the underlying principle of offering value 

for money to council tax payers. This will be achieved by asking for a range of 

information to support each application. 

2.3  From time to time Government may introduce a specific scheme in response to 

an event such as a natural disaster (e.g. flooding). Where such schemes are 

introduced, funding is normally fully met by Government without impact upon 

the local council taxpayer.  

2.4  Any such schemes that are introduced, in so far as they fall to be administered 

under Section 13A of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), 

will be administered in accordance with instructions and guidance set out by 

Government.  

2.5 The Council will consider making a Section 13A award to applicants who meet 

the qualifying criteria set out below. All applicants will be considered on their 

individual merits. 

2.6 Section 3 of this policy details classes of case which may be entitled to a 

reduction in accordance with Section 13A. 

Page 211



3. SECTION 13A (1) (C) DISCRETIONARY RELIEF FOR CARE LEAVERS 

3.1 The Council may reduce to nil the council tax liability of Care Leavers who 

satisfy all of the following criteria: 

 The person is a former relevant Care Leaver as defined within the Children 
(Leaving Care) Act 2000 
 

 The person has left care and is aged between 18 and 25 
 

 The person resides within Halton and is liable to pay council tax to Halton 
Borough Council with effect from 1st April 2018. 

 
  3.2 Any award given to an individual case will end on the day before their 25th 

birthday 
 
3.3 Where the Care Leaver is liable for more than one property the discretionary 

relief will be awarded in respect of only one property, that being the person’s 
sole or main residence. 

 
3.4 The amount of relief granted will be the amount of council tax the Care Leaver 

still has to pay after any existing statutory discounts and council tax support 
(CTS) has been taken into account.  

 
3.5 Any award given will be automatically granted and any change to the Care 

Leaver’s circumstances during the financial year will be taken into 
consideration. 

 
3.6  Where the Care Leaver is jointly and severally liable with one or more 

residents, who are not Care Leavers, the amount of council tax payable will be 
reduced by 50%. 

 
4.  APPLICATION PROCESS 

4.1  The features of the Council’s Section 13A Discount Policy are that: 

 It is discretionary; 

 An applicant does not have the statutory right to a payment; 

 The operation of the scheme is for the Council to determine; 

 The Council may choose to vary the way in which funds are allocated 

according to community needs; 

 Other than the normal appeal against the application of discretionary 

function by Judicial Review, there is no right to a statutory appeal of any 

application decision. In the interest of fairness the Council will operate an 

internal review procedure for appeals in a non-discriminatory way; 

 

Page 212



4.2  In order for an application to be considered, there is no formal application form. 

All applications shall be made in writing, written or by email, by the Council 

Taxpayer or by somebody authorised to act on their behalf. It should be 

submitted to the Council Tax Team under the title of Section 13A Discount 

application. Applications should relate to the current council tax year, and 

should include the following information: 

 The reason for the request; 

 How long the discount is wanted for;  

 The steps that  have been take to meet or mitigate the council tax liability; 

 The cost of such a discount. 

5.  ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

5.1 There are no pre-set criteria for the award of a Section 13A council tax 

discount. Each application will therefore be considered on its individual merits. 

5.2 In deciding whether to award a Section 13A discount, the Applicant’s particular 

circumstances will be considered. The Applicant will therefore be asked to 

provide supporting evidence to substantiate the answers that they give to the 

questions above. This may include, but is not limited to: 

 Income and expenditure statements; 

 Any sources of credit such as debit cards, credit cards, store cards, overdraft 

facilities and loan arrangements; 

 Any financial assistance which is likely to be available to the Applicant from 

other sources. 

5.3  Decisions on eligibility for an award will be made by the Operational Director 

Finance. All awards will be made by crediting the award value to the council tax 

account to which it applies. 

5.4  The Council will notify the Applicant in writing of the outcome within 20 working 

days of the date the decision is made. Where the request for an award under 

Section 13A is unsuccessful or is not met in full, the Council will explain the 

reasons why the decision was made. 

6.  THE RIGHT TO APPEAL 

6.1  Section 13A awards are administered under the Local Government Finance Act 

1992 (as amended) and are not subject to a statutory appeals process. Appeals 

will therefore be decided by the Council. 

6.2  The Council will operate the policy for dealing with appeals about either the 

decision not to make an award or the amount of an award. 

Page 213



6.3 An applicant who requires further explanation of a Section 13A Discount 

decision must request this in writing within 20 days of notification of the 

decision. 

6.4 An applicant who disagrees with a decision may appeal the decision within 20 

days of the original decision. Where possible, the Council will initially try to 

resolve the matter by explaining the reasons for the decision to the Applicant in 

writing. 

6.5 Decisions on appeals will be made by the Strategic Director Enterprise, 

Community & Resources. If it is decided to reject the appeal, the reasons for 

the decision will be provided to the Applicant in writing within 20 working days. 

7.  OVERPAYMENTS 

7.1  If the Council becomes aware that the information contained in an application 

for a Section 13A Discount award was incorrect or that relevant information was 

not declared, either intentionally or otherwise, the Council may seek to recover 

the value of any award made as a result of that application.  

7.2  The award will be removed from the relevant council tax account and any 

resulting balance will be subject to the normal methods of collection and 

recovery applicable to such accounts. 

8.  FRAUD 

8.1  The Council is committed to prevent fraud. Any applicant who tries to 

fraudulently claim a Section 13A discount might have committed an offence 

under the Fraud Act 2006. If the Council suspects that fraud may have 

occurred, the matter will be investigated as appropriate and this could lead to 

criminal proceedings. 

 

Page 214



REPORT TO:    Executive Board 
 
DATE:    19 July 2018 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director – Enterprise, Community & 

Resources 
 
PORTFOLIO:   Economic Development 
 
SUBJECT:    External Funding Team – Cost Recovery  
 
WARDS:     Boroughwide 
 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To seek approval to run a twelve month pilot to charge for bid-writing and 
monitoring services associated with the development and implementation 
of external funding applications.  

2.0  RECOMMENDATION: That Executive Board  

1) approve the twelve month pilot; and 

2) receives a further report on the outcomes, twelve months after 
the commencement of the pilot. 

3.0      SUPPORTING INFORMATION    

3.1 The Regeneration Non Town Centres Team has been looking at ways of 

being more commercially minded, to help offset some of the budget 

constraints faced by the Council. The Team through its External Funding 

Officers provides bid-writing and monitoring services to the private sector, 

the voluntary sector and Council departments which helps lever in 

investment into the Borough.  This is a non-statutory function of the 

Council and during times of budget constraints one that may need to stop. 

The alternative to stopping the service is to make it more self-sufficient. 

3.2 In future, when a bid is successful, the Team will look to recover its full 

costs, or in the case of the voluntary sector, apply a nominal charge. With 

regards to support for Council departments there will be no charge unless 

a third party is involved, for example, another Council, or voluntary 

organisation, in which case the team would look to recover costs in line 

with the above principle. With regards to the monitoring of schemes, 

charges would be applied on the same basis.  

Page 215 Agenda Item 6a



3.3 The income generated would help to support the sustainability of this vital 

service. The proposal is to run a twelve month pilot. The pilot would be 

reviewed on a quarterly basis and a report taken back to Members at the 

end of the twelve month period.   

3.4 Whilst this is a new Charging Policy, the Team has, on previous occasions, 

applied charges to Council departments and the private sector for these 

services.  This has been ad hoc, but the Team now wishes to formalise 

these arrangements. Charges to the voluntary sector would be entirely 

new. However, given that this sector is heavily relied upon to support and 

sustain our communities, it is important not to undermine the excellent 

work undertaken by the sector, and, therefore, safeguards have been built 

into the proposals. For example, any nominal charge would only be 

applied where a voluntary group holds free reserves of more than £10,000. 

Equally, no fee would be charged if a bid was unsuccessful. 

3.5 Based on an analysis of activity levels for the last 5 years and if fees had 

been applied on all occasions, between £90,000 and £125,000 of income 

for the Council could have been generated.   

3.6 There are two fee scales, the first for the private sector, which will be 

based on 100% cost recovery of staff costs. In respect of the second fee 

scale for the voluntary sector, it is proposed to shield this sector from the 

full exposure to the charges and to cap fees on the scale shown below: 

 £500 fee for all grants or loans secured less than £50k 

 £1,000 fee for all grants or loans secured between £50k-£100k  

 £2,000 fee for all grants or  loans secured between £100k-£200k  

 £3,000  fee for all grants or loans  secured between £200k-£300k  

 £4,000 fee for all  grants or loans secured between £300k-£400k  

 £5,000 fee for all grants or loans secured between £400k-£500k  

 £6,000 fee for grants or loans secured above £500k  

3.7 In discussion with colleagues at the Greater Merseyside Funding Advisory 

Group; specifically Liverpool and Sefton Community and Voluntary 

Services, both have been applying charges for these services for a 

number of years, with no reported adverse impact. Knowsley Council has 

also begun to charge for bid-writing services. 

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Team is seeking to pilot fee charging over a twelve month period to 
determine how effective it is and the impact on the number and size of 

Page 216



funding applications. If effective, this model could be rolled out to other 
services of the Team and other departments of the Council. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There is potential to generate income, if clients wish to buy the service. 
This income has the potential to offset some of the costs of the Team, and 
make the service more sustainable in the long term. It will, however, 
require some of its existing resource to manage and administer the 
process.  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIOPRITIES 

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 

The existing service would continue, albeit with a fee, where applicable. 

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 

The existing service would continue, albeit with a fee, where applicable. 

6.3 A Healthy Halton 

The existing service would continue, albeit with a fee, where applicable. 

6.4      A Safer Halton 

The existing service would continue, albeit with a fee, where applicable. 

6.5      Halton’s Urban Renewal 

The existing service would continue, albeit with a fee, where applicable. 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 

7.1 Potential adverse impact on the number and quality of applications. There 
may be a consequential reduction of funding coming into the Borough. 

7.2 Potential conflict with businesses already providing this service. 

7.3 Once contracted to deliver, the Council will have to ensure that the service 
is available irrespective of staffing levels. 

7.4 Criticism and adverse publicity/legal action from a paying client, if the 
service provided does not meet standards, an application fails, or 
clawback of money is instigated by the provider. 

7.5   On balance, a pilot that allows the Council to test the opportunity is 
considered to be the correct approach.  

 

Page 217



8.0 EQUAILTY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

8.1 There are no Equality and Diversity implications arising as a result of the 
proposal. 

9.0  LIST OF BACKRGOUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

9.1 None under the meaning of the Act. 

 
 
 

Page 218



REPORT TO:  Executive Board 

DATE: 19 July 2018 

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director – Enterprise, Community & 

Resources 

PORTFOLIO: Resources 

SUBJECT: Business Rates Action Areas   

WARDS: Borough-wide 

 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT  

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out a scheme to offer discretionary business 

rate relief to businesses who are undertaking developments which complement 

the Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan Plus.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That Executive Board 
  

1) approve this scheme; and 
 

2)  receives a progress report once the scheme has been in operation for    
twelve months. 

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1  The Council currently considers requests for discretionary business rate relief 

against a set of agreed criteria that were approved by Executive Board in 
February 2015 (EXB133). Whilst this scheme is a useful ‘tool’ in practice it is 
seldom used. 

 
3.2  A more focused scheme is now proposed for ‘Business Rate Action Areas’ that 

can be promoted and applied in specific areas to encourage private sector 

investment and create jobs for local people and facilitate the strategic 

development of the Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan Plus Key Impact Areas.  

Each area would be designated for 5 years, and will principally seek to boost 

private sector investment in high quality commercial buildings.  

3.3 Approving this geographically focused initiative will not affect or alter the 

previously agreed Borough-wide discretionary scheme previously approved by 

the Executive Board; the two can run in parallel. 

3.4  The proposed ‘Business Rates Action Areas’ will use discretion over business 

rate relief to stimulate development. It is an ‘invest to save’ initiative, with the full 

Page 219 Agenda Item 7a



financial benefits being generated from NNDR revenue uplift being realised after 

the 5 year period.  

3.5 The scheme would offer new and existing businesses who wish to build, expand 

or refurbish premises, business rates relief over and above that which is 

currently in the ratings system. A new business coming in to the Borough 

building on land which is not currently in the rating system could receive 100% 

rates relief in year 1, 75% rates relief in year 2 and 50% rates relief in year 3 

(from year 4 they would pay full business rates). If the business is already on the 

ratings system and they wish to relocate, expand or refurbish they would pay the 

full business rates as per the current property, after which business rates relief 

could be offered. This approach would ensure that the Council’s budgets are not 

impacted on as the policy will only apply to anything additional.  

3.6  The ‘Business Rate Action Areas’ would be open to a particular Key Impact Area 

for 5 years. During that time business can apply. If a business applies in years 1, 

2 or 3, they could obtain the maximum relief. If a business applies in year 4 or 5 

they would only obtain relief for the years which are left. 

3.7     The first 5 year pilot would commence on Astmoor in April 2019. Other locations 

would follow when local circumstances were considered to be favourable and 

when the Astmoor scheme is operational. 

3.8  Astmoor has been selected because compared to the wider employment offer, 

Astmoor has underperformed for a number of years. This is largely due to a 

concentration of smaller, dated commercial premises, compounded by a poor 

quality public realm and layout. Astmoor struggles to meet modern business 

needs and rents are low compared to other locations. 

3.9 There is also a specific opportunity at Astmoor, relating to the 17.4 acres of 

handback land that will be returned to Council ownership from the Mersey 

Gateway, towards the end of 2018. It is important that a scheme is agreed 

quickly, to allow sufficient time for it to be promoted.   

3.10 As a guide, a building of 20,000 sqft sits on a one acre plot. This means that 

350,000 sq ft of floor-space could be built on the land in Council ownership.   

Based upon similar property in the Borough, a new 20,000 sq ft B1 industrial 

building would have an rateable value of around £90,000 and generate rates 

payable of £44,000 per annum. On the 17.4 acres of land at Astmoor, this could 

create uplift in NNDR of over £765,000 per annum from the ‘handback’ land 

alone. This figure could be increased, if additional development is triggered by 

the business rates relief scheme on sites in private sector ownership.  

3.11 A 20,000 sq ft B2 Industrial building, costs around £1.2 million (£60 per sq ft) to 

build. Business rates relief for 3 years where £44,000 would be payable per 

annum, on the tapering scale (Year 1 100%, Year 2 75%, Year 3 50% and Year 

Page 220



4 onwards 0%) would equate to £99,000 (over the 3 years) and could positively 

influence a decision to invest. 

3.12 The business rates relief will only be available for 3 years to individual 

businesses and will only apply to developments in planning use classes B1, B2, 

B8 and business operating in the manufacturing and distribution sectors.  It will 

exclude the retail, leisure and financial services sectors. Where the scheme falls 

within a Business Improvement District (BID) area such as Halebank or Astmoor 

the businesses will still be responsible for paying the BID levy in full. 

3.13   Businesses will be considered eligible for business rates relief if they meet the 

following criteria:    

 Be able to demonstrate that the relief is required to facilitate a specific 

project that would otherwise not proceed 

 They are an end user companies/occupiers or owner occupiers  

 Have incorporated the specific design guidelines   

 Be able to demonstrate viability 

 Be State Aid compliant 

 Increase employment and recruit through the HEP 

The maximum relief would be £26,000 per job or 20% of eligible capital 

expenditure; whichever is the lesser of the two and each application for relief will 

be considered on its merits and will be at the sole discretion of the Council. 

3.14  At the end of the 3 year business rates relief period, it is proposed that 50% of 

the business rates from the businesses assisted would be ring-fenced for a 

further two years to the Key Impact Area to aid regeneration activities. After the 5 

year period (from the start of the Business Rates Action Area) 100% of the 

business rates will go into the general rating account and that is when the 

Council will see uplift in business rates income.   

4.0  POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1  The scheme will be reviewed annually to determine how effective it is and the 

impact on the sale of land, the quality of buildings constructed and the number of 

jobs created. 

5.0   FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 The proposal to instigate ‘Business Rates Action Areas’ is at minimal cost to the 

Council. The scheme will mostly apply to sites that are currently vacant or low 

grade buildings, many of which are unoccupied. Consideration should be given 

to the granting of rate relief where there is growth to the rateable value of any 

site. Relief given on any current site will impact on the Council’s base position 

Page 221



and would be an additional cost to the current year budget, which is why this 

scheme seeks to avoid that situation. 

 

5.2 The scheme has potential to add considerably to NNDR revenues, albeit with the 

majority of the benefits deferred for a five year period. Although this would be 

dependent on future resetting of the business rate baseline position. Growth in 

business rates could increase the level of the business rate baseline for Halton 

with the potential for a corresponding reduction in grant (Top-Up Funding, 

Revenue Support Grant etc.).  

 

5.3 There would be uplift in NNDR of over £765,000 per annum from the Astmoor 

‘handback’ land, after the five year period. Given the tapered impact, the Council 

will potentially generate from an uplift of £191,000 in year 2 (25%) and £383,000 

in years 3 and 4 (50%). In addition, the scheme has the potential to generate 

Planning fees to this Council in the region of £100,000. 

 

6.0   IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  

6.1 In the Astmoor area, up to 350,000 sq ft of high quality, eco-friendly business 

space could be constructed on 17.4 acres of development land. If jobs are 

created at a ratio of 1 job per 1,000 sq ft of new floor-space, 350 new jobs could 

be created for local people. If the scheme is rolled out to all the Mersey Gateway 

Regeneration Key Impact Areas, this would increase the numbers significantly. 

7.0   RISK ANALYSIS 

7.1 Potential adverse impact on sale of land elsewhere in the Borough.  

7.2  Potential conflict with landowners and occupiers on other sites. 

7.3 Criticism and adverse publicity if the scheme does not meet targets. 

7.4 Distort competition in Liverpool City Region. 

7.5 On balance, a scheme that allows the Council to test the opportunity is 

considered to be the correct approach.  

8.0   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

There are no Equality and Diversity implications arising as a result of the 

proposed actions.  

  

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

  None under the meaning of the Act.  

Page 222



 

Page 223



 
 

REPORT TO:  Executive Board 

 
DATE: 19 July 2018 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director 

Enterprise, Community and Resources 
 

PORTFOLIO: Community Safety 
 
SUBJECT: Modern Slavery Act Transparency Statement  
 
WARDS: All 
 

 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

1.1 To seek Executive Board’s approval to the publication of the attached Modern 

Slavery Act Transparency Statement for 2017/18. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION:  That 

 

1) the Modern Slavery Act Transparency Statement (attached) be 

approved for publication; and 

2)  the oversight of the prevention of Modern Slavery and Human 

Trafficking be formally identified within the Community Safety 

Portfolio.  

 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 The term ‘Modern Slavery' captures a whole range of types of exploitation, 

many of which occur together. These include but are not limited to: 
 

 sexual exploitation 

 domestic servitude 

 forced labour 

 criminal exploitation 

 other forms of exploitation: organ removal; forced begging; forced 
benefit fraud; forced marriage and illegal adoption. 

 
 

Page 224 Agenda Item 8a



 
 

3.2 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 consolidated all offences relating to trafficking 
and slavery. Its key areas include: 
 

 new civil orders to prevent modern slavery 

 an Independent Anti-Slavery Commissioner 

 provision for the protection of modern slavery victims. 

3.3 The Council, at its meeting held on 17 October 2017, passed a Motion that 
supported the implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. That Motion, 
amongst other things, committed the Council to publishing annually, its own 
Modern Slavery Transparency Statement. This report and recommendation 
puts that commitment into place. 

3.4 Local Authorities have a number of duties as a result of the Act. The ‘duty to 
notify' provision for specified public authorities is set out in the Modern Slavery 
Act. From 1 November 2015, local authorities have a duty to notify the Home 
Office of any individual encountered in England and Wales who they believe is 
a suspected victim of slavery or human trafficking. 
 

3.5 A range of government resources explain the meaning of ‘duty to notify' and 
explain what organisations need to do if you think someone has been a victim 
of modern slavery. 
 

3.6 The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is the process by which potential 
victims of modern slavery, including human trafficking, are identified. The 
NRM was extended to all victims of modern slavery - both children and adults 
- in England and Wales following the implementation of the Modern Slavery 
Act. Statutory guidance relating to this can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-
referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-
for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales  
 

3.7 It is estimated that there were between 10,000 and 13,000 potential victims of 
modern slavery in the UK in 2013 but in 2015, only 3,266 potential victims 
were identified and referred to the NRM. The Duty to Notify is intended to 
gather better data about modern slavery. 

 
 

3.8 Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 was brought into force on 29 
October 2015 and requires employers of organisations with an annual 
turnover in excess of £36m to produce a modern slavery statement for each 
financial year. Halton Borough Council is included in this requirement.  

 
3.9 The Modern Slavery Act does not dictate what a statement must include or 

how it should be structured. It does, however, provide a non-exhaustive list of 
information that the employer’s slavery and human trafficking statement might 
include: 
 

 its structure, business and supply chains; 

Page 225

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted
http://www.antislaverycommissioner.co.uk/resources/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-slavery-duty-to-notify
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/national-referral-mechanism
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales


 
 

 its policies in relation to slavery and human trafficking;  

 its due diligence processes in relation to slavery and human 
trafficking in its business and supply chains;  

 the parts of its business and supply chains where there is a risk 
of slavery and human trafficking taking place, and the steps that 
it has taken to assess and manage that risk;  

 its effectiveness in ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is 
not taking place in its business or supply chains, measured 
against such performance indicators as it considers appropriate;  

 the training about slavery and human trafficking available to staff 
 
 

4      POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 The provision requires companies to be transparent about what is happening 
within its business. This therefore means that if a company has not taken 
steps to ensure slavery and human trafficking is not present in its supply 
chain,  then they must still publish a statement for the financial year, stating 
this to be the case.  
 

4.2 The Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Transparency Statement needs 
to cover the period of the previous financial year. The Government expects 
organisations to publish their statement as soon as reasonably practicable 
after the end of the financial year, and strongly encourage this to be within the 
first 6 months after the close of the year. 
 

4.3 The Modern Slavery Transparency Statement is a public-facing document that 
should be accessible from the homepage of the website. It is recommended 
that the statement should be written in simple language and be easily 
understandable. It must also be approved and signed by a director, or elected 
member.  
 

4.4 If an organisation covered by the Act fails to produce a modern slavery and 
human trafficking statement for a particular financial year, the Secretary of 
State may seek an injunction through the High Court requiring the 
organisation to comply. Failure to comply with the injunction would constitute 
contempt of a court order, which is punishable by an unlimited fine. The 
reputational damage from the publicity this would attract could also be high.  
 

4.5 It is advisable to keep the statement succinct, cover all the relevant points and 
where possible provide additional links to other relevant publications, 
documents or policies.  
 

4.6 It is recommended that organisations covered by the Act ensure accountability 
through ownership of modern slavery issues by an appointed board member. 
This ensures that that the reputational and financial risks associated with 
modern slavery issue are considered in strategic decision making at the 
highest level.  
 

Page 226



 
 

4.7 The Modern Slavery Transparency Statement should not just contain generic 
statements to the effect that the organisation does not tolerate human 
trafficking or labour exploitation in its supply chain, but should actually detail 
the steps taken by the company to prevent modern slavery in both its supply 
chains and its own business.  
 

4.8 Audits of statements from previous years have shown companies are 
comfortable stating their policies and describing existing audit processes but 
are reticent about revealing the actual risks of modern slavery that might exist 
within their businesses or supply chains. It is recommended that having both a 
clear understanding of Modern Slavery issues and mapping the risk areas 
along the supply chain would be beneficial going forward into 2018/19. 
 

4.9 A draft Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the Council for 
2017/18 is attached at Appendix 1 for the Board’s consideration and approval.  
 

5      FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 As an organisation with an annual turnover in excess of £36 million, the 

Council is required to produce a Modern Slavery Transparency Statement in 
accordance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 

5.2 The Modern Slavery Act introduces tougher penalties and sentencing rules in 
addition to a tough asset recovery regime; where profits made through slavery 
and/ or human trafficking can be seized, in addition to any vehicles, ships or 
aircraft used for the purposes of trafficking. The Act encourages courts to use 
confiscated assets to compensate victims. 
 

6      IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCILS PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 The Modern Slavery Act has implications for the Health and Children and 
Young People priority in relation to issues relating to safeguarding. 

 
6.2 The Act has implications for the Employment, Learning and Skills priority in 

relation to ensuring safe recruitment and fair pay and employment practices 
across the borough. 

 
6.3 The Act has implications for the Safer Halton priority in relation to the direct 

combatting of slavery and human trafficking. 
 

6.4 The Act has implications for Corporate Effectiveness and Business Efficiency 
in relation to ensuring that the Council’s supply chain is free from modern 
slavery and exploitation.  

 
7      RISK ANALYSIS 

 
7.1 There are a number of reputational and financial risks associated with modern 

slavery issue, which need to be considered in strategic decision-making. It is 
recommended that having both a clear understanding of Modern Slavery 

Page 227



 
 

issues and mapping the risk areas along the supply chain would be beneficial 
going forward into 2018/19 
 

7.2 The Councils supply chain has a potentially global reach and there may be 

 many links in the supply chain which could potentially be involved in modern 

 slavery and which would be almost impossible to monitor in their entirety. The 

 Council can only realistically concentrate its resources on ensuring that the 

 immediate supplier does not support modern slavery, and to require through 

 its contracts that suppliers ensure that their supply chain is free from 

 modern slavery.  

7.3 The Modern Slavery Act introduces tougher penalties and sentencing rules in 

 addition to a tough asset recovery regime; where profits made through slavery 

 and/ or human trafficking can be seized, in addition to any vehicles, ships or 

 aircraft used for the purposes of trafficking. The Act encourages courts to use 

 confiscated assets to compensate victims. 

7.4 If an organisation covered by the Act fails to produce a slavery and human 

trafficking statement for a particular financial year the Secretary of State may 

seek an injunction through the High Court requiring the organisation to 

comply. Failure to comply with the injunction could constitute contempt of a 

court order, which is punishable by an unlimited fine. The reputational 

damage from the publicity this would attract could also be damaging 

7.5 Whilst there is no requirement to say that any steps have been taken to 

prevent slavery as part of that statement, there is however, a reputational risk 

to be considered in failing to ensure that actions to combat modern slavery 

have been taken. 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Halton Borough Council is committed to ensuring that it provides an 

 environment with equality of opportunity that is free of discrimination, unfair or 

 unlawful treatment. As such it fully supports the aims of the Modern Slavery 

 Act and this is reflected through the Modern Slavery Transparency Statement. 

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100d OF THE 

 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 

Document Place of Inspection Officer 

Modern Slavery Act 2015 Kingsway House Richard Rout 

Transparency in Supply 
Chains, A Practical Guide 

Kingsway House Richard Rout 

 

  

Page 228



 
 

 
Appendix 1 

 
Halton Borough Council Modern Slavery Act Transparency Statement  

Modern Slavery is a crime, and an abuse of human rights.  The Modern Slavery Act 

became law on 26 March 2015.  It is designed to tackle the offences of ‘slavery, 

servitude and forced or compulsory labour’ and ‘human trafficking’. 

The Act contains a ‘Transparency in Supply Chains Clause’ (54) which 

aims to encourage businesses to be more transparent about what they are 

doing and increase their accountability for any slavery & human trafficking 

within their business and their supply chain(s). 

 

Under this clause organisations with: 

 - a turnover of £36 million or more  

 - Supplies goods and/or services  

 

MUST prepare and publish a ‘Slavery & Human Trafficking’ statement each 

financial year. 

Modern slavery includes: 

 Forced labour; Victims are forced to work against their will, often working very 

long hours for little or no pay in dire conditions under verbal or physical 

threats of violence. 

 Debt bondage; Victims are forced to work to pay off debts that realistically 

they will never be able to. 

 Sexual exploitation; Victims are forced to perform non-consensual or abusive 

sexual acts against their will, such as prostitution, escort work and 

pornography. Adults are coerced often under the threat of force, or another 

penalty. 

 Criminal exploitation; Often controlled and maltreated, victims are forced into 

crimes such as cannabis cultivation or pick pocketing against their will. 

 Domestic servitude: Victims are forced to carry out housework and domestic 

chores with little or no pay, restricted movement, very limited or no free time 

and minimal privacy often sleeping where they work. 

 

Halton Borough Council supports the implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 

2015. This statement sets out the Council’s actions to understand the potential 

modern slavery risks related to its business and the steps it has put in place to 

ensure that no slavery or human trafficking takes place in its own business or 

through its supply chains. 

Page 229



 
 

The Council provides a wide range of statutory and discretionary services for its 

residents, businesses, visitors and wider public and consequently purchases a wide 

range of goods and services from third party suppliers.  

The Council recognises that it has a responsibility to take a robust approach to 

slavery and human trafficking.  In addition to the Council’s responsibility as an 

employer, it also acknowledges its duty as a Council to notify the Secretary of State 

of suspected victims of slavery or human trafficking as introduced by section 52 of 

the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

The Council is committed to preventing slavery and human trafficking in its corporate 

activities and to ensuring that its supply chains are free from slavery and human 

trafficking 

Council Constitution 

The Council’s Constitution sets out a range of policies and procedures relating to 

officer and member codes of conduct, as well as policies and standing orders 

relating to procurement and whistleblowing. The Constitution is reviewed on an 

annual basis. 

http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=649&MId=5870&Ver=4&i

nfo=1  

Policies and Processes in relation to slavery and human trafficking 

The Council reviews its policies and procedures on an ongoing basis to ensure they 
remain compliant and fit for purpose. The following policies and procedures are 
considered to be key in meeting the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act.  
 
Safeguarding  
 
The Council embraces its responsibility to develop, implement and monitor policies 
and procedures to safeguard the welfare of children and ‘adults at risk’ of abuse, 
harassment, neglect or exploitation. A wide range of training relating to the 
safeguarding of both children and adults is also available 
The Council works within multi-agency partnerships, such as the Halton 

Safeguarding Children Board and the Halton Safeguarding Adults Board to protect 

and safeguard people. 

http://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/PDF/safeguard/Safeguardguidance.pdf 

http://haltonsafeguarding.co.uk/  

 

 

 

Page 230

http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=649&MId=5870&Ver=4&info=1
http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=649&MId=5870&Ver=4&info=1
http://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/PDF/safeguard/Safeguardguidance.pdf
http://haltonsafeguarding.co.uk/


 
 

Procurement  

The Council procures goods and services from various suppliers and this is 
governed by our procurement strategy.  

Halton Borough Council operates a fair and open competition by following 

transparent and auditable procedures in all of its tendering and contracting activity. It 

aims to provide a wide range of businesses with a variety of commercial 

opportunities by publishing all its opportunities in excess of £1,000. To trade with the 

Council businesses need to register on the North West e tendering portal The Chest. 

Further information about the Council’s Procurement practices can be found here: 

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/business/doingbusinesswithus/doing-business-

with-us.aspx  

Recruitment  
 
The Council’s recruitment processes are transparent and reviewed regularly. They 
include robust procedures for vetting new employees, which ensures they are able to 
confirm their identities and qualifications, and they are paid directly into an 
appropriate, personal bank account. To comply with the Asylum, Immigration and 
Nationality Act 2006, all prospective employees are asked to supply evidence of their 
eligibility to work in the UK. References are also requested and followed up.  
 
Agency Workers  
 
The Council uses the only reputable employment agencies to source labour. The 
Council does this by using the Matrix Agency interface. Matrix checks the practices 
of any new agency it is using before accepting workers from that agency. Their 
Modern Slavery Statement can be found here: 
http://www.matrix-scm.com/modern-slavery-act/  
 
Pay  
 
The Council operates a Job Evaluation Scheme to ensure that all employees are 
paid fairly and equitably. As part of its commitment to being a good employer, the 
Council has also extended its payment of the National Living Wage to all employees, 
not solely those over the age of 25.  
 
Employee Code of Conduct  
 
The Council’s Employee Code of Conduct makes clear to both employees the 
actions and behaviours expected of them when representing the Council. The 
Council strives to maintain the highest standards of employee conduct and ethical 
behaviour and breaches are investigated 
 
Whistleblowing  
 
The Council encourages all its employees, contractors and other business partners 
to report any concerns related to the direct activities or to the supply chains of the 

Page 231

https://www.the-chest.org.uk/cms/cms.nsf/vHomePage/fSection?OpenDocument
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/business/doingbusinesswithus/doing-business-with-us.aspx
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/business/doingbusinesswithus/doing-business-with-us.aspx
http://www.matrix-scm.com/modern-slavery-act/


 
 

Council. The Council’s whistleblowing policy is designed to make it easy for 
employees to make disclosures, without fear of retaliation and is published on the 
staff intranet. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and Ethical Framework  
 
The Council expects all Councillors to demonstrate the highest standards of conduct 
and behaviour. All Councillors are required to abide by a formal Code of Conduct. 
Breaches are investigated by the Monitoring Officer. Further details of this are 
contained within the Council’s Constitution, which is reviewed on an annual basis 
 
Councillors’ Declarations of Interests  
 
The Council requires all Councillors to record and declare disclosable pecuniary 
interests and other disclosable interests.  
 

Due diligence processes and steps taken to assess and manage the risk of 

modern slavery in Halton Borough Council’s business and supply chain 

In November 2016, the Cabinet Office introduced the Supplier Selection 

Questionnaire, which should be used in all tenders over the EU thresholds; this 

requires suppliers to declare any involvement in modern slavery.  

The Council has included reference to the Act as a mandatory gateway – Pass/Fail 

question into all of the relevant tendering documents that are published as part of the 

procurement process for both above and below EU Threshold. 

Training about slavery and human trafficking 

The Council provides training in safeguarding for staff and partners involved in 

person centred services.  

Halton Borough Council is a member of a number of equality networks and actively 

work through these to raise awareness of the issues associated with modern slavery 

and human trafficking, and disseminate information accordingly. 

 

 

Page 232



Document is Restricted

Page 233 Agenda Item 10a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 244
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 245
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3a Care Home Provision - Belvedere Development
	3b Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Arrangements
	Working Together to Safeguard Children draft April 2018.pdf
	About this guidance
	What is the status of this guidance?
	Who is this guidance for?
	A child-centred and co-ordinated approach to safeguarding
	Key principles
	Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility
	A child-centred approach

	Chapter 1: Assessing need and providing help
	Early help
	Identifying children and families who would benefit from early help
	Effective assessment of the need for early help
	Provision of effective early help services
	Accessing help and services
	Referral
	Information sharing

	Assessments under the Children Act 1989
	Statutory requirements
	Assessment of disabled children and their carers
	Assessment of young carers
	Assessment of young people in secure youth establishments
	Contextual safeguarding
	The principles and parameters of a good assessment
	Assessment Framework

	Focusing on the needs and views of the child
	Developing a clear analysis
	Focusing on outcomes
	Timeliness
	Local protocols for assessment
	The local protocol for assessment should:

	Processes for managing individual cases
	Flow chart 1: Action taken when a child is referred to local authority children’s social care services
	Flow chart 2: Immediate protection
	Flow chart 3: Action taken for an assessment of a child under the Children Act 1989
	Flow chart 4: Action following a strategy discussion
	Flow chart 5: What happens after the child protection conference, including the review?
	Flow chart 6: Children returning home from care to their families


	Chapter 2: Organisational responsibilities
	Individual organisational responsibilities
	Schools and colleges
	Early Years and Childcare
	Clinical commissioning groups
	Public Health England
	Police
	Adult social care services
	Housing services
	British Transport Police
	Prison Service
	Probation Service
	The secure estate for children
	Youth Offending Teams
	UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Border Force
	Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service
	Armed Services
	Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
	Voluntary and private sectors
	Sports Clubs / Organisations
	Faith Organisations

	Chapter 3: Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements
	Safeguarding partners
	Leadership
	Publication of arrangements
	Geographical area
	Relevant agencies
	Schools and other educational partners
	Independent scrutiny
	Funding
	Dispute resolution
	Updates to arrangements
	Reporting
	Information requests

	Chapter 4: Learning from serious cases about children
	Overview
	Principles for learning and improvement
	Duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel
	Guidance for safeguarding partners on serious child safeguarding cases
	Action on receipt of a notification

	Local child safeguarding practice reviews
	Deciding when to carry out a local child safeguarding practice review
	Other circumstances
	Commissioning a reviewer or reviewers for a local child safeguarding practice review
	Procedure for a local child safeguarding practice review
	Expectations for the final report
	Actions in response to national and local reviews
	Guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel
	National child safeguarding practice reviews

	Commissioning a reviewer for a national child safeguarding practice review
	Procedure for a national child safeguarding practice review
	Expectations for the final report


	Chapter 5: Child death reviews
	Flow Chart 7: Process to follow when a child dies
	Responsibilities of Child Death Review Partners
	Child Death Overview Panels
	Health input to child death review
	Processes for notification
	Responding to the death of a child
	Involving and supporting the family

	Appendix A: Glossary
	Appendix B: Statutory framework
	Children Act 2004
	Education Acts
	Children Act 1989
	Provision of services for children in need, their families and others
	Co-operation between authorities
	Emergency protection powers
	Exclusion requirement
	Police protection powers
	Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012
	Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
	Childcare Act 2006
	Crime and Disorder Act 1998
	Housing Act 1996
	Table A: Bodies and individuals covered by key duties


	Appendix C: Further sources of information
	Supplementary guidance on particular safeguarding issues
	Department for Education guidance
	Guidance issued by other government departments and agencies
	Guidance issued by external organisations
	Supplementary guidance to support the Learning and Improvement Framework




	4a Everyone Early Help Strategy 2018-2021
	Haltons Early Help Strategy v11 CH.docx

	5a Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18
	5b Council Tax Section 13A Discount Policy
	6a External Funding Team - Cost Recovery
	7a Business Rates Action Areas
	8a Modern Slavery Act Transparency Statement
	10a Sci-Tech Daresbury - Project Violet Funding - KEY DECISION
	Appendix 1 Sci-Tech Daresbury Project Violet
	Appendix 2 Development Appraisal Summary




